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HARPER, Ms Angela, Director, Communications Operations, Queensland Resources Council 

ROCHE, Mr Michael, Chief Executive, Queensland Resources Council 

Committee met at 9:05 

CHAIR (Mr Hawke):  Welcome, everyone. I would like to declare open the public hearing of the House of 

Representatives Standing Committee on the Environment in Brisbane as part of the committee's inquiry into the 

Register of Environmental Organisations. The terms of reference for the inquiry require the committee to look at 

the Register of Environmental Organisations and to examine its effectiveness in supporting communities to take 

practical action to improve the environment. Since the inquiry commenced on 26 March we have received 677 

submissions from a range of organisations and individuals around the country—and there are more coming in—as 

well as thousands more pieces of correspondence relating to the inquiry.  

This public hearing is the third public hearing that we have conducted. During public hearings in June we have 

heard from government bodies responsible for administering the register and charities more broadly within 

Australia. Today we start our program of interstate public hearings; we will hear from members of the broader 

community, including industry bodies, community representatives, environmental groups on the register as well 

as groups not currently on the register. Before we commence, I would remind members of the media, who may be 

present or listening on the web, of the need to fairly and accurately report the proceedings of the committee.  

Our first witnesses are from the Queensland Resources Council. Although the committee does not require you 

to give evidence under oath, I should advise witnesses that the hearing is a legal proceeding of the parliament and 

has the same standing as a proceeding of the House. We have received your written submission, and we thank you 

for that submission. Would you like to make an additional opening statement?  

Mr Roche:  Thank you, Mr Hawke. I would like to thank the committee for asking the Queensland Resources 

Council, which I will refer to as QRC, to appear today to speak on behalf of our members. QRC is the peak 

representative body for Queensland resource sector companies. Our 243-strong membership encompasses 

minerals and energy exploration, production and processing companies and associated service companies. In 

2013-14 the Queensland resources sector was calculated as being responsible, directly and indirectly, for one in 

four dollars and one in five jobs in the Queensland economy—that is, $78 billion being pumped into the 

Queensland economy, generating 442,000 jobs. In royalties alone, the Queensland government received $2.5 

billion from resource companies to fund nurses, teachers and police. 

We are here today because we want to protect and grow that economic contribution to Queensland. We also 

want ordinary citizens to understand that, through the DGR or the deductible gift recipient status granted to 

certain organisations on the Register of Environmental Organisations, they are in effect funding the activities that 

are designed to harm the resource sector's economic and budget revenue contribution to Queensland. In order for 

environmental organisations to receive a financial benefit from DGR status—a benefit effectively being funded 

by the taxpayer—they are required to meet certain rules and obligations. We believe many of the activist 

environmental organisations on the register have failed to meet those obligations. In our submission we cite many 

examples of alleged breaches and would ask the committee to consider recommending both stronger enforcement 

and a tightening of the rules. 

It is important to highlight that we fully support those organisations which are abiding by the rules and meeting 

their obligations by carrying out genuine on-the-ground conservation efforts or providing genuine public 

education. Some of those organisations work alongside the QRC and its members to deliver the best social, 

environmental and economic outcomes. 

Recently BHP Billiton announced a $7 million partnership with the Great Barrier Reef Foundation, which has 

been on the register since 2001, to support critical research and restoration work at Raine Island, which is the 

worlds largest green turtle rockery. In 2012 Rio Tinto partnered with CSIRO and the Great Barrier Reef 

Foundation to launch an ocean chemistry monitoring laboratory on one of Rio Tinto's bauxite ships operating 

along the entire length of the Great Barrier Reef. 

Conversely, many of the activist groups on the register seem to specialise in misinformation campaigns against 

the resources sector across social media. These serve no benefit to public education as they are packed with 

fallacies. An example of this is Greenpeace's Boom goes the reef document. It proclaims that Queensland will, by 

2020, be exporting one billion tonnes of coal in over 10,000 coal ships. By contrast, Queensland coal exports 

were actually at a record level in 2014-15 at just under 220 million tonnes, continuing the long-term growth trend 
of about five per cent per annum. The expected continuation of that long-term trend would see coal exports from 

Queensland at around 280 million tonnes by 2020, somewhat shy of Greenpeace's predicted one billion tonnes. As 
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for the number of coal ships calling at coal ports in Queensland, the latest forecast from the Australian Maritime 

Safety Authority is for just under 2,500 coal ships by 2020 or seven ships a day. That is one quarter of 

Greenpeace's forecast. 

The taxpayers are, in effect, helping to fund this outrageous misrepresentation of the facts by Greenpeace and 

others. The origins of these sorts of misrepresentations are in the foundation anti-coal strategy document, 

Stopping the Australian coal export boom. The lead author was from Greenpeace, but there were many 

organisations involved in putting it together. The strategy is encapsulated in this one sentence from the document. 

It says: 

Our strategy is to ‘disrupt and delay’ key projects and infrastructure while gradually eroding public and political support for 

the industry … 

Eleven organisations which I acknowledge for their contribution to the development of this anti-coal strategy 

documents are on the register. In other words, taxpayers are helping to subsidise execution of a strategy designed 

to harm the Queensland economy and Queensland jobs. I seek permission, Chair, to table a copy of the document. 

CHAIR:  Absolutely. The secretariat will take that. 

Mr Roche:  If it pleases the committee, we will also leave with the secretariat copies for each of the committee 

members. 

These campaigns do little or nothing for on-the-ground conservation works or public education. But they do, 

however, make the organisations a lot of money. According to the Department of the Environment, registered 

environmental organisations, including those listed in tax legislation, have reported collecting over $1.6 billion in 

donations between 1992-93 and 2013-14. The total reported donations for 2013-14 was $129 million. Fundraising 

for some of these NGOs is an industry in itself. In our submission we call for greater transparency on where the 

funds go and from whom, including a disclosure mechanism similar to that for political donations. 

I thank you again for the opportunity this morning to speak on behalf of the resources sector and our members. 

We will be very pleased to take questions. 

CHAIR:  Thank you, Mr Roche, for your submission and your comments. I will start with a few questions. In 

your submission you made some recommendations and some suggestions to the committee about on-the-ground 

environment work and 'scientifically valid' public education. I think that is an interesting term. It is on page 4. It 

mentions the provision of scientifically valid public education. In your view, how would that work? How should 

it work on the ground? How could we improve the system so that information from environmental groups is 

scientifically valid? 

Mr Roche:  From our review of the activities of many of these groups, there is very little evidence of on-the-

ground conservation works. Some were very involved in that, say, a decade or more ago but have tended to 

transform themselves with big dollars flowing in from donations and philanthropists into more campaigning 

organisations. Then they have to fit under the public education banner to continue to meet the obligations set 

down for the register. We would invite the committee to consider having more specific rules around what you 

need to be doing to stay on the register. Perhaps that could be having a certain proportion of your activities and of 

your funding directed towards genuine on-the-ground conservation work. We could suggest a figure, but starting 

anywhere would be an advance in the case of some groups. 

In terms of the definition of public education, we believe there needs to be someone who runs a ruler over 

whether or not information is factual. I have given you an example of Greenpeace talking about 10,000 coal ships. 

We have an Australian government agency separately saying, 'No, it will be about a quarter of that by 2020.' So 

we need some mechanisms to ensure that the material that is being put out there is not just masquerading as public 

education but has some basis in facts and science. I am loath to recommend that there be a bureaucracy looking 

over that but, after all, there are big dollars flowing from the taxpayers supporting these activities. At the moment, 

we feel that the rules are too broad. 

In our submission, we go a step forward beyond more rules around the existing register requirements and 

suggest that the committee might want to look at some of the rules under the Charities Act. Under the Charities 

Act there are some obligations which would be quite challenging for some of these groups because they would 

require them to stay within the law, for example. Under the Charities Act, you can lose your status for tax 

deductibility if you are involved in law breaking and other activities defined in our submission and in the act. We 

set out in our submission examples of environmental groups that have been before the courts and that have 

retained their tax-deductible status because they have not been charged under the Charities Act standard but rather 

under the rules of the register. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  Can you give us some examples of those illegal activities—perhaps the Hay Point one. 
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Mr Roche:  In 2009 a group from Greenpeace infiltrated the Hay Point coal terminal. They had already been 

up at the Abbot Point coal terminal. They illegally went onto that site. As you as the member for Dawson would 

know, access to those ports is strictly controlled for very good national security reasons. They went onto the port 

site and then attached themselves to port equipment. By attaching themselves to that port equipment, health and 

safety demanded that all work cease. The loss of exports was in the order of $13 million worth over about a 36-

hour period. The loss to the state government was about $1 million in royalties. 

Then more recently in 2013 we saw Greenpeace chase a coal ship with the Rainbow Warrior. When that coal 

ship had to slow down in a narrow channel, they boarded that coal ship, which was headed for Korea. They 

boarded in a way that we believe was unsafe for those people, and then the Rainbow Warrior had to chase that 

ship to allow the Greenpeace folk to get off the ship because otherwise they were headed for Korea because the 

master was not going to stop to let them off. A video shown by Greenpeace demonstrated the safety problems for 

those people when they were getting on the ship and when they were getting off. Safety issues are one of the 

criteria under which you could lose your tax-deductible status under the Charities Act but it is not mentioned 

under the register. 

CHAIR:  Thank you for those examples. On this issue, are you aware of any complaints mechanisms through 

the Department of the Environment or anything? Do you make complaints when these things—illegal activities 

and things like that—happen? 

Mr Roche:  We have tended to rely on courts. The courts are quite variable in their activities. Typically when 

these people get before the courts, they flay them with a feather. So we do not have a lot of confidence in the way 

the courts deal with these issues. 

CHAIR:  On that, you are talking about the penalties. You are not talking about whether or not the illegal 

activity occurs. You are talking about the actual sanction. 

Mr Roche:  I guess it has never occurred to us before this committee came into existence that maybe we 

should be more active in drawing to the attention of the authorities some of these activities and having them tested 

against the current rules. We see this committee as an important opportunity to test the current rules—both the 

enforcement and also whether or not they are appropriate or could be lifted to another standard, such as that under 

the Charities Act. 

CHAIR:  Do you know if your organisation has ever reported an incident like that to the Department of the 

Environment? 

Mr Roche:  Not to my knowledge. 

CHAIR:  What about your members? Do you think any of them would have? Are you aware of any? 

Mr Roche:  No. I think most of their interactions have been with the Queensland Police Service. 

CHAIR:  Do you know of any time the Department of the Environment has shown any interest in this issue of 

green groups on the register having any illegality? 

Mr Roche:  We have never experienced any follow-up or discussions of that sort. 

Mr ZAPPIA:  Thank you very much for your evidence so far. I take it that your organisation represents a 

whole range of different members across the mining sector broadly. Can you tell me, roughly, how many 

members you have. 

Mr Roche:  We have 71 full members. They are involved in mining production, oil and gas production, 

exploration and electricity generation and they are contractors. They are the main members. They are what we call 

our full members. They together with service suppliers total 243 members. Those 71 full members represent 100 

per cent of Queensland's coal production, about 90 per cent of the metals production in Queensland and all three 

of the LNG plants that are in various stages of moving into production on Curtis Island. 

Mr ZAPPIA:  Would it be a fair characterisation to say that your organisation would act as a lobbyist on their 

behalf? 

Mr Roche:  Our job is to advocate on behalf of our members for good policy to support the sustainability of 

our members' businesses. 

Mr ZAPPIA:  I assume that your members pay a membership fee. 

Mr Roche:  They do. They pay a membership fee. It is typically a dollar amount per employee. Currently that 

fee is struck at $93.50 per employee. I am happy to share with the committee that in 2015-16 we estimate that our 

income from our members will be $4.6 million. 

Mr ZAPPIA:  Lastly, I assume that those paid membership fees would be tax-deductible to your members. 
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Mr Roche:  Yes. We do not have tax-deductibility status ourselves, so the public does not get a tax deduction 

for sending money to the Queensland Resources Council. Membership fees paid by our member companies are a 

business expense and are deductible in the normal course of the tax act, just as when a nurse joins the Queensland 

Nurses' Union she can claim that fee as a deduction in earning income, just as a doctor who is a member of the 

AMA can claim that fee as a deduction or an accountant joining the CPA can claim a deduction for paying that 

membership fee. 

Mr ZAPPIA:  To get this clear, you said that you believe that you will be raising about $4.6 million this year. 

Under the taxation rules of this country, those membership fees are likely to be claimed as tax deductions by your 

members as part of their normal income tax assessments. 

Mr Roche:  That is right. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  So, members can claim a tax deduction, but your organisation does not engage in 

illegal activities or anything that is deliberately harmful to anyone. 

Mr Roche:  I guess we feel constrained in how we can counteract what we believe are the misrepresentations, 

the lack of factual basis for many of the campaigns run by groups on the register. We set ourselves a higher 

standard. We rely on facts and science. We try to promote true facts and science. I gave you examples around coal 

exports, around shipping. We promote that through our website and through other materials. We believe that if we 

were to move away from that sound basis and rely on some facts and science then the activist groups would come 

down on us like a tonne of bricks, as would the media. So, we feel that we are held to a higher standard. It is self-

imposed, but also we know that the expectations around industry groups appear to be, for whatever reason, much 

higher than for some of the groups on the register. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  Greenpeace engaged in illegal activities at Hay Point. To the best of your knowledge as 

CEO, Queensland Resources Council has never engaged in illegal activities at all? 

Mr Roche:  That is right. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  It never engaged in any activity that is deliberately harmful to anyone, like, say, 

Greenpeace did with that ship boarding incident? 

Mr Roche:  Not at all. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  You referred to the document Stopping the Australian coal export boom. I just want to 

talk about that for a second. The response, as I recall, from environmental groups at the time that document 

became public was that it was a thought bubble that never went anywhere and organisations had walked away 

from it. However, from what you have seen as the peak body representing the mining sector in Queensland, has 

the political strategy—and clearly, as you have read out, it is a political strategy—actually come to fruition? 

Mr Roche:  Sadly, yes. It is a very comprehensive strategy. A lot of thought has gone into it. The development 

of the strategy was funded in part by the Rockefeller Family Fund, so outside the terms of reference for this 

inquiry there is another whole set of issues around foreign funding for these groups, and the strategy is being 

executed. It is well coordinated and well planned. Three of the principals behind the development strategy—Mr 

Hepburn from Greenpeace, Mr Wakeham from Environment Victoria and Ms Flint, who I think these days is 

involved with Lock the Gate—are on the board of the group that appears to have been given the job of being the 

coordinator for the entire campaign. That group is called the Sunrise Project, and I was surprised to find that the 

Sunrise Project—it lays no claim to doing any on-the-ground conservation work—also is on the register. 

Donations to the Sunrise Project, which seems to be the coordinator of the entire campaign, are tax deductible. 

I will give you an example of the strategies: litigation. The document talks about litigating against the major 

mines, infrastructure projects and ports. It talks about mounting legal challenges to ports, mines and rail lines. It 

sets out a budget of about $1½ million. That budget is to be directed through the Environmental Defenders Office 

in New South Wales and Queensland, both of which, I believe, are on the register. Is this strategy being executed? 

Right now in the Queensland land court there would be half a dozen actions where EDO acts for other activist 

groups as solicitors through undertaking litigation. This goes straight to the strategy of disrupt-and-delay using 

litigation. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  So you have that direct evidence that there are groups that are essentially having their 

activities financed by other groups that are on the Register of Environmental Organisations. 

Mr Roche:  The budgets are set out in the document. What is not clear is the funding source, although what we 

do know from the detail in the document is that the Environmental Defenders Office in Queensland had secured 
private donations, unnamed, for the execution of this strategy—private donations of the order of $½ million. That 

really goes to one of my other recommendations, which is that perhaps there needs to be a level of donations at 
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which there is public disclosure, and perhaps it is set at the level that currently applies for political donations. This 

is big money. A private donor has committed to the EDO in Queensland $½ million to fund this litigation 

strategy. We do not know who that private donor is and what they are getting out of it. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  I take it that your group is not necessarily opposed to these groups receiving donations 

to undertake this political activity; you are simply opposed to them claiming tax deductibility status for that 

purpose. 

Mr Roche:  That is right. There are two aspects to it. The vast majority of the nearly 600 groups on the register 

do good works: they are looking after their local bushland, their local beach. We have no truck with what they are 

doing. It is excellent, on-the-ground work. But there are other groups that show no evidence of meeting the terms 

of on-the-ground conservation work or genuine public education. And this is a democracy. They have every right 

to say what they say about our resources sector or other industries. We are not opposing free speech. We are 

simply saying that in those activities they should not be supported by tax deductible status. 

Ms CLAYDON:  Thank you for your presentation this morning. I have a couple of questions. You have quite 

a strong emphasis on the delivery of practical on-ground work. I am just wondering how you might see that being 

defined. The committee has taken some evidence from a number of groups around the difficulty about on-ground 

versus on-water versus a range of activities that may or may not be included in the on-ground definition and that 

sometimes there is a false dichotomy being established between practice and research and other activities that 

might not readily be identified as on-ground. I am wondering whether you could give us your view of what on-

ground activities might be. 

Mr Roche:  You will hear today from a number of groups that do just that. I mentioned the Great Barrier Reef 

Foundation. That is a classic example of an organisation that is making it happen on the ground, preserving and 

restoring the green turtle rookery on Raine Island, the world's largest green turtle rookery. You can see the 

benefits before your very eyes as more turtles survive the journey from the water onto the sand, lay their eggs and 

then return to the water. You can measure that; you can see that. It is independently verified by scientists on the 

ground. I do not see that it is such a difficult task to define people getting out and doing work to restore their local 

environment and preserve the local environment or funding others to do that, if out of the tens of millions of 

dollars Greenpeace was raising they could show that the money was then being passed through to groups that 

were doing on-the-ground work around reef research, reef restoration, beach nourishment. There is a whole range 

of things they can be doing. You will get good examples today of how people are doing that on-the-ground work. 

And the Great Barrier Reef Foundation is probably at the top of my list. 

Ms CLAYDON:  Yes, and we have certainly had numerous examples of excellent on-ground work. That is 

really not the question. Some of those examples have also included a transition from on-ground work into an area 

of having to do additional research and then actually having to take a lobbying role. An example is if you are on 

ground and doing weed eradication in an area—and we had an excellent example of that yesterday—but there is 

government legislation that needs to be changed in order to assist with the stopping of the spreading of that weed 

and perhaps the sale of that ongoing in the country. So there is a transition, it would seem, that can occur from 

engagement in that on-ground activity of weed eradication in order to ensure that your on-ground work continues 

and is efficient and is not being overridden—unwittingly, perhaps—by a piece of legislation that is not aiding in 

that work and is in fact countering the work that you are doing there. So you would move from on-ground work 

perhaps into quite active lobbying around trying to get a piece of legislation changed, for example. 

Mr Roche:  I do not have a problem with persuading governments and the public about programs that are 

soundly based in science. That is a far cry from the sorts of examples I have given you, where we believe that 

advocacy has involved misrepresentations. 

Ms CLAYDON:  So there is an acceptance that there may be a difficulty around on-ground conservation work 

and a transition into some other areas. You accept that there can be, at different times of that conservation cycle, a 

shift from on-ground into something that may not be, at first instance, readily seen as on-ground conservation. 

Mr Roche:  There are two legs to the qualifications for the register. One is on-the-ground conservation work—

that is the term we are using—but the other is public education and research. We are not arguing with either of 

those, but what we are suggesting is that there needs to be evidence that a proportion of the taxpayer funded 

activity is going into that on-the-ground work and that there is a clear test around the factual and scientific basis 

of the public education and research. 

Ms CLAYDON:  Thank you. This is the final question I have. You have distributed some materials from 

Greenpeace here, and if I am not mistaken they are dated about 2012. I am just wondering whether the Resources 

Council has had any engagement with Greenpeace subsequently and whether there are any efforts to have 
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dialogue with your members and member groups of Greenpeace or other organisations, and who it is that your 

members do effectively work with in trying to enhance your social licence to continue operating in the 

community. 

Mr Roche:  We would say that there are some groups that have no interest in our social licence; their interest 

is in actually shutting down the businesses of my members. I would put Greenpeace in that category. So a 

dialogue there is difficult. The dialogue with groups like WWF has been stronger in the past than it has been more 

recently. We had a fair bit of excitement in the lead-up to the World Heritage Committee meeting in Bonn 

recently on the Great Barrier Reef, and we would be looking to further engagement with groups like WWF. We 

engage with those groups multilaterally and bilaterally. One example of what I mean by 'multilaterally' is the 

Great Barrier Reef. The Resources Council, with the ports, sat with the Queensland Conservation Council and 

WWF on the Reef 2050 Partnership Group. It was a multi-stakeholder group that won praise from the World 

Heritage Committee for its input into the Reef 2050 plan. So we have sat with those groups through that 

partnership group exercise, and we are now sitting with those groups on the Reef 2050 Advisory Committee 

appointed by Minister Hunt and Minister Miles. I was just talking to AMCS, who have also been added to that 

group. We will be happily working with those groups around that common purpose of the implementation of the 

Reef 2050 plan, and we continue to have a whole range of dialogues bilaterally and multilaterally with 

conservation groups around legislation. 

Ms MARINO:  Thank you for your submission, Mr Roche. I want to direct you to section 30.270 of the 

Income Tax Assessment Act 1997 in relation to the conduit issue. One of the things we touched on was that the 

register prohibits those organisations from acting as a conduit for tax-deductible donations to other organisations. 

Firstly, I wondered whether you had any actual examples of organisations that you are aware of who simply do 

this; that is part of what they do or is their purpose. Secondly, could you give me some idea of what arrangements 

you believe should be prohibited by a conduit policy and whether that is currently covered under the legislation. 

Ms Harper:  Thank you for your question. In relation to the conduit policy, we are only citing examples of 

where the group that holds the DGR status has accepted that money and then, as defined in the strategy document, 

has passed it on to other groups that do not hold that status, the example here being The Australia Institute. 

Mr Roche:  What we saw in the various funding initiatives and budgets set out in the anti-coal strategy 

document were moneys that were allocated for work by The Australian Institute; the particular strategy is called 

'Changing the Story of Coal'. That is about basically putting out a report about every six weeks slamming some 

aspect of the coal industry or the gas industry. They themselves, The Australia Institute, do not have DGR status, 

but they have been allocated a budget in the strategy. So I guess we are left wondering, because there is not that 

transparency, whether that money was being channelled through an organisation on the register with DGR 

status—remembering that The Australia Institute was one of the groups acknowledged for their contribution in 

developing the anti-coal strategy document and they sat in a room with 11 other organisations that do have DGR 

status. 

Ms MARINO:  Thank you. 

Mr GILES:  Thank you for your evidence today. I am hoping that I can clarify a couple of things briefly. The 

executive summary to your submission states: 

… QRC believes both communities and governments have the right to expect that an environmental organisation’s primary 

objective would be to protect and enhance the environment through on-ground work or through the provision of scientifically 

valid public education. 

That is in regard to the present definition in the Income Tax Assessment Act. Why do you say this? 

Mr Roche:  There is a lot of money at stake here in terms of the money flows into these organisations, and 

over the period I described there was $1.6 billion going to organisations on the register. We believe that it is about 

time that the public understood what it is that is being supported here and why. I do not think there is anything 

dramatic about our expectations that the public's support through DGR status for these groups should involve 

some outcomes. The outcomes we are suggesting are really not very far from the current rules but we believe 

need some rigour, so outcomes around making a difference on the ground to the environment and making a 

difference through genuinely informing the public about facts and science about environmental issues. 

Mr GILES:  I just want to clarify a matter that Mr Hawke raised with you. I want to make sure I understand 

your evidence. He asked you whether you had made complaints to the environment department regarding 

organisations on the register, and I thought you said that you had not. Then you said later that you had never 

received any follow-up from the department. I want to understand what he meant by the second answer in light of 

the first. 
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Mr Roche:  What I meant by 'follow-up' is no contact. We have neither contacted the department around 

issues raised in our submission, nor has the department ever come near us to talk about the issues raised in our 

submission. 

Mr GILES:  But it would be odd to be followed up if you had not raised an issue, wouldn't it? 

Mr Roche:  I was not suggesting that. 

Mr GILES:  I wonder whether you might expand for our benefit—when you say, as you did in your opening 

statement, that REO groups are effectively taxpayer funded—what precisely you mean by that. Do you accept that 

the QRC is effectively taxpayer funded as well? 

Mr Roche:  No, I do not. On the latter point, we do not have DGR status. 

Mr GILES:  I appreciate that. 

Mr Roche:  So it is quite different. These organisations have a DGR status under the tax act or on the register; 

we do not. I will explain to the committee that our members , in paying a fee, are able to claim tax deductibility 

for the business expense, just as union members can claim their union subscriptions for tax purposes in the throes 

of earning an income or just as an accountant can claim their CPA fees or a doctor can claim their AMA fees. 

That is the analogy; not DGR status. 

Mr GILES:  So it is the purpose, not the mere fact that money is forgone by the Commonwealth, in your 

view? 

Mr Roche:  Companies have a whole range of business expenses, one of which is membership of industry 

associations. 

Mr GILES:  I appreciate that. Lastly, across the tenor your evidence, it appears to me that you are saying your 

concern is not the fact of advocacy but misrepresentations contained in that advocacy. 

Mr Roche:  We are certainly not looking to impinge on free speech. We do have concerns about illegal and 

unsafe activities and I think they do need to be better sanctioned. I take as an example the fact that 350 people 

were arrested in the throes of various activities against the Maules Creek mine in New South Wales. Typically 

their fine was about $250 to $400. Your hair would curl if you looked into the sorts of activities that were 

undertaken at Maules Creek mine. My concern, in a parochial Queensland sense, is that I can see some 

Queensland mine projects which are going to be targeted by the same tactics that were used in New South Wales 

and I do not think it is right that Australian taxpayers should be supporting those activities. 

Mr GILES:  The question I am coming to is that you talked a lot about misrepresentations in science. What I 

am looking for is how you think those misrepresentations ought to be clarified. Is that a role? You talked also 

about being reluctant to establish another bureaucracy. I hope I am not putting words into your mouth in that 

regard, but I am wondering how you see these factual or scientific debates being resolved. 

Ms Harper:  In our submission, we have put forward that maybe ACMA could be more actively involved 

through the social media channels. A recent example, I guess, of this type of deception, as we see it, or 

misinformation, was on the front page of the Courier Mail with the picture of the Great Barrier Reef and then a 

picture of another reef that was not in fact the Great Barrier Reef, with Greenpeace not stating that it was the 

Great Barrier Reef dead but obviously to giving the impression that it was in one of its social media campaigns. 

Mr GILES:  But you are not suggesting there should be any specific role in the federal government or in some 

agency of the federal government that would regulate the accuracy of statements made by environmental 

organisations? 

Mr Roche:  I would refer you to our submission, the section under 'Truth in advertising'. 

Mr GILES:  I am looking at it now. 

Mr Roche:  I invite the committee to consider: does a group like ACMA have a role in ensuring that there is 

truth in that advertising? That is what is being done on websites. The committee needs to get its heads around the 

fact that it is not just an ad on TV or an ad in the newspapers. This material is pumped out day in, day out, 

through social media, on websites, which basically would fail the test of truth in advertising. 

Mr GILES:  There are a range of regimes that cover that. What I am asking is: are you proposing a specific 

regime or a specific function to be conferred upon anyone which deals with the activities of registered 

environmental organisations to the extent that they constitute, in your view, misrepresentations or inaccuracies? 

Mr Roche:  And our submission was that perhaps this is a role that ACMA could take on. 

Mr GILES:  I do not think your submission says that, but I will leave it at that. 
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CHAIR:  That is a comment. Moving on: in your submission, you are recommending a tighter definition 

around the educational requirement in the act. Is it a mechanism that would improve what happens on the ground, 

if there were rules regarding what education and advocacy entailed?  

Mr Roche:  We are reluctant to recommend huge bureaucracies but there needs to be some way of testing 

whether or not so-called public education has some basis in fact and science. It may be a mechanism that we have 

not felt has existed to date for my organisation, for example, to say, 'Greenpeace is saying there are going to be 

10,000 coal ships running around the Great Barrier Reef, yet an Australian government agency says the number is 

a quarter of that.' Can there be a mechanism to test and appeal against what we believe is misinformation?  

CHAIR:  Your argument is particular to those organisations that take taxpayer concessions or funding. If you 

are a privately funded organisation, people will judge you on the validity of your statements and decide whether 

they are going to fund you or not, but here the taxpayer has no choice in funding Greenpeace. It has a concession 

from the government and it can make any statements it likes. You are saying there is no recourse for the taxpayer 

to say, 'Well, you're making an outrageously false statement, effectively with a concession from the government.'  

Mr Roche:  We would recommend that there is some place where we can go. If that is the Department of the 

Environment or somewhere where we can say, 'Here is what a campaign is saying; here is an alternative set of 

facts,' and have that tested independently.  

CHAIR:  You would be aware that there has been quite strong growth in the number of organisations on the 

Register of Environmental Organisations in recent years. It has been around for some 30 years now. In your 

opinion, this sort of political campaign activity is getting worse from your members' point of view?  

Mr Roche:  It is set to ramp up enormously. We have seen that. I have been in this role for 10 years and I can 

see it in terms of the balance of our work. We were set up to basically deal with governments around policy and 

legislation and now nearly 40 per cent of my budget has to go into this sort of work of countering this sort of 

material. It is not an unlimited budget. My budget has fallen. It is at the expense of the quality of our dealings 

with government around policy and legislation.  

CHAIR:  Are you seeing more and more groups on the register engaging in this sort of activity?  

Mr Roche:  I am just surprised who is actually on the list. We go through the list and everyone we mention is 

there. We think: what are these groups actually doing? What is Beyond Zero doing that is actually about on-the-

ground conservation work or genuine public education? All we see day after day from groups like Beyond Zero is 

advocacy around civil disobedience and slamming one of the big job generators in Queensland. Yet they are on 

the list.  

Mr VARVARIS:  In your view should environmental organisations on the register be restricted in any way in 

how they use funds that are not raised through tax deductible donations and, if so, what restrictions should be in 

place and why?  

Mr Roche:  We are not talking about how other funds are raised. Funds that attract tax deductibility are really 

what I thought this committee was looking at.  

Mr ZAPPIA:  Mr Roche, does your organisation make any contribution to any of the environmental 

organisations that have DGR status?  

Mr Roche:  No. Just for clarity, to cover Mr Giles's question: what we say in our submission on page 15 in 

relation to ACMA is: 

QRC believes its powers— 

that is, ACMA's powers— 

should be increased to regulate truth in social media reporting and advertising. 

CHAIR:  Thank you, Mr Roche and Ms Harper for your attendance here today. If you have been asked to 

forward any information, can you please forward it to the secretary. A transcript copy of your evidence will be 

sent to you and you can request any correction of errors to the transcript. Thank you so much for being here with 

us today. We appreciate your submission. 
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CANAVAN, Senator Matthew J, Senator for Queensland, Commonwealth Parliament 

[09:54] 

CHAIR:  We are going to call one of our friends and colleagues from the other chamber. 

Senator Canavan:  It is good to see that you are just as good as Senate committees at staying on time! 

CHAIR:  Yes, we have studied them closely! I would like to welcome you to today's hearing. We are all 

looking forward to the opportunity to grill a senator in a committee. 

Senator Canavan:  I am sure you are. 

CHAIR:  It will be a first for all of us. 

Senator Canavan:  A first for me too. 

CHAIR:  We like to have senators in the witness box. Although we do not require you to give evidence—

actually, I think we do require you to give evidence under oath; we want you to be completely truthful, Senator 

Canavan—you would be completely aware that this is a legal hearing of the parliament and has the same standing 

as proceedings of the House of Representatives, an institution you have immense respect for. We have received a 

written submission from you. Do you wish to present any additional submissions or make an opening statement to 

us? 

Senator Canavan:  I do, thank you. Before I make an opening statement, I just want to clarify something. On 

page 13 of my submission, I say that Friends of the Earth called for tax-deductible donations to support arrestees 

in relation to a certain protest. I have received advice from Friends of the Earth that this particular call was made 

by an individual unknown to them, or at least unknown to me, and not by their organisation. In my submission I 

believe I made a reasonable conclusion that any reasonable person would make. This statement was on the 

Friends of the Earth website directly under the Friends of the Earth logo, as indicated in my submission. 

However, I am more than happy to accept Friends of the Earth's claim that it was not made by them at face value. 

I bring that to the committee's attention, although I believe they have written to you separately. 

CHAIR:  Is it still on the website? 

Senator Canavan:  Yes, I also want to make the point that the statement is still on the website but the 

particular sentence starting, 'To support arrestees, please make a tax-deductible donation,' has been removed. I 

make the point that obviously Friends of the Earth seem to believe—implicitly, at least—that this would be an 

incorrect or not particularly appropriate claim to make, and of course in my submission I say such activity should 

be prohibited, so I welcome Friends of the Earth at least implicitly supporting my view there. 

But I do wish to make some broader opening statements if I can. I will keep them short, because you have my 

submission. I want to make the point that I think your committee is extremely important because you have an 

opportunity to allow communities, particularly regional and rural communities, a voice that they often do not get. 

They are often ignored and silenced because they do not have access to mainstream media and they clearly do not 

have access to great funding from taxpayer funded donations. Bruce Hedditch, the president of the chamber of 

commerce in Bowen, does not get a tax deduction, but he wants to see Abbot Point going ahead. When I first 

became a senator, one of the first things I did was go up to Bowen and talk to the local community, and they want 

to see Abbot Point go ahead. Before I was a senator, I spent three weeks working on a cattle property near 

Normanton, working for a company that wants to build a cotton farm up there that is opposed by many of the 

organisations on this register. The people of Normanton, a small town, want to see that project go ahead, but we 

currently have a system which provides certain advantages to some organisations in our political debate and not 

the same advantages to people on the other side of that political debate. I think that is unbalanced and unfair and 

can and should be corrected. 

I have obviously made a detailed submission in this regard. I just want to briefly summarise the two 

conclusions I made. I did an initial pass-through, if you like, of the 600-odd organisations on the register, and in 

my view the vast majority of them are acting in accordance with the requirements of the Income Tax Assessment 

Act and are doing very good work, but there are a substantial minority, in my view, that either are not consistent 

with those purposes or are doing things that are not in the spirit of that law. As you would see in my submission, I 

found that the vast majority of them are engaged in direct protest activity, political campaigns, court action, 

divestment campaigns and, in some cases, explicitly unlawful activities—sometimes blatantly and unreservedly 

so. I believe that we can tighten the regulations or the requirements we currently have in the act, consistent with 

what has occurred in other countries. I have some evidence in the submission about what has happened in other 
countries. 
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I have made four main recommendations. The first is that an audit be conducted. That does not seem to be 

happening at the moment. I note that the evidence provided to you by the Department of the Environment seems 

to indicate that that sort of compliance or enforcement activity does not occur. I say that it at least should, at 

different intervals. I think the guidelines the minister has the right to make under the particular provisions of this 

act should be strengthened. Again, I note that the Department of the Environment was a little vague with some of 

the questions you put to them a few weeks ago. In particular, I believe one official said he thinks protesting could 

be an education purpose. But I would think we could probably do better than 'thinks' and define what activities are 

and are not consistent with the purposes of the act. 

I also make the point that while the department seems to take the approach that it looks at the documents and 

constitutions of different organisations, it does not seem to look at the activities of those organisations all that 

much, when, under section 32-65(4) of the act, organisations on the register are required to use their public funds 

only for their political purposes. So that very explicit provision of the act would seem to me to indicate that the 

department should be looking at what the funds are used for—that is, what the activities of the organisations are, 

and not just their stated purposes. That is something they should be doing right now under the provisions of the 

act. 

Keeping that in mind, I think we need to fund more enforcement, because clearly the department is not 

resourced well enough to do that kind of enforcement right now. I have suggested a small levy on large 

organisation on the register, to help fund that. Also, I have said that more information should be provided and 

made public, consistent with the requirements of the Charities Act. 

I want to make one additional comment to my submission. Since I have made the submission I have of course 

reviewed the evidence you have received. While I did not conclude in my submission that the ACNC should be 

made responsible in this area, I do note that they have made that suggestion themselves. Under their act and their 

guiding principles, they do seem to perhaps impose a more stringent test than the Department of the Environment. 

Perhaps that is something that could be looked at, although I would make the point that while I believe the ACNC 

have said that organisations should base their campaigns or advocacy on reasoned argument, right now I do not 

believe that is necessarily being held up, either, because there are a multitude of examples where organisations are 

making clearly misleading or deceptive claims and the charities commission, at this stage at least, does not seem 

to be taking action. I have referred a couple of examples of that to the Department of the Environment and the 

ACNC, and they are looking into it at the moment. 

Thank you for this opportunity. I am happy to take questions. 

CHAIR:  As you have said, you represent the state of Queensland. It is good to hear about some of the 

Queensland experience in this regard. I want to start with some of the evidence you have given just now. You can 

confirm that in places like Bowen, and the towns you have mentioned, that you are not aware of any testing of the 

activity of environmental groups on the ground? There is no scrutiny or testing on it from the Department of the 

Environment? 

Senator Canavan:  During Senate estimates I put similar questions to yours to the department. I have put to 

them some of the illegal activities that have been conducted by some of these groups in those locations, and they 

have not investigated those in any way— 

CHAIR:  So you have put those suggestions of illegal activity to the Department of the Environment? You 

have said, 'There are some illegal activities here. Is this part of the DGR status?' 

Senator Canavan:  Yes, I have. I have put them both in broad terms at estimates, and, if I recall correctly—

and you can review the estimates Hansard—the department said they are effectively a complaints based 

compliance framework, that they wait for a complaint to be given before they do much checking. So they have 

not actually investigated a lot of those issues. Given that evidence I, in particular, referred some of the activities 

of Greenpeace to the Department of the Environment. I have written them a letter and catalogued a number of the 

different illegal acts they have conducted in the past five years, as well as the statements they have made publicly 

in which they said that in their view illegal acts were part of their modus operandi, if you like. For example, on 

Radio National recently, Fran Kelly put to Greenpeace, 'Do you engage in illegal activities?' and the Greenpeace 

spokesman responded with one work, 'Absolutely.' Greenpeace have claimed in the past that they do these illegal 

activities for the public benefit, but in my view it is not up to organisations to decide what laws should be adhered 

to, and which are in the public benefit and which are not. We certainly should not be providing taxpayer 

concessions to organisations that operate that way. 

CHAIR:  Has the Department of the Environment respond to your complaints about Greenpeace? 

Senator Canavan:  No, not at this stage. They were made at budget estimates, just over a month ago. 
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CHAIR:  So your contention is that these illegal activities and anti-industry activities from many groups on the 

register are harming communities in Queensland? 

Senator Canavan:  They are certainly harming the potential of these communities. There is great potential in 

North Queensland, in particular, for development of a raft of industries. The focus often is in mining, but there are 

enormous opportunities in agriculture. Near where I live there is a proposed tourism development on Great 

Keppel Island—a resort development—that is also opposed by organisations on this register. The Great Barrier 

Reef is an enormous asset for our country, and particularly for North Queensland. It is an enormous economic 

asset as well as an environmental one. But no-one is going to come and visit the reef unless there is a hotel to stay 

at and there are tourist operations to provide services. These organisations are opposed to these things. 

Philosophically speaking, I do not of course want to see North Queensland turn into another version of North 

Tasmania. I do not think any of you are Tasmanian representatives, and I hope I am not offending anybody. But 

we have seen the economic implications of a 'not build anything anywhere' philosophy in Tasmania. It leads to 

economic decay, high unemployment and lost opportunities. The people of North Queensland are no different to 

other Australians: they want to have a job and provide a future for their children, and they do not want to be held 

back by organisations that often don't live there but have a different view and get taxpayer funding to spread that 

view. 

CHAIR:  We have heard from the Queensland Resources Council this morning about misleading campaigns. 

Quite often campaigns against development from groups on the register are blatantly misleading scientifically and 

in a factual way about the nature of things. Are you aware of groups that are doing the same thing that are on the 

register: they are making completely false claims about proposed developments and other things to try to 

engender opposition to these things—things that are not factually based? 

Senator Canavan:  Yes. I was here for the previous witness, who raised the Greenpeace issue with the 

Philippines reef. There was another one recently that came after I had written to the department about 

Greenpeace. In London at the moment Greenpeace have ads saying 'See the reef before it dies'. In one of the ads 

they have a multi-clawed digger hanging over a piece of hard coral, waiting to dig it up, and there is text saying 

'Please text this number to donate three pounds to us'. We have never dredged hard coral. It is just absurd. The 

dredging activities they are opposed to—and they have every right to oppose them and point out their views on 

the effects of those dredging activities—are dredging silt, sand and clay. They are not dredging hard coral. We 

never do that. That would be absurd. But they are out to suggest to people in London, who obviously usually 

would not now better, that that is what Australians do. Again, I do not think such advertising should be taxpayer 

funded. If the money they are raising is going to some kind of public fund with a tax concession I find that to be 

unacceptable. 

CHAIR:  Do you recommend changes to the legislation, or the recommendations or the guidelines about 

education and specifically what that entails to help define better what a group could and could not do with its 

taxpayer concessions? 

Senator Canavan:  Exactly. I did not go into that detail in my opening statement, but in my submission, and 

reviewing some of the evidence to your committee so far, I think there are two principal purposes you can have. 

The practical environmental work purpose is pretty clear and can be well defined and investigated. The one that is 

unclear and vague is what 'information, education or research' means. I think that is something we could better 

define through the guidelines to give consistency to both the regulator—in fairness, it is difficult for the regulator 

without guidelines from ministers or parliament—and to the organisations on this register. 

I think I have made five suggestions. I am not dogmatic about these things but I certainly think that unlawful 

acts and significant material or pre-meditated ways should not constitute activities for the principal purpose; that 

organisations should not be allowed to solicit to pay fines or other costs related to unlawful activity; they should 

not make demonstrably misleading statements; they should not support or oppose political parties or candidates, 

just like under the Charites Act; and, I explicitly say that they should be allowed to do advocacy and political 

activities, but that should be ancillary to their principal purposes under this legislation. 

Mr ZAPPIA:  I commend you for your very detailed submission. For my benefit, and to get it clear, do you or 

any of your family members have a financial interest in the resources sector? 

Senator Canavan:  My brother works for Peabody Coal, and I hope he maintains his job. A lot of his 

colleagues have, unfortunately, lost their jobs in the last couple of years. I very much hope he can continue to 

work. He has a child and another one on the way. Hopefully that will continue. I do not have any investments in 

the resources sector, and nor does my wife. I do not know about the financial investments of my broader family. 
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Mr ZAPPIA:  From your knowledge of the industry, do you believe that any of the environmental 

organisations that have DGR status are fronts for other competitors to the resources sector, outside of the 

environmental groups? 

Senator Canavan:  Could you repeat that question? 

Mr ZAPPIA:  Do you believe that any of the environmental groups that have DGR status are fronts for 

another sector that is in opposition to the resource sector? 

Senator Canavan:  I do not have evidence of that. The issues around auspicing and acting as conduits are 

similar to the question you have just raised. But the evidence or examples I have of that do not necessarily go to 

acting for some other commercial interests. 

Mr ZAPPIA:  How would you best define what you would refer to as the 'principal purpose' that should be 

attributed to environmental organisations that have DGR status? 

Senator Canavan:  I think the principal purposes, as defined in the act, are a good place to start. I have not 

suggested any legislative change to the act. Any words you choose, though, are going to be vague and open to 

interpretation. Therefore, my belief is that we should better define those terms. I have no problem with the 

existing purposes, which relate to information, education and research. Those kinds of activities certainly should 

be supported, to the extent that they are based on reasoned science, reasoned argument and contribute to the 

policy debate in our country. But clearly there is a line that can be crossed at times and we should better define 

that line so that we can ensure that the funding provided through this scheme is well-targeted to those 

organisations doing that work. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  Going to your report, you spell out the illegal activities, and that is almost taken as a 

given. I am not sure why there is not follow-up on that, and I, and perhaps the committee too, would be interested 

to hear back when you receive feedback from the department to the complaint you have issued to them about 

Greenpeace. On that front, what has happened in other jurisdictions where they have found illegal activities or 

blatantly political campaigning being carried on by these organisations? You list four other Western jurisdictions 

where they have rules in place about this. Which countries are they and what do they do? 

Senator Canavan:  I can provide evidence about the rules they have. I do not really have evidence on the 

enforcement of those rules in those countries. I have not gone into that in my submission. But that would, of 

course, be of interest to your committee. But I would make the point that in Canada political activity is defined by 

the Canada Revenue Agency, the equivalent of the ATO. There is a lengthy definition that I will not read out. The 

purpose of that definition is to say that those activities can only be ancillary to the charitable purposes of 

organisations, and expenditure on political activities, as defined, can only be between 12 and 20 per cent of their 

annual revenue. Likewise, there was a recent court case in New Zealand, which your committee would be very 

interested in and I am sure you will receive other evidence about, in regard to Greenpeace. Again, the court in that 

decision said that you cannot be accepted as a charity if you have any illegal or unlawful purpose, even if that 

purpose cannot be viewed as merely ancillary to the pursuit of your other purposes and— 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  Greenpeace lost its— 

Senator Canavan:  No, the case is much more complicated than that. To the extent you want to ask about the 

illegal or unlawful activities, that quote goes to that—that it cannot be a charitable purpose and cannot even be an 

ancillary purpose to your charitable acts. The court did rule in favour of Greenpeace, that they can engage in 

political ad campaigning activities as ancillary to their charitable purposes. And as I have said previously in my 

evidence, I accept that it should be permissible for registered organisations receiving a tax concession to 

contribute to a public policy debate. I do not believe they should be allowed to explicitly support or oppose 

political candidates or parties and any political campaigning protesting should be ancillary to their broader 

environmental purposes.  

In the US, again, they have an outright ban on lobbying or no substantial part of an organisation's acts must be 

lobbying. And in the UK, you may be interested—I think I provided links in my submission—there were some 

major changes recommended in 2003 and made in 2006 which strengthened requirements, including bans on 

illegal activities, requirements for reasonable arguments to be made by charities and more recently there has been 

an increased oversight of charitable organisations and their activities during election campaigns through a 2014 

bill in the UK. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  So on the political campaigning front, from the research you have done—and I 
commend it; it is an excellent submission—how closely are some of these organisations linked to political parties 

and how much do activities resemble political campaigning that they undertake, in your opinion? 

Senator Canavan:  Are you talking about overseas? 



Tuesday, 14 July 2015 House of Representatives Page 13 

 

STANDING COMMITTEE ON THE ENVIRONMENT 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  No, here in Australia. 

Senator Canavan:  Here in Australia, in my submission I think the recent examples in state election 

campaigns are the most obvious. I have not done a time series analysis but it does seem that organisations on the 

register are increasing their political campaign activities and that is why this inquiry is timely. In the recent 

Queensland election, I have put in my submission some fliers distributed by the Wilderness Society, which in part 

are perfectly fine. To the extent that they are commenting on the LNP's record on environmental action, they are 

allowed to do that and should be allowed to do that. The element of that flier, which is on page 6 of my 

submission, which I have a problem with is that it goes on to call for voters to put the LNP last. Separate from 

your inquiry, the Wilderness Society is registered as a charitable organisation under the Charities Act and you 

may be familiar with the fact that advocating or opposing a political party is a disqualifying purpose for that act. 

So I have separately referred this to the Australian Charities and Not-for-Profits Commission. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  Are they on the register as well or are they only on the charities— 

Senator Canavan:  No, on the register as well. They do not have it, as currently stands, or it would not seem 

that the department would rule that as a disqualifying purpose for the register. There is no explicit prohibition on 

campaigning or opposing political parties in the registered guidelines. I would say it breaches the spirit of the 

existing legislation and guidelines but there is no explicit prohibition. There is in the Charities Act and that is why 

I referred it to the Australian Charities and Not-for-Profit Commission, but I think again for registered 

organisations there should be an explicit ban on using a public fund to distribute material that supports or opposes 

political parties or candidates. And keeping in mind that flier, they are not subject to the Electoral Act that exists 

for various other groups in campaigns. So on that flier and the other fliers they distributed, there is no 'authorised 

by' or statement indicating who is standing behind these statements. 

Mr GILES:  Further to Mr Zappia's question, you are comfortable with the way in which the principal purpose 

test is presently expressed in the legislation? 

Senator Canavan:  I think that with more detailed guidelines and explanations of those terms we would have a 

register that would be better focused on providing support to organisations that do have an environmental 

purpose, be that on-the-ground activity or education or research. I have no problems with organisations that 

provide information and research or education receiving taxpayer support. Obviously, it is how you define these 

things. I do not particularly view lengthy sit-in type protests that potentially trespass or block or restrict a business 

going about its day-to-day work as information, education or research. A protest down the Queen Street Mall 

trying to raise an awareness of an issue—fine, but actually going onto someone's site and trying to restrict their 

business activities I do not see as information, education or research, and it should be defined as such. 

Mr GILES:  I understand that, but you are not proposing that the definition itself be amended? 

Senator Canavan:  I do not think we need to do that. 

Ms MARINO:  Thank you, Senator Canavan, for your very detailed submission. One of the things that you 

touched on and one thing that exercises my mind in this is the issue of unlawful activity. You certainly touched on 

that and you touched on the fact that, in this space, arrests rarely lead to convictions and penalties. And, even 

when the prosecution is successful, penalties are very minor. You also raised the issue of potentially strengthening 

these types of laws, and you touched on activities in the Western Australian parliament. Would you care to 

expand on that a little further and your belief as to why it is the case that this is the result through the prosecution 

process? Secondly, I would be very interested in your comments regarding reporting requirements for overseas 

funding of registered organisations. 

Senator Canavan:  I did make some comments in my submission on the fines levied, largely—I think almost 

exclusively—by state governments in legislation. It is only ancillary to my submission, because your inquiry is 

into the register, and these issues obviously go to matters of state government legislation and enforcement. 

However, I think the previous witness said there was an average fine of $300 or something like that for protesters. 

You are talking about organisations that receive millions of dollars in donations. Greenpeace in Australia alone 

had donations of $90 million in the 2013-14 financial year. Overall, globally, they have $423 million in revenue 

annually. These are not small organisations. If the fines are small, they will just pay them. Even if you clamp 

down on the register and restrict their activity to be able to fund those fines from their public fund, from their fund 

that gets taxpayer donations, I would suggest they would still probably be able to finance a lot of these activities. 

We obviously want to have a country which upholds the rule of law. In my view, in light of the enormous funding 

provided to these organisations, often not from outside Australia, it may be worth looking at strengthening those 

fines and penalties. As I think you mentioned, there is a bill in front of the Western Australian parliament, I 
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believe, to do this. I think that is something that is worthwhile looking at. It is ancillary to your terms of reference 

but it is certainly a related matter.  

On the second question, about overseas funding, the funding for the purpose of the register is not something I 

have catalogued, to the extent I have, but clearly stopping the Australian export boom was financed heavily by I 

think the Rockefeller Foundation. The Pew foundation in the US has also been an organisation that has funded 

campaigns to change our fishing legislation. That is something I have not touched on. But, again, there are not as 

many fishing communities on the coast of Queensland anymore, thanks to the changes we have made. Again, we 

are in a democracy; people can argue one way or another. But, when you have large-scale funding coming from 

overseas organisations to try to influence our political debate, I am a bit concerned about where that ends. But it is 

not something I looked at in detail for this submission, because it goes to issues beyond the register. 

CHAIR:  Thank you, Senator, for appearing before us today and, again, for your detailed submission, which 

you put a lot of work into. I do not think we have asked you for more evidence at this time, but you will be sent a 

copy of the transcript of your evidence, to which you can request corrections to transcription errors. 
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ADAMS, Mrs Rose, Secretary, Gecko-Gold Coast and Hinterland Environment Council Association 

LEVY, Mrs Lois, Campaign Coordinator, Gecko-Gold Coast and Hinterland Environment Council 

Association  

[10:24] 

CHAIR:  Welcome to the representatives from Gecko-Gold Coast and Hinterland Environment Council 

Association. Although the committee does not require you to give evidence under oath, I should advise you that 

the proceeding is a legal proceeding of the parliament and that we have the same standing as proceedings of the 

House. We have received a written submission from you. Thank you for that. Also, we have received a 

supplementary submission. Did you wish to present any additional submissions or an opening statement to 

commence the inquiry today? 

Mrs Levy:  Yes. I would like to bring some highlights from our supplementary submission. And I thank you 

for the opportunity to do that. I would like to start by saying that environmental organisations represent ordinary 

Australians. We are not a class apart. We are just ordinary Australians who are passionate about protecting the 

unique flora and fauna of Australia, which, as we can see—and there is plenty of scientific evidence to back this 

up—is threatened by many impacts and processes in the way society is run these days. 

Gecko is one of many of the groups registered on the REO. Like all of those groups, we have had to undergo a 

rigorous process of application and assessment by the Department of Environment and Heritage Protection. We 

pride ourselves on the fact that we meet the principal purpose test as set out in the Income Tax Assessment Act. 

We do not believe that we deviate in any way from that situation. We believe that our actions should be directed 

at some positive benefit in the protection of the natural environment. We consider that all of our activities are 

directed in that particular way. 

The operation of environment NGOs, as described in legislation, include annual reporting requirements and the 

stricter operation of the donations account. Registered associations are further regulated in each state and 

territory— in Queensland, through the Office of Fair Trading. Provided that environmental organisations work 

within this framework, Gecko believes it is contrary to the intent of the relevant acts to punish those who lawfully 

advocate on behalf of the environment by threatening their removal from the REO and cancelling their eligibility 

to hold deductible recipient status—so potentially reducing their income and consequent opportunities to express 

their viewpoints in the community and, indeed, in all other activities they are involved in. Gecko's constitution 

specifically states that we will advocate by any peaceful means that any individual, group, company or 

government cease exploitative and ecologically unsafe practices, and that we will urgently seek them to 

implement alternatives. Obviously, our views of whether activities are exploitative and ecologically unsafe will 

differ from other people who are putting in submissions to this inquiry. 

As we have stated previously, the work of environmental organisations is of considerable community benefit 

that extends beyond on-ground works such as weeding, tree planting and providing education about the 

environment to the public. Gecko provides training of volunteers, including those registered with Centrelink who 

come through our office. At no cost to the government or to the people who come, the training equips people with 

a variety of skills, including office management, workplace health and safety requirements, computer literacy, 

effective use of social media, understanding of local, state and federal governance, and understanding of 

environmental protection and town planning—to name just a few. 

Many of our volunteers move on to take up paid employment, having been prepared for a more formal work 

environment. Mature-aged volunteers who often find difficulty in rejoining the workforce, or who have been 

made redundant, often gain a new sense of purpose as their talents are put to constructive use. Also, Gecko 

provides opportunities for tertiary students to gain hands-on experience in their field of study. Gecko also 

provides opportunities for Work for the Dole participants. As an extension to our ethos we work very hard to 

establish a strong connection between individuals and the natural environment so that they are able to embrace 

messages of sustainability and responsible treatment of the environment and all its components. This is 

particularly true with children. We have seen lots of scientific discussion recently about how children are not 

connected to the natural environment and spend far too much time on their screens. Of course the management of 

all these activities by Gecko is undertaken by volunteers, who might sit on the management committee or other 

standing committees. They do this without any financial benefit in any way. It is our experience that NGOs are 

typically poorly resourced and in most instances rely on donations to carry out all of these activities. They will 

undoubtedly suffer financial hardship if their tax deductibility status is not maintained, as it will affect all of their 

activities and not simply those that are being critiqued by other presenters. 
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It has been suggested that the only legitimate primary focus for environmental organisations should be on-

ground work such as landcare, tree planting, beach clean-ups, litter collection and activities of this nature. While 

Gecko is involved in all of these activities, Gecko believes that this is too restrictive and that in some instances, 

with some groups located in urban areas, there may not be sufficient opportunity for such activities or the ability 

to source volunteers. An important part of the work of environmental NGOs is participation in opportunities for 

community consultation, compiling submissions that genuinely seek to improve legislation, policy and/or 

development applications, and assisting the community to understand proposals and submit properly made 

submissions. Community consultation is a requirement in many legislative processes and is particularly valuable 

when environmental values may be threatened. If groups cannot participate fully and meaningfully in this process, 

it makes a mockery of the legislation. Given the sometimes fleeting involvement of some volunteers, an NGO 

must work to its strengths, and may focus more effectively on research and education, which have been upheld as 

meeting the principal purpose test. 

We advocate on behalf of those who have no voice: our native plants and animals, our marine and terrestrial 

ecosystems and indeed the great natural forces that make our planet a liveable place. That is fundamental to the 

role of any environmental organisation. We ask for respect for the greater diversity of views and ideas—for the 

creative thinking that I believe comes from this dialogue to solve the challenge that we have with a growing 

human population in a world of finite and dwindling resources. Indeed we also have threats from an increasingly 

unstable climate, and this requires better dialogue between those with differing views. We are a registered charity 

under the Charities Act and we believe that it is true that: 

the purpose of promoting or opposing a change to any matter established by law, policy or practice in the Commonwealth, 

a State, a Territory 

—or indeed local government—is appropriate for environmental NGO activity. We certainly see that as a primary 

purpose for Gecko: to promote change. We also believe that our stance is supported by both the High Court and 

the Court of Appeal of the Supreme Court, whose Justice David Harper QC said: 

While some politicians and business lobby groups might not always agree with the views of environment organisations on 

the Register, their advocacy is lawful, integral to public debate, and leads to practical environmental outcomes—such as 

protecting our most cherished natural places. 

I am sure you would agree that this is true in terms of health issues of pollution, establishing and protecting 

national parks, or even protecting high-quality agricultural land. None of these things would have come to pass if 

it had not been for the efforts of environmental organisations. Further, we believe that the right to speak out and to 

be supported in that way is true under the Universal Declaration of Human Rights, which states that everyone 

shall have the right to hold opinions without interference and everyone shall have the right to freedom of 

expression; this right shall include the freedom to speak, receive or impart information and ideas of all kinds, 

regardless of frontiers, either orally, in writing or in print, in the form of art or in any other medium of their 

choice. 

There is some criticism in some submissions that groups on the REO are lobbying on behalf of political parties. 

We would like to assure the panel here that our communication policy explicitly states that we do not lobby on 

behalf of any particular political party or candidate, although we do provide informed comment on various 

policies in a nonpartisan manner. Of course, we do not ask our members whether they belong to a political party 

or hold particular political views, and if they want to support a particular party in their private capacity then 

obviously we would not be saying anything against that right they have. 

We are a bit concerned that the focus of this inquiry seems to target only environmental organisations, and we 

wonder why other organisations that receive tax-deductible status are not being examined as well. We also would 

like to make a comment that there are lobby groups within the various industries who seem to be opposed to 

environmental organisations, and perhaps they should be equally closely examined in regard to tax exemptions or, 

indeed, tax funded subsidies that they might enjoy. 

We believe that we have a clearly articulated purpose that we should be free to pursue in a transparent and fair 

framework, and we would like to be able to continue that regardless of whichever political party happens to be in 

government at the time. We thank you very much for the opportunity to appear as witnesses. After Rose has made 

a few comments, we would be happy to answer questions. 

CHAIR:  Great. Thank you. 

Mrs Adams:  I have just a few points to add to that. Environmental groups are portrayed in the media as 

basically ratbags. As soon as a new proposal comes up or there is a new policy or there is something relating to 

the environment or development, we are contacted immediately for our opinion. Our opinion is sought out. If we 

do not have information on that project, we find the most factual sources we can to find out what the impacts will 
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be. The on-ground work that people do is kind of boring to the media. They want those headline stories: 'Green 

groups pitted against' whatever issue has come up. The boring stuff they do not print. 

We undertake a detailed annual report every year; it is part of our reporting requirements to the Office of Fair 

Trading. In excruciating detail, the day-to-day activities are clearly outlined. There is so much that is on ground. 

Some of the campaigning is forced upon us. We have members of the community begging for assistance with a 

project. We believe environmental groups can play a leadership role in their communities. People who do not 

understand the legislative process, the impacts on their lives and the rights they have come looking for 

information: 'What can we do? What can't we do?' I think that is a really important role that we play. 

I would just like to mention that my view is that a protest is a very important educational tool. These things are 

not done on an ad hoc basis. Permits have to be obtained from the local council. A great deal of planning is 

undertaken. The purpose of a rally or a protest is to inform people on an issue. They are then invited to examine 

the facts for themselves. It would not be responsible to dictate to people how they view a project. They need to 

evaluate it for themselves, and they cannot do this without information. So I believe that information-sharing role 

is really crucial to people participating properly in the electoral process. How can they examine policies if they do 

not understand what they are based on, where they come from, the impacts they will have and also how these 

policies could be improved? Thank you. 

CHAIR:  Thank you, Mrs Adams. Thank you for your submission and your comments. There are many things 

in there I agree with. I just want to ask you a couple of quick questions about this. Your organisation's view is that 

you do not engage in any illegal activity, obviously. 

Mrs Levy:  No, we certainly do not. 

CHAIR:  You would not countenance illegal activity by your organisation, your volunteers or your network. 

Mrs Levy:  No, we certainly would not be encouraging our members or our volunteers to be involved in illegal 

activities. 

CHAIR:  Going to your point, Mrs Adams, about protests, I accept your view. It is an interesting point about 

education and protest. Is it your view or your organisation's view, though, that you have a right to use your 

taxpayer concessions to organise protests? Are you advocating for taxpayer concessions for protests? 

Mrs Adams:  It depends what you define a protest to be: not a sit-in or an opportunity to engage in violent 

public behaviour. Our view of a protest is an elucidation of the facts and handing out printed material, and I may 

say the idea of a protest is not just from one side of the political spectrum. I recall in 2009 there was a massive 

rally for koalas organised in Brisbane and a strong proponent of that rally was the MP for Noosa, Glen Elmes, 

who was an LNP supporter. We relished the opportunity for both sides of government to come together on the 

issue of koalas. It was a massively well-supported walk through Brisbane. There were hundreds if not thousands 

of people. So that was a genuine opportunity to highlight the plight of a particular species that needed our help. 

CHAIR:  Yes, I understand. We have heard from different organisations so far, some of them colloquially. 

You are giving evidence today, and if you have a figure I would be interested in it. Some of them have outlined 

roughly what kind of percentage of their budgets they spend on on-the-ground work versus education work. Do 

you have a notion of what that percentage is? Under the act as it currently stands, education is a legitimate 

purpose for your concessions. I have looked at your website and I have seen all the on-the-ground work you are 

doing, and you are doing a lot of really high-quality on-the-ground work and things. Do you have a figure or 

something that you give out about the proportions you use for education, whether it be in schools or whatever you 

are doing and on-the-ground work? 

Mrs Levy:  No, I cannot say that I have ever broken it down in that regard. I would say there is probably a 

higher percentage towards education, whether it is in schools or our guest speaker nights or media releases or 

providing submissions to the public on whatever the issue happens to be. As you would have seen on our website, 

we do have three bushcare groups that have been going for decades, and we certainly support them. But as to the 

percentage of our funding from donations that goes towards them, I really could not answer that question. 

CHAIR:  That is no problem. Looking at some of the issues that you have been involved in, the biggest issue 

in your neck of the woods would have been this cruise ship terminal. That would be accurate, wouldn't it? That is 

the biggest contemporary environmental issue. 

Mrs Levy:  Yes, recently. 

CHAIR:  That is on the Gold Coast. You are obviously involved in advocacy about that issue, so that is 
education advocacy, information and all that sort of thing. That is all fine. That has been going for some time. As 

an organisation, would your view be that organising protests about that is legitimate education information? 
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Mrs Adams:  I think very much so. In fact, we have people from the community coming to us fearing the loss 

of their jobs as a result of this program. There are a large number of jobs supported on the Broadwater, if you are 

not familiar with it. It is the only city in Australia that has such amazing diving facilities so close to the city. 

There is a dive industry, the surfing industry, the boating industry. They would all be seriously impacted and they 

actually gravitated to us looking for guidance on this, and there are profound environmental values that we are 

protecting. That is first and foremost our purpose, as well as protecting public open space, and these are all issues 

that have resonated throughout the community. 

CHAIR:  Yes, and we have heard some evidence from other groups and some of the industry bodies about 

larger groups on the register not being accurate in their information—so, misleading information, false 

information—in their campaigns. Do you put a premium on accuracy in your campaigning and would you 

apologise or back down if you had made inaccurate claims? I do not have any evidence that suggests you would 

not, but some organisations on the register have deliberately misled the public and not backed away from that. 

Would you have any comments about the way you run your organisation or how you manage your information? 

Mrs Levy:  Yes. Obviously we are not responsible for what other organisations might do or say. We do our 

very best to make sure that whatever we say is backed up by factual information. In regard to the Save our Spit 

campaign, there were two reports provided to the Gold Coast City Council. One was an environmental report in 

depth about the environmental values, and we were able to quote from that study to back up our claims. 

The Broadwater is known because it has a number of species listed under the Environment Protection 

Biodiversity Conservation Act, and they were the ones that we were extremely concerned about protecting in this 

particular protest. So we were able to use a lot of scientific evidence in our campaigning in that regard. We do our 

very best to make sure that it is accurate.  

CHAIR:  You are the peak environmental organisation on the Gold Coast region, as far as I can understand. I 

assume that is correct. Out of interest and as part of our terms of reference of our inquiry: have you entered into 

any other arrangements to provide funds to other organisations or member organisations, and how does that 

work? Do you issue funds to other organisations?  

Mrs Levy: No, we don't. We have occasionally auspiced organisations but they have to provide their own 

funds. We might do the bookkeeping for them because they do not have the capacity to do that, but they use their 

own funds for that and we do not provide funds to other organisations.  

CHAIR:  That is an occasional arrangement, not a permanent one?  

Mrs Adams:  Yes. And any such group would have to comply entirely with our aims and objectives.  

CHAIR:  So you guarantee they meet your principal purpose?  

Mrs Adams:  Yes. 

CHAIR:  And that is an occasional not a formal arrangement?  

Mrs Adams:  It is on occasion. It is temporary as well.  

CHAIR:  Thank you. That was my question.  

Mr ZAPPIA:  Thank you for the submission. In your submission you say that occasionally, where appropriate, 

you get involved in national issues as well. Can you give an example of a national issue that Gecko might get 

itself involved in?  

Mrs Adams: We share with all Australians a love for the Great Barrier Reef, so if there are opportunities to 

speak up about its better protection we will join in with that. We have not made that a specific campaign. We 

have never entered into or launched a national campaign. We have perhaps offered support to other groups that 

have done so, through spreading information but not in any other way. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  I think you are a great organisation in terms of the work you do on the ground. You are 

the peak body for the environment in the Gold Coast area? Is that right?  

Mrs Adams:  That is correct. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  I do commend you on that. I am going to pose a couple of tough questions to you on 

the advocacy side of things. I am not the MP for the Gold Coast, and I suppose if I were I might have taken a 

similar stance about that cruise ship terminal. I am going to use that as an example, because it was one of the big 

issues that you were pushing. There might be people in the community down there who are for it. Maybe they are 

a minority; I don't know. But it does come down to an argument of you as an organisation having that tax 

deductibility status. There are two ways of looking at it: other people in the community effectively subsidise the 

tax that is forgone from people that donate to you or, alternatively, the Australian government and the community 
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at large forgoes revenue that could be used for services and things in the community because of donations to you. 

So a great deal of public interest comes into play when organisations have tax deductibility status. Aside from 

that, I or anyone else—it would probably be safe to say—on this committee would say that your organisation does 

not have the right to protest and to oppose these sorts of things, but when you are receiving that level of funding, 

which is tied to the government, tied to tax, is it appropriate then to be pushing issues and pushing one side of an 

issue where there might be a genuine split in the community on that point?  

Mrs Levy:  I do not really see that there is any problem at all. There is no reason why people who oppose us 

cannot form their own organisations and get their own tax deductibility status.  

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  You would have no problem with that?  

Mrs Levy:  Absolutely none.  

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  If there were a group that was dedicated to jobs, to development, that suddenly set 

itself up and was somehow able to claim tax deductibility status on that front and receive donations from the 

public at large, you would have no problems with that going ahead?  

Mrs Levy:  I do not have any problems with that at all. It is a basic right of anybody within Australia to be able 

to set up an organisation, apply for that status and use it according to the criteria that are set down. Probably a 

number of the organisations that were opposed to our view on the Save Our Spit or Broadwater issue indeed had 

that status. We never really went in to examine that. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  Which ones were in favour of it? 

Mrs Levy:  Some of the chambers of commerce were opposed, but not all. The issue is not that we were 

opposed to a cruise terminal; we were opposed to a cruise terminal in that position. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  In that location. 

Mrs Levy:  In that location. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  I appreciate that. 

Mrs Levy:  I also believe the Australian people are quite capable of working out for themselves whether they 

want to donate to a particular organisation and what they are doing. It seems to be implied that people are so 

stupid that they cannot work out where their donations are going. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  No, I do not think that is the implication at all. I would say the implication simply is 

that, when someone who might be a multimillionaire, for instance, actively decides to reduce their tax liability by 

donating to an organisation that they are aligned to because of their ideology or their world view, it might be 

opposed to the world view of many other people in the community, and I suppose the question is: is it right that 

revenue that is forgone for the benefit of the entire community should be forgone in those circumstances? That is 

the argument that is at play here. That point of view is interesting, because I have asked other environmental 

organisations that same question, and they have said to me that it would be ridiculous to have an organisation that 

was pro development getting tax-deductibility status. There is no mechanism currently whereby a group could be 

set up simply for the purpose of promoting jobs and development and get tax-deductibility status as far as I am 

aware. Would you support a new measure whereby the government allowed that to happen? 

Mrs Levy:  I think it would be interesting to have a community debate on that. I do not know that I have 

enough information to be able to decide whether that is a particularly good idea at this point in time. I do think, 

however, that it is important that we recognise that there has been substantial growth in the number of 

environmental organisations as a reflection of community concern about what is happening to our natural 

environment and the overexploitation of a number of areas. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  I have just two more quick questions. The chair has already asked about the illegal 

activity front, and I am glad to hear that you would never engage in that. You have said you do not engage in 

political activity as well. 

Mrs Levy:  Not party political, no. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  No party political activity. So what I want to know about is the political activity, when 

you provide your members or the community at large with information around election times. I have seen some of 

these things that go out from groups, and they can say it is not political but quite clearly it is where it sort of lines 

it up with ticks all on the one side and crosses all on the other. It is almost as good as saying, 'Vote for this party.' 

Do you do something similar to that or not? 

Mrs Levy:  We have done that in the past, and it is really difficult to know quite how to get that information 

across. The ticks and the crosses are not very illuminating, because people really need to look at the actual 
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policies themselves to make up their own minds. I guess all we are trying to do is to alert people to the fact that 

we are concerned about particular issues and the policies and whatever the parties and the candidates are that hold 

those views. We would put a more detailed information sheet on our website. It is up to people to read that and 

make their own decisions based on that information. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  If it were a requirement of being on that register that you were not allowed to put out 

such things during election times because it would be seen clearly as political activity, do you believe that would 

disrupt the main efforts of your group? 

Mrs Levy:  No, I do not see it as disrupting the main efforts of our group. Because we are not party political, 

we are not saying, 'Vote for this person or that person or this party or that party.' We are saying: 'These are the 

policies that the various candidates or parties are putting forward. This is what we, Gecko, think of them. It's up to 

you to make up your own mind whether you agree with us or not.' 

Mrs Adams:  This is an opportunity for issues that are important to the community to be brought forward to 

political candidates. They may not be aware how strong community concern is in a particular area. So it is a two-

way dialogue. 

Ms CLAYDON:  Thank you so much for your evidence this morning. I appreciate it is not an easy task. I note 

that you asked a very good question about why it was that environmental groups are the only ones nominated for 

investigation in this area. I have to say that I have been asked by a number of other charitable organisations and 

community groups that very same question. I think it is a very legitimate one to have on the record, so thank you 

for that. 

I wondered about something, however. In your submission you refer to the primary focus that has been given at 

the moment to the on-ground work of environmental and conservation groups. I note that this focus around the 

register of environmental organisations is not actually a requirement within the act but it is something that this 

committee clearly has a spotlight on. I am wondering if you could talk us through what, in your view, is the value 

of having hierarchical ordering of tasks and work from environmental groups and whether or not you find that the 

primacy given to on-ground work is therefore at the expense of a whole range of other works that are being done 

and whether those works are complementary to the work you are doing on the ground anyway. 

Mrs Levy:  On-ground work is very important. We can certainly see that through the on-ground work that the 

Landcare organisation and all the other groups do. However, not everybody who is passionate about the 

environment or interested in the environment can physically get involved in on-ground work. At my age I am a bit 

past it, to be honest, but I am very interested in protecting the environment and so the other activities we are 

engaged in give people like myself or people with disabilities or are very young perhaps other ways of expressing 

their passion for protecting the unique Australian environment which is so important to us all and which, indeed, 

we all rely on for everything. We will not have any food if we do not protect our environment. I think it is really 

important that we have the on-ground work but that there are also opportunities for people to express their passion 

in other ways. Mrs Adams, do you want to add anything? 

Mrs Adams:  I agree with that. It is seen as a hierarchy, but, as Mrs Levy referred to earlier, we work to our 

strengths. I personally run a Bushcare group. It is hard work. It is my favourite part of my volunteering. But 

people come and go. They do not actually want to get dirty and dig in the ground. A few do. But people do see 

support of an environmental group such as ours as a way of contributing to the general protection of the 

environment. While we cannot work hands-on on the protection of turtles in the Great Barrier Reef, the work we 

do supports that kind of activity. We cannot all be there immediately doing something on a particular topic. We 

take on what we can, when we can. It is all generated towards a greater awareness of the environment. If people 

do not value the environment they will not protect it and they will not stand up when it is being assaulted. 

CHAIR:  Thank you. Sorry, but we are going to have to finish up as we are running over time. I want to thank 

you for your attendance, your submissions and the comments you have made. If you have been asked for any 

further information, we will ask you to forward it to the secretariat. You will be sent a copy of the transcript of 

your evidence and you will have the opportunity to request corrections of any errors in that transcript. Thank you, 

again, for your time and for appearing before us today. 

Proceedings suspended from 10:59 to 11:16 
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PRITCHARD, Ms Tanya, Conservation Officer, Queensland Trust for Nature 

CHAIR:  I welcome the representatives of the Queensland Trust for Nature. Although the committee does not 

require you to give evidence under oath, I should advise you that the hearing is a legal proceeding of the 

parliament and has the same standing as proceedings of the House. We have your written submission. Would you 

like to make a short opening statement? 

Ms Pritchard:  Our submission is relatively short, so I will keep it short today. I have just one addition: in 

regard to the scientific robustness of any decisions and activities that QTFN is involved in, we try to make sure 

that all of our activities and decisions are based around good science, and that involves partnering with 

researchers and other leading experts in the conservation field. 

CHAIR:  Thank you. I will start with a few questions. Obviously you do a lot of on-the-ground environment 

work relating to your evolving fund of land, which is an interesting model. Can you outline in greater detail the 

process and the environmental outcomes that are specified in a typical conservation agreement that you have? 

Ms Pritchard:  The revolving fund operates where we find a parcel of land that may be at risk. We do an 

assessment of the conservation values and make a purchase of the land, and that involves negotiating a nature 

refuge agreement over the property with the Department of Environment and Heritage Protection. That is the 

covenant on title, which is in perpetuity, and the conditions of that agreement usually involve management 

conditions specific to whether it is a certain type of ecosystem or species. It may be an endangered turtle, and we 

talk about activities that can take place in nesting areas all of those sorts of things. So the agreements are specific 

to the parcel of land that we are protecting. 

CHAIR:  So, by way of covenant is the main method in management agreements. 

Ms Pritchard:  That is right. But we also engage in activities in terms of improving the land as well, if there 

are weeds or pests or other activities that are needed to help rejuvenate the land. 

CHAIR:  But the way you bind the landholders is by covenant or agreement. 

Ms Pritchard:  That is right. But we also have properties that we currently hold as well, and we perform on-

ground activities on the properties that are in our ownership currently. 

CHAIR:  I do not have a fixed view about this issue, but I note that some of the people on the register who 

have DGR status operate in some sense in a quasi-commercial way sometimes. So you acquire land. It is for a 

purpose. You get a taxpayer concession for that purpose, which I do not doubt is legitimate. An interesting 

question that has been raised in the course of this inquiry is: have you received legal advice about potential 

competition law issues between you and, say, other people trying to acquire land? You are not commercial, but 

one could make a case that you have a taxpayer concession and you are buying land in competition with other 

people trying to procure land. 

Ms Pritchard:  There are certainly other organisations like Bush Heritage Australia and Australian Wildlife 

Conservancy that purchase land for the protection of the environment. Their models operate slightly differently in 

that they manage and hold those lands, whereas we tend to onsell them so we can use those funds to purchase 

further land. In terms of the commercial operations, our purpose is the protection of the environment. All our 

profits go towards the benefit of the environment. 

CHAIR:  So you do not have any other arms, a trading name, a commercial wing or anything like that? 

Ms Pritchard:  No. 

CHAIR:  You are totally your principal purpose. 

Ms Pritchard:  That is correct. 

CHAIR:  That is good to understand. Mr Zappia. 

Mr ZAPPIA:  I will follow up with a bit about the ownership of the land. I assume that, once you have 

purchased land, the title to it goes under your organisation. 

Ms Pritchard:  That is correct—until we onsell it to another private landholder. 

Mr ZAPPIA:  When you do onsell it, do you onsell it to a private landholder or another community body of 

some sort? 

Ms Pritchard:  Usually to another private landholder. 

Mr ZAPPIA:  How does that ensure or guarantee that the purpose for which you bought it in the first place 

continues? 
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Ms Pritchard:  Because we always put a covenant over the title of the land before we onsell it to protect that 

land in perpetuity. In Queensland we are using the nature refuge mechanism, which is a partnership agreement 

with the Department of Environment and Heritage. The covenant goes on title and specifically states that that 

parcel of land is to be protected for whatever purposes it is usually for—specific ecosystems and endangered 

species or it might be because it is a corridor or buffer to a national park. 

Mr ZAPPIA:  All right. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  Thank you for your submission. You seem like a great organisation. I commend the 

work you are doing. I have one question. On page 3 of your submission you state, in relation to returns to the 

Department of the Environment for being on the Register of Environmental Organisations: 

It may be considered prudent that these returns be subject to more scrutiny to ensure an organisations purposes are being met. 

I note you say heavily in your report that you do not want additional bureaucratic burdens and red tape put on 

you, but how do you think it should be done? Is there concern you might have that other organisations are not 

meeting the standards? 

Ms Pritchard:  We do not have any concerns about other organisations meeting those standards. Rather than 

creating more onerous conditions and reporting requirements, it was a suggestion that it might be more useful just 

to do the occasional check on a random assortment of organisations. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  Thank you. 

CHAIR:  I have one final thing. On that issue: have you ever heard from the Department of the Environment 

saying they want to assess what you are doing or anything like that? 

Ms Pritchard:  Not that I am aware, no. 

CHAIR:  So you have never had any interaction other than initially. How long have you been on the register? 

Do you know? 

Ms Pritchard:  I am not exactly sure. We started out in 2004 in government, and then in 2012 we came out of 

government. 

CHAIR:  So probably about five years. That is great. Thank you for you time today. You will be sent a copy of 

your transcript. If you have any corrections of errors, you will have the opportunity to correct those errors. Thank 

you again for your submission and for your time today— 

Ms Marino interjecting— 

CHAIR:  and thank you for your work, as Ms Marino points out. 
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BOYLAND, Mr Desmond Ernest (Des), Secretary, Wildlife Preservation Society of Queensland; and 

Secretary, Wildlife Land Fund Ltd 

[11:24] 

CHAIR:  Welcome. Is there anything you wish to add about the capacity in which you appear today? 

Mr Boyland:  I am also the policies and campaigns manager for Wildlife Preservation Society of Queensland, 

also known as Wildlife Queensland. 

CHAIR:  Thank you. Although the committee does not require you to give evidence under oath, I should 

advise you that this hearing is a legal proceeding of the parliament and has the same standing as proceedings of 

the House. We have received your written submissions from both of the organisations represented today. Do you 

wish to present any additional submissions or make a short opening statement? 

Mr Boyland:  Yes, thank you. With your indulgence, I will read both statements, and then we can go to 

questions afterward. 

CHAIR:  Go ahead. 

Mr Boyland:  As stated, I am the secretary and policies campaign manager for Wildlife Queensland. Wildlife 

Queensland is one of the most respected wildlife focused conservation groups in Queensland. Our mission is to be 

a key non-government organisation advocating protection and conservation of Queensland's native plants, animals 

and landscapes by educating and engaging communities, influencing decision-making, advancing solutions and 

connecting people with wildlife. With over 6½ thousand supporters spread across numerous branches throughout 

Queensland as well as the broader community, Wildlife Queensland is a strong voice for our wildlife and its 

habitat. Wildlife Queensland is apolitical and will work with the government of the day given such an 

opportunity. Our funding comes predominantly from public and member donations and a small foundation. 

Bequests bolster our operating funds periodically. We also publish Wildlife Australia magazine, a copy of which 

is in a little package I have given to the committee for distribution. I have also included in there our newsletter 

and some information about some of the campaigns we ran and successes thereof. 

Besides our on-ground activities, we campaign and lobby governments of all persuasions to attempt to 

influence decisions to ensure there is a balance among develop, meeting society's needs and our wildlife. Such 

activities include lobbying governments to change the design of some fishing traps to prevent platypus drowning 

and campaigning for more effective waste management to minimise pollution and its negative effect on our 

wildlife. Queensland is the rubbish state of Australia—not a title to be proud of. It is beautiful one day and filthy 

the next. We advocated the protection of the Great Barrier Reef in the 1960s and yet again we have been active in 

the current ongoing campaign. We will work with and engage with other organisations to leverage funds available 

to maximise benefits for our wildlife. 

Wildlife Queensland is well aware of policy and ensure it is not breached. When joint projects are undertaken, 

it is the initiative of Wildlife Queensland. Examples include working with the Tiaro & District Landcare Group, 

who supplied the labour for the endangered Mary River turtle project where we supplied the cash to buy the 

necessary materials to construct the containment areas for the nests. We also worked with the Queensland 

government, who supplied the workforce to undertake and/or organise research projects to benefit the endangered 

bridled nail-tail wallaby. We recently handed over $38,385 for research on that endangered species. We give 

credit to governments when credit is due and criticise government decisions that impact our wildlife 

inappropriately. 

To turn briefly to the terms of reference: with regard to the definition and requirements to be met by an 

organisation, Wildlife Queensland has the view that no change is necessary. Wildlife Queensland's major concern 

is that there is no change to permitted activities undertaken by organisations listed on the register. Apart from on-

ground works, donations that support education, provision of advice and advocacy directed to the enhancement or 

betterment of our environment must retain their tax deductability status. Wildlife Queensland is of a view that, 

should tax deductability status be limited to on-ground projects, the rate of decline in Australia's biodiversity 

would increase significantly. 

Finally, Wildlife Queensland strongly endorses the freedom of people to donate funds or gifts to any registered 

environmental organisation of their choice that uses currently approved activities for the betterment of our 

environment and its wildlife. Such donations must continue to enjoy tax benefits. 

I will move on to the statement from Wildlife Land Fund. The Wildlife Land Fund is a not-for-profit limited-
guarantee public company which is registered as an environment organisation. It was founded and fostered by 

Wildlife Queensland and is based in Queensland. The land fund is run by volunteers. The vision is to contribute to 
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an ecologically sustainable future for people and for wildlife by conserving Queensland's natural environment. 

The principal means of achieving these visions is to acquire or bring about the acquisition of land with significant 

conservation and natural heritage values and to protect and enhance those values through wise and ecologically 

sustainable management. 

The land fund complements the work of other organisations by focusing on smaller parcels of land from about 

five hectares up to 1,800 hectares. We believe we need to act to protect land with conservation values because 

governments alone cannot do this. Currently, the land fund has about 1,855 hectares under management. The 

wildlife fund owns the Witta Nature Refuge, the Neil Holloway Nature Refuge at Reesville and Rosedale Nature 

Reserve and is sole trustee for and manages Bukkulla Regional Park. Bukkulla Regional Park is owned by the 

Crown. 

The Wildlife Land Fund relies on successful grant applications, rebates from work undertaken in accord with 

voluntary conservation agreements with local authorities and, most importantly, donations or gifts from members 

and the public. Agistment of stock brings in variable income annually from $0 up to $4,000. While our works are 

primarily on-ground works, education is a component, as is some lobbying of governments to ensure better 

conservation protection of nature refuges. 

Assets of the company are now approaching $700,000, comprising mainly landholdings, with some cash. The 

landholdings have been gifts from members of the public who have enjoyed considerable tax benefits. This is the 

background as to why the board of the land fund is of the view that donations should remain tax deductable for a 

very broad range of activities. Such activities include but are not necessarily limited to on-ground works, 

education and law reform. It is essential that tax benefits attached to land gifts to registered organisations remain 

for the long-term benefit of the environment and its biodiversity. From the board's perspective, change to the 

current system is not warranted unless it is to streamline the process of registration without diminishing its rigour. 

Perhaps some attention could be directed to the reporting process. The Wildlife Land Fund board appreciates 

steps must be in place so the public has confidence and trust in environmental organisations; however, would the 

public continue to fund such organisations if they did not support their activities that led to better environmental 

and biodiversity outcomes and also reduced government expenditure in conserving our wildlife? 

CHAIR:  Thank you. I will ask a few questions to start with. Your submission speaks of support for advocacy 

by all lawful means. You obviously would not support illegal activity in your organisation. 

Mr Boyland:  No. We will take part in protests provided there is all the policy authority and all those sorts of 

things. 

CHAIR:  Lawful protests, not illegal protests. 

Mr Boyland:  No. 

CHAIR:  Thank you. I think you mentioned you provide a lot of detail in your annual reports, including the 

source of your funding—who your donors are specifically and the sources you get money from. Not all 

organisations do that on the register, but you are making some comments about no need for increased 

transparency. Wouldn't you agree that, if we were to recommend increased transparency to meet your standards, 

that would be an appropriate thing for organisations on the register to meet? 

Mr Boyland:  There are annual reports and audited reports. They are all made available. What more do you 

want? 

CHAIR:  You tend to have high standards—I am giving you a plug—compared to some. 

Mr Boyland:  Oh yes. 

CHAIR:  And I appreciate that. It is good to set a high standard. 

Mr Boyland:  Obviously the people that donate land to us for the Wildlife Land Fund enjoy considerable tax 

benefits. 

Ms CLAYDON:  Thank you for your evidence, Mr Boyland. You have noted your preference for the current 

definitions to be retained in the definition of an environmental organisation under the income tax laws. I note that 

goes to the heart of the principal purpose, being to protect the environment, but you will have heard considerable 

discussion this morning around this thing called 'on-ground conservation'. I wondered if you, given your 

experience across two organisations here, might like to give us your view of the worth of creating some separate 

on-ground conservation category here and whether in your view that is a useful kind of carving off of your work 

and whether that in itself is enough to achieve those better conservation protections and law reforms that you were 
speaking of? 
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Mr Boyland:  On-ground projects actually are a significant role for the Wildlife Preservation Society—there is 

no question about that. I would suggest in a breakdown it would be something like about well over 60 per cent of 

our funding is actually spent on on-ground projects, 15 per cent for actually running the organisation and that sort 

of thing, putting in perspective our annual expenditure is somewhere in the vicinity of—it varies considerably—

from about $450,000 a year up to about $650,000 a year. I think it is projected for $650,000 this year because of 

the success we have had in actually raising funds for projects recently. Last year we raised about $160,000 for 

works on specific animals such as the Richmond birdwing butterfly, the Mary River turtle, the bridled nail-tail 

wallaby. 

The other amount of money is spent in the campaigns area. When we talk about campaigns, we are talking 

about lobbying government for changes. It has taken us five years to effect a change to the structure of the Opera 

House traps so that platypus do not drown in them. The culminating factor was that we clearly established that at 

Logan Creek, which is near Caboolture in South-East Queensland, there were 12 platypus drowned in 12 months 

and that was enough to make the Newman government change the design of the traps. 

Ms CLAYDON:  That tangible example of complementary work between on-ground activity and advocacy 

around law reform is very useful for the committee. 

Mr Boyland:  We will march with the marches in the street for the reef and things like that. There is no 

problem about that at all. 

Ms MARINO:  Thank you Mr Boyland not only for your submission but for the amount of effort that goes 

into your on-ground work. You just touched briefly on marching in the street and advocacy. Does part of your 

role in that advocacy or lobbying involve influencing people's political decisions that that might make in the run 

to a state, federal or other election? 

Mr Boyland:  We actually approached the three major parties, the Greens, Labor and also the Liberal National 

Party, prior to the last election. We had meetings with Andrew Powell three or four days before the election or a 

week before the election. He was instructed that he was allowed to give us no commitments on what they would 

do for the environment—so obviously we passed that on to our members—whereas the Labor government gave 

us about half a dozen commitments and we were very pleased to announce that they would only give us a 

commitment on the Cash for Containers program. They would not give a commitment to do anything about the 

plastic bags, which is our biggest concern for turtles in Moreton Bay and out in the ocean. Out in the ocean over 

70 per cent of the turtles that die actually have plastic in their intestines; they die an agonising death. But after the 

election, we did not give up and the Labor Party has announced establishing a task force, which comprises 

industry groups plus conservation representation, to actually look at ways to deal with cash for containers and also 

plastic bags. 

Ms MARINO:  Through your organisation, have you provided funding to any other organisation in any direct 

or indirect auspicing type arrangement at all? 

Mr Boyland:  In my statement I mentioned they were not auspices. We actually approached the Tiaro and 

District Landcare Group, which had been doing excellent work for a number of years saving the Mary River 

turtle. The biggest threat to the turtle is the fact that hatchlings do not get away from the nest because of trampling 

by stock and/or devouring by pigs, foxes and goannas—we got into trouble for stating that because goannas have 

got every right to eat turtle eggs. What we did there was we approached them and said, 'If we raise funds to 

provide the materials, will you build the enclosures around the nests for us?' 

Ms MARINO:  And they did? 

Mr Boyland:  And they did. That was quite successful. 

CHAIR:  Thank you Mr Boyland for your submission and for your attendance here today. Your extra 

materials are very good as well. We ask you to have a look at the transcript of your evidence. If you have any 

corrections could you request those transcription errors. Thank you for your time today. 
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KINDLEYSIDES, Mr Darren, Director, Australian Marine Conservation Society 

WISHART, Ms Felicity, Campaign Director, Australian Marine Conservation Society 

[11:42] 

CHAIR:  Welcome. Although the committee does not require you to give evidence under oath, I should advise 

you this hearing is a legal proceeding of the parliament and therefore has the same standing as proceedings of the 

House. We have your written submission. Would you like to make an additional submission or opening 

statement? 

Mr Kindleysides:  Thank you for the opportunity to appear this morning. The Australian Marine Conservation 

Society was formed in 1965 backed by the support of thousands of Australians. We have been the voice for 

Australia's marine life for 50 years. We are headquartered here in Brisbane and have staff in regional Queensland, 

New South Wales, Victoria, Western Australia and the Northern Territory. 

AMCS has a clear and demonstrable record of delivering outcomes for Australian wetlands, our coasts, our 

seas and our oceans for the community in Australia and globally. Fifty years ago, AMCS was formed in response 

to plans to mine part of the Great Barrier Reef for limestone. Back then, working with other groups, AMCS 

gathered scientific evidence, organised coral surveys, wrote to politicians, used the court to lodge an objection 

and engaged with the community and media to raise awareness about the threat to the reef. This was the 

beginning of a critical debate amongst the community and politicians that resulted in the protection of the reef 

from limestone mining and ultimately its place on the World Heritage List. We have not stopped since. We are 

doing the same things—working with government, industry and community to protect marine environment and 

coastal environment. 

I believe strongly that without AMCS and the crucial work we have done over the past 50 years, Australia's 

oceans would be worse off. We were instrumental in helping to protect some of Australia's most iconic places like 

the Great Barrier Reef, Ningaloo, Moreton Bay and Kakadu, and some of the most threatened species like sharks, 

Wales, seals and sea dragons. We have secured antipollution laws for cleaner coastal waters and fisher's reforms 

for healthier sustainable fisheries. 

Australia is blessed as one of the largest and richest marine jurisdictions on the planet. A succession of 

Australian governments both coalition and Labor spurred on by the community voices have shown global 

leadership in ocean protection. It was Australia that drove global efforts to ban whaling. We banned shark finning, 

setting a precedent. We established a ground-breaking national oceans policy and, most recently, a national 

network of marine reserves. 

The health of Australia's coasts and oceans is declining and the pressures are mounting. We believe that an 

effective environmental sector that continues to advocate for action and that holds governments and industry to 

account is essential. AMCS has played a pivotal role in shaping the protection of Australia's oceans because of 

two things: first, the support and generosity of everyday people who love and care about how oceans and their 

marine life; and second, the independence for charities to determine how to work most effectively to maximise 

the impact of our work—in our case, the protection of our coastal oceans. 

The Register of Environmental Organisations was introduced specifically to support environmental groups to 

protect Australia's environment. We value and need the tax deductibility status it confers to be able to continue 

our work effectively. We would oppose any changes to the register that would reduce access to tax-deductible 

donations or restrict the ways in which environmental groups work including limiting our ability to advocate on 

behalf of the environment. Our coasts, our seas, our marine life and the community rely on a healthy marine 

environment and need this to be the case. 

CHAIR:  Could you outline for our benefit if you undertake any on-ground activities, on-water activities or 

whatever the case may be? 

Mr Kindleysides:  Yes certainly. Listening this morning, I am struck that there is no real clear picture of what 

on-ground means or what advocacy is. I think there could be an artificial boundary drawn there. We heard earlier 

about the notion of an artificial dichotomy. AMCS works in a wide variety of ways. We determine how best to 

work in terms of looking at how best to use our supporters' donations to achieve our purpose of the protection of 

the marine environment. I can give you examples of a range of ways in which we could work including on-ground 

if that is useful. 

CHAIR:  I would be interested in a couple of examples. 

Mr Kindleysides:  For example, in the wake of the 2011 floods here in Brisbane, we supported groups not 

only doing practical work in relation to turtle and dugong populations in Moreton Bay, including the clean-up of 
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debris and plastics that affect those animals, but also research work looking at the impact that the flood may have 

had on those species and their habitats. We do work in a variety of ways. 

CHAIR:  Other organisations are giving us information about the proportion of their activities and the balance. 

We are interested in your organisation as well. Do you have a figure in terms of on-ground versus your advocacy 

or education or what proportion of funds you spend? 

Ms Wishart:  Can I respond to that by asking for some clarity? If you try to determine what is on-ground and 

what is not, it blurs very quickly. If you take the issue of a major concern we had a number of years ago, when we 

were looking at major port expansion along the Great Barrier Reef coastline, we ascertained that there were 

hundreds of millions of tonnes of dredging and dumping planned for the reef's waters. Through a community 

education campaign, through the promotion of advocacy, in going to the community and talking about the risks 

from dumping in the reef's waters and encouraging politicians to take the issue seriously, we have seen a shift in 

government policy and we now have a federal ban on the dumping of dredge spoil from capital works in the 

marine park. That is a huge on-ground or perhaps in-sea outcome as a consequence of our work. We now know 

that seagrass corals and the like are not at risk of having dredge spoil land on them over the next period of time. 

CHAIR:  I understand your point of view. 

Ms Wishart:  So at what point do we say that our advocacy work is not having an on-ground outcome? 

CHAIR:  But that is my question. That is advocacy resulting in an on-ground benefit; I am not going to 

question your on-ground benefit today. But different organisations operate differently. Under the act, education 

and advocacy are part of the purposes for the DGR concession, and practical work for the environment—you have 

to have a principal purpose as well. 

Ms Wishart:  Sure. It is all about protecting the environment, of course. It would not be possible for the 

Marine Conservation Society to protect those corals and those seagrasses through on-ground activity. 

CHAIR:  I am not asking any of that. My question is: if you are an advocacy organisation and you are 90 per 

cent advocacy, you should not feel shy in telling us that. I am just asking a simple question about that. It is not a 

trick question. I am not trying to— 

Ms Wishart:  No, no. It is just that it is a false dichotomy. 

CHAIR:  So you do not distinguish between advocacy and practical work? We have visited sites where groups 

to on-the-ground works. Some people advocate for the environment. I am not making a statement about either of 

those activities, but they are separate. There is on-the-ground environmental work and there is advocacy for the 

environment. They are separated in the act. You do not distinguish between those two things? 

Mr Kindleysides:  We work in a range of ways on a range of issues. Depending on what the issue is, that 

would determine what the best mix of on-ground and other activities might be. I think it is fair to say that 

advocacy and on-ground works, no matter how you might define those, are inseparable. Advocacy has led to on-

ground benefits. 

CHAIR:  We might disagree on that issue, but let me ask you a different question. 

Mr Kindleysides:  For example, the establishment of Landcare was a result of advocacy, and Landcare was 

delivered for the environment. The establishment of the Reef Trust came about through advocacy, and that is how 

the on-ground work benefits. 

CHAIR:  I am not trying to have a philosophical discussion about the nature of advocacy; I am asking a 

question. I will go to a different question. We might disagree on this issue. From my observations, looking at the 

600 groups on the register—and the committee are looking through the types of groups on the register and what 

type of work they do and things like that—would you agree with this statement: 'You are predominantly an 

advocacy organisation'? If you compare yourself—if you look at other groups on the register and at what they do 

and at what you do—predominantly, you are an advocacy organisation. 

Mr Kindleysides:  Again, I think it depends how you define 'advocacy'. If you look at the work we do— 

CHAIR:  We could get a dictionary out, but it is pretty straightforward. 

Mr Kindleysides:  If you look at the work we do in relation to fisheries and sustainable seafood, that program 

is educating and providing information to— 

CHAIR:  I have no problem with that, but that is education and advocacy, so that is different— 

Mr Kindleysides:  Is it education or is it advocacy? 
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CHAIR:  Well, probably a bit of both—column A and column B. But what I am talking about is: do you go 

out and help the fisheries or do you advocate for them in a campaign sense? I do not see why this is such a 

difficult line of questioning. 

Ms Wishart:  No, it is not difficult. I think the issue here speaks to the legislation. The current definition states 

that the principal purpose of an environmental organisation must be:  

 (a)  the protection and enhancement of the natural environment or of a significant aspect of the natural environment; or   

(b)  the provision of information or education, or the carrying on of research, about the natural environment … 

What we are saying is that a lot of our work falls under (a) 'the protection and enhancement of the natural 

environment'. I think you have chosen to interpret that first definition as meaning that it has to be on-ground 

work, whereas we are saying— 

CHAIR:  I am just asking: do you do on-the-ground works or do you do advocacy predominantly? It is a fairly 

straightforward sort of thing. 

Ms Wishart:  No, but you said it was defined in the legislation, and I am suggesting it is not defined as on-

ground works and education; it is defined as protection of the environment. 

CHAIR:  I am sorry if I gave that impression. I am actually not making a point; I am just asking a question 

about it. Is your organisation more campaign, advocacy and education—you get different flavours from different 

groups—or is it more on-the-ground work? We could go around in circles all day, but I get the sense that you do 

not want to answer this question. 

Mr Kindleysides:  No. I think now I understand more clearly where you are coming from. Again, I would say 

it depends what issue we are working on. At the moment we are probably more advocacy, using the definitions 

that we have heard this morning. 

CHAIR:  I do not think that is hard to understand, but anyway, next we will go to Mr Zappia. 

Mr ZAPPIA:  Mr Kindleysides, in your submission you point to an impressive list of achievements by your 

organisation over the years. Has there ever been any attempt to put a dollar value on those achievements? 

Mr Kindleysides:  I am not aware of any such attempt. Obviously there is information out there about the 

value to the Australian economy from a healthy and productive marine environment. I would say this: I think 

AMCS, more than any other group over the last 50 years, has contributed to the protection of the Great Barrier 

Reef through work we have done in terms of the ban on coral mining—we spoke about it at the start—all the way 

through to the establishment of the marine park and so on and so forth. We know that today the Great Barrier 

Reef Marine Park supports a tourism industry that is worth something in the region of $6 billion and supports 

almost 70,000 jobs here in Queensland. That is probably the nearest we could come to putting a benchmark on 

one aspect of our— 

Mr ZAPPIA:  And it was in line with that last comment about the value of the Great Barrier Reef Marine Park 

that I was asking the question, because earlier today the Queensland Resource Council put specific dollar figures 

and employment numbers on the operations of their members but we do not seem to have the same values 

attributed to the environment, other than perhaps the Great Barrier Reef, which I have heard figures on. I was just 

curious about whether work had been done at any time to put those values on it. Perhaps my question to you is 

this: do you believe that the value of our environment—'value' in every sense of the word—is truly understood by 

the broader community? 

Mr Kindleysides:  I think you are highlighting a very important point. The groups on the register that have a 

very clear purpose of protection of a natural environment contribute substantially to the public benefit in 

Australia, and that includes the economy. What value would we put on our system of national parks? What value 

do we put on recovery of whale populations? In fact, that is a value I do have: the whale watching industry in 

Australia is worth over $300 million a year. That is an industry based on the humpback whale, which was close to 

extinction in Australia. It has rebounded because of advocacy work. So, all I can do is answer broadly that the 

work of groups on the register, which includes advocacy work, has generated significant public benefits here in 

Australia, and I believe it is important that those benefits are understood. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  I will make the point before I start my questions that the 'impressive', as Mr Zappia 

calls it, list of achievements you have outlined in your submission are mainly all government decisions rather than 

actions by your organisation. Would it be fair to say that? You might have lobbied for those actions, but just about 

every single one of them has been a government decision rather than an action of your organisation. 

Mr Kindleysides:  I think it is totally fair to say that in Australia a lot of the big outcomes for the environment 

have come about through government decisions as a result of community activity and advocacy. 
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Mr CHRISTENSEN:  You are an advocacy organisation first and foremost. You rely on the principle of the 

education component in the purposes of your existence and the Register of Environmental Organisations. Do you 

believe that organisations that purport to be delivering an educational purpose to the public for the benefit of the 

environment should deliver that education in a truthful, accurate and not-misleading manner? 

Ms Wishart:  I think we would hope that any institute in Australia would provide information that was 

truthful, accurate and not misleading. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  The information you have provided as an organisation has always been truthful, 

accurate and not misleading to the public? 

Ms Wishart:  Information changes over time, but at any given time we always endeavour to be as truthful and 

as accurate as we can be. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  What is your organisation's link to the Fight for the Reef campaign? 

Ms Wishart:  We are one of the two organisations that run the Fight for the Reef campaign. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  So you run the Fight for the Reef campaign with another organisation. What is the 

other organisation, for the record? 

Ms Wishart:  It is WWF Australia. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  So you have control over the elements in the Fight for the Reef Campaign, just to be 

clear? 

Ms Wishart:  Yes. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  Thank you. I am just wanting to establish the facts. Does the Great Barrier Reef have 

any on-land area? Does the Great Barrier Reef exist on the Australian continent, or offshore? 

Ms Wishart:  The Great Barrier Reef World Heritage Area certainly has land components to it, including a 

large number of the islands that are found within the area. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  But does the Great Barrier Reef exist on the Australian mainland? 

Ms Wishart:  I think the definition is up to the low watermark for the federal government, and then up to the 

high watermark for state governments. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  I have a document here on my iPad that I am going to give to the secretariat. It is part 

of your public information. This is your document from Fight for the Reef, which describes the Caley Valley 

Wetlands as 'the reef's Caley Valley Wetlands'. 

Ms Wishart:  Yes, it is the— 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  You have said before that the reef is not on the Australian mainland. The Caley Valley 

Wetlands are on the Australian mainland. 

Ms Wishart:  That is correct. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  Would you say that this is inaccurate information— 

Ms Wishart:  No— 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  to describe it as the reef's Caley Valley Wetlands? Is it part of the reef? 

Ms Wishart:  I would say that there are a whole range of wetlands, all the way up and down the Queensland 

coast, that are ecologically connected to the reef. Water flows through and— 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  Is the Caley Valley Wetlands part of the Great Barrier Reef? Yes or no, please. 

Ms Wishart:  The Caley Valley Wetlands adjoin the Great Barrier Reef. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  But they are not part of the Great Barrier Reef—yes or no? 

Ms Wishart:  No, it is not part of; it is adjoining to. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  So it is inaccurate to describe it as 'the reef's Caley Valley Wetlands'. 

Ms Wishart:  It is like saying 'the reef's coastline'. The coastline is not part of the Great Barrier Reef. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  Well, that is not what you said. You said 'the reef's Caley Valley Wetlands', as if the 

Caley Valley Wetlands belong to the reef. That is clearly inaccurate information. 

Mr Kindleysides:  If you look at the work of the Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority, they do a lot of 

work within the reef's catchment. Given that one of our purposes is protection of the Great Barrier Reef, we need 

to be able to do that work where it is most required. The reef has a huge catchment, and the catchment is a source 
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of pollution of the reef, which ultimately has implications for crown-of-thorns starfish. I am not certain where you 

are going with that, but the Great Barrier Reef Marine Park Authority— 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  My point is that it is inaccurate to describe— 

Mr Kindleysides:  views the reef ecosystem as including the catchments that flow into the reef. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  My point is that you have described the Caley Valley Wetlands as part of the reef when 

clearly it is not. Let me go on. You had several ads through that Fight for the Reef campaign, some of them 

featuring Bob Irwin, and we saw dramatic videos of these clawed dredging devices that were pulling up sand and 

mud and silt and plonking it on a barge, and muddy water swirling around the surface. Are you familiar with that 

type of dredging activity? 

Ms Wishart:  Yes, and I can tell you where that dredging activity in that footage was. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  Where did it take place? 

Ms Wishart:  Gladstone Harbour. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  You were using that in the context of Abbot Point, were you not? 

Ms Wishart:  We were referring to the fact that there had been dredging and dumping in the reef's waters that 

had caused damage and that we did not want to see further dredging and dumping that would continue to cause 

damage. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  But there is an insinuation that that was what was going to take place at Abbot Point. 

You were talking about Abbot Point and the Abbot Point expansion and using that image in the context of 

dredging. Is that correct? 

Ms Wishart:  There is dredging that goes on up and down the Queensland coast, and we were very concerned 

about that activity and the damage it would create. So we brought that to the attention of the community, and 

people were deeply concerned to learn that this was what was happening along the Great Barrier Reef. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  As you would be—and you had a four-minute video produced which featured a 

Professor Callum Roberts from the University of York in England. I have a screen shot showing a similar type of 

dredging activity. Does that come from Gladstone— 

Ms Wishart:  It does indeed. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  or somewhere else? Gladstone—okay. And there is the insinuation, again—using this 

in the context of Abbot Point. Did you contact North Queensland— 

Ms Wishart:  I would point out that when Callum Roberts came to Australia we were facing seven major 

dredging projects and port expansion projects up and down the Queensland coast. Abbot Point was only one of 

those. 

Mr GILES:  Chair, it might be useful if the purpose for which these witnesses are giving their evidence was 

clarified for Mr Christensen. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  Thank you very much for that, Mr Giles. 

Mr GILES:  I do not think the terms of reference are being greatly assisted by this line of questioning. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  It is to do with education, so, please: you will have your turn. 

CHAIR:  Mr Christensen is from North Queensland. He obviously has an issue. But you will get to the point. 

Mr GILES:  But we are here for a purpose. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  Yes, we are here for a purpose, and I am getting to the purpose. 

CHAIR:  Thanks for your assistance. We will let him get to his point. But get to your point, please. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  So, Abbot Point: you put out these public advertisements basically saying, 'Stop the 

Abbot Point expansion' or 'Be part of this Fight for the Reef against the Abbot Point expansion', using these 

clawed devices that were for dredging, showing the stuff spilling out everywhere. That is essentially correct, yes? 

Ms Wishart:  I am sorry—could you ask the question again? 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  You ran advertisements through the Fight for the Reef campaign showing images like 

that but using those images in reference to the Abbot Point expansion. 

Ms Wishart:  If I recall correctly, the advertisement referred to the fact that there had been dredging and 

dumping in the past in places like Gladstone, and now there were plans for more dredging and dumping. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  Well, you are not being completely accurate there. I am going to ask the question again 

about the reef's Caley Valley Wetlands. We have the scooper. That ad is clearly about Abbot Point, referring to 
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the reef's Caley Valley Wetlands. It is a fact that you did. I have it right here; you cannot deny it. It is a fact that 

you used that image of that scooper spilling out that spoil everywhere as part of this campaign against Abbot 

Point. You have nodded your head in agreement; okay. Did you contact North Queensland Bulk Ports— 

Mr ZAPPIA:  Chair, a comment was just made that a witness nodded her head in agreement. In agreement to 

what? 

CHAIR:  We will let Mr Christensen ask his question, and let it get answered, and then we will get on with it. 

Mr ZAPPIA:  Well, I think that needs to be clarified. 

Ms Wishart:  It would appear—and it is a little hard to see from here; this is I think a Facebook image that we 

used—we have Abbot Point on the left and Caley Valley on the right. And I have just been reminded by a 

colleague that under the Great Barrier Reef World Heritage Area strategic assessment on the Great Barrier Reef 

Region, Caley Valley Wetlands is actually listed as a Great Barrier Reef wetland—just to clarify.  

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  Did you contact North Queensland Bulk Ports to ask them what type of dredging they 

were going to undertake in that area? 

Ms Wishart:  I think the point is that we have been very concerned about the impacts of dredging and 

dumping— 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  I am not wanting to know the point about other things; I am wanting to know the point 

about the question. 

Ms Wishart:  I did read documentation from North Queensland Bulk Ports, and I did read subsequent 

documentation from the Department of State Development that was prepared in relation to plans, which, as you 

would note, have changed a number of times over that period. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  But from the get-go they were talking about using a vacuum based dredging process, 

very different to this one. You have basically a vacuum-type device which sucks up the sediment from the 

bottom— 

Ms Wishart:  Yes, and it still disturbs the sediment, it still disturbs the seagrasses and it still puts the Great 

Barrier Reef at risk. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  But they were not dredging at all in a manner such as you depicted in your 

advertisements— 

Ms Wishart:  Well, we do not know what they were going to do, because we have not seen— 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  You do, because— 

Ms Wishart:  Insofar as there are plans that are proposed— 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  Which they started; they were using vacuum dredging. 

Ms Wishart:  And then there are outcomes which are often different. If I go back and look for the reference to 

the gravel dredges in the Gladstone Harbour EISs I will not find that there either. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  Even though they said that they were going to use suction devices, vacuum devices— 

Ms Wishart:  They did say they would use it in Gladstone as well— 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  you have used an image of a claw— 

Ms Wishart:  We did; it is true. We used that image. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  You do not think that is misleading the public? 

Ms Wishart:  I think it is a metaphor for the issues. 

CHAIR:  You have both had a good go there. 

Mr GILES:  Thank you very much for your evidence and all the work you have been doing and will continue 

to do, no doubt. From my point of view, I think it is very important that we hear from you in relation to the terms 

of reference of this inquiry. You are not here to be cross-examined on the activities you have undertaken. With 

that in mind, I just have one question. And I apologise, because I am taking you back to ground that perhaps has 

been covered by the chairman. Having regard to the definition of 'environmental organisation' under the Income 

Tax Assessment Act, in your submission you effectively said that you support the current definition. In your view, 

and also having regard to the objectives of your organisation, is there any warrant for this distinction under the 

first limb of the principal-purpose test for a distinction to be drawn between on-ground or on-sea and other 
activities? 
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Mr Kindleysides:  Thank you for the question. We can see no basis for that distinction. The tax act does not 

prescribe how an organisation should set about the protection and enhancement of a natural environment. It leaves 

it to the groups to determine how best to achieve that purpose. And I meant to raise this at the start of the previous 

series of questions: Mr Christensen talked about how AMCS would sit under the education component. We 

actually sit under both, and our primary purpose is the protection of the environment. We do undertake education 

activities, but the primary purpose under the tax act is at para (a), the protection and enhancement of the natural 

environment. 

Mr GILES:  Thank you; you have just answered by second question before I asked it, so, thank you very 

much. 

Mr ZAPPIA:  I just want to clarify a couple of matters. When was your organisation established? 

Mr Kindleysides:  In 1965. 

Mr ZAPPIA:  Since then, have you at any time been prosecuted by the government for any breach of any law? 

Mr Kindleysides:  Not that I am aware of. 

Mr ZAPPIA:  So, you have operated for 50 years in compliance with the law and never been prosecuted. 

Mr Kindleysides:  That is correct—50 years this year. 

CHAIR:  Further to that line of questioning, you do not support any illegal activity in your organisation? 

Mr Kindleysides:  We do not undertake unlawful activity and we do not ask our volunteers or staff to 

undertake unlawful activity. 

CHAIR:  Do your volunteers or staff engage in illegal activity in terms of protest activity or other things in 

relation to their duties in your organisation? 

Mr Kindleysides:  Perhaps we could ask a bit further what you mean by that. I know you mentioned protests 

there, and that is something that has come up this morning. 

CHAIR:  I mean illegal behaviour, protests—things against the law. Often protests can be legal and lawful. Or, 

they can bust into mine sites and do illegal things. That is an example. 

Mr Kindleysides:  As I said, we do not ask our staff or volunteers to undertake unlawful activities— 

CHAIR:  Are you aware of them engaging in such activities? 

Mr Kindleysides:  No, I am not. And when people are representing, obviously we cannot control their 

activities outside of the organisation. But when people are working for AMCS or volunteering they are bound by 

very strict codes of conduct and guidelines. 

CHAIR:  Fantastic. Regarding your reporting, you have said some things in your submission about 

transparency and standards—that you think they are quite adequate. Some organisations on the register have high 

transparency in relation to their fundraising, donors and things like that. You seem to have a different standard. 

Other groups have fewer standards. They do not provide who their funds come from and who their donors are. 

Where does the bulk of your money come from? Would you care to comment on that? Does it come from 

overseas, or here? Some groups give us evidence about where their money comes from—donors, bequests—and 

others do not. We do not have a lot of information about yours. 

Mr Kindleysides:  The majority of our money comes from individuals in Australia, and the bulk of the 

funding is tax deductible, largely as donations. 

CHAIR:  So you do not have another large source of revenue? It comes primarily from— 

Mr Kindleysides:  It is primarily from donations. Of course, we receive money from interest, from running 

events and from merchandising. 

Ms Wishart:  We sell T-shirts. 

CHAIR:  But some organisations have trusts or other fundraising mechanisms and they say that the DGR is a 

minor component of their revenue. But you are saying it is a major component of your revenue. 

Mr Kindleysides:  It is a significant component of our revenue, and having the DGR status has allowed us to 

do the work we have done over the past 23 years since we were listed on the REO. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  On the donations issue, do you receive any single donations of over $100,000? 

Mr Kindleysides:  I would say very rarely. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  But you have received those? 

Mr Kindleysides:  Occasionally. 
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Mr CHRISTENSEN:  Do you know those individuals or entities that donate those large amounts to your 

organisation? 

Mr Kindleysides:  Yes. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  Would you care to disclose any of those large donors? 

Mr Kindleysides:  We have a policy of not disclosing the details of individual donors. I think that is a standard 

policy that many— 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  Do you have any foreign donors? 

Mr Kindleysides:  Not that I am aware of. There is nothing to stop someone who lives overseas from making a 

contribution to us, but, as I have said, we are an Australian organisation. We are Australian born and bred. We 

have been here for 50 years. Our supporter base, which includes our donors, is hugely based in Australia. They 

are people who care about the future of the marine environment. 

CHAIR:  Thank you. Sorry: we are a bit short of time today. We have a lot of people coming through. Thanks 

for your attendance here today. If you have been asked to provide any additional information, it would be good if 

you could forward it to the secretariat. You will be sent a copy of the transcript of your evidence, and you will 

have the opportunity to request corrections of transcription errors. 

Ms Wishart:  And I will just say that there are some reports that exist that do attempt to quantify some of the 

values of the marine environment to Australia. I am happy to provide those to the committee. 

CHAIR:  We would be happy to receive those. Thank you. 

Proceedings suspended from 12:15 to 13:10 

  



Page 34 House of Representatives Tuesday, 14 July 2015 

 

STANDING COMMITTEE ON THE ENVIRONMENT 

HANRATTY, Ms Claire, Managing Director, Great Barrier Reef Foundation 

STRACHAN, Mr Phillip, Director and Board Member, Great Barrier Reef Foundation 

[13:10] 

CHAIR:  Welcome. Although the committee does not require you to give evidence under oath, I should advise 

you that the hearing is a legal proceeding of the parliament and therefore has the same standing as proceedings of 

the House. We have your written submission. Would you like to present any additional submissions or give us an 

opening statement? 

Ms Hanratty:  Yes, I would like to give an opening statement. Thank you for the opportunity to give you a 

brief overview of our view on this submission that we have made. The foundation has been on the Register of 

Environmental Organisations since 2001, which was soon after we were established. To date, we have raised 

about $50 million for research and science towards the protection and the preservation of the reef. We are a non-

advocacy organisation. We are apolitical and we are independent. We choose to operate in that way because, in 

our view, the challenges to the reef are such that it is not going to be solved by any one group and it will not be 

solved by any one action. It will require a whole-of community response and that includes business, government, 

science and philanthropy. Equally, science is a critical part of those solutions. 

Our constitution aligns with article 17 of the World Heritage Committee's convention, which encourages state 

parties to establish private foundations to support the protection and preservation of World Heritage properties. 

We have structured ourselves to do that, just that. Our focus on the science is very much driven by the view that 

strong science is critical to even the most well-intentioned on-ground or, in this case, on-reef action. Without it, 

even our best goals can have unintended consequences. The way we operationalise that—which is something we 

have not particularly touched on in our submission—is through something that we refer to as a path to impact. 

So we look very much for every piece of science that we will fund. We look at how it will actually have an 

impact on the reef and those who are responsible for managing it and the policymakers associated with the reef. 

We look for what will change as a result of the science that we invest in. Sometimes the examples are near term 

and sometimes they are further out. A good example is a project that we fund called eReefs. It is, in really simple 

terms, doing for the reef what the Bureau of Meteorology does for weather. So it is the models, from catchment 

through to ocean, and it is the visualisation over the top of that so that we can actually say what has happened, 

what might happen in the future and, from a policy perspective, help the policymakers actually reach that point 

where they can say, 'If we took this action, would it have the outcomes that we want to achieve?'. 

Our role in that is to catalyse that project to bring together the Bureau of Meteorology, the Australian 

government, the Queensland government, the CSIRO and the Australian Institute of Marine Science as the 

delivery parties of that project, and to bring private sector funding to that project through BHP Billiton Mitsubishi 

Alliance. That is a project that can have near-term outcomes. 

Some other projects will have outcomes further into the future, but equally they are important. A good example 

of that is that we have about 600 species of coral on the reef.Until recently, we had DNA for two of those species. 

So our understanding of how corals respond in the face of certain threats is somewhat limited and we need to 

grow that understanding so that the reef managers and the policymakers can make decisions whereby we might 

understand the consequences of the implementation of the interventions or the actions we might take and 

understand how best to encourage the natural resilience of the system. 

From our perspective, under the Register of Environmental Organisations's rules, we catalyse those research 

and we fund it. But, equally, we see an important role that we can play in the education and engagement space. 

For us, that is by bringing members of the private sector, in particular, together to actually help them understand 

what is happening on the reef. In recent weeks, we actually had both Russell Reichelt, as chair of the Great 

Barrier Marine Park Authority, and Minister Hunt provide directly from Bonn, at five in the morning, which 

probably was not their choice, an update to members of our chairman's panel on what had happened in Bonn with 

the World Heritage Committee. That information is really important for our corporate partners to understand what 

is happening on the reef. To get a good understanding, they have an opportunity to engage and ask questions. 

Equally, we do talks in the companies that we work with around what we refer to as reef talks. It is a little 

insight into what is happening on the reef and an insight into the role that science plays in that. We have, in the 

last couple of years, brought in the community side of things as well, whereby we run a program that we call the 

ReefBlitz program. You may or may not be familiar with BushBlitz, which is something run by National 
Geographic, whereby the community goes out into a particular area and documents the species in that area. We 

thought there was a great opportunity to engage the community in what is happening on the reef and we have 

initiated that kind of program where, one weekend a year, we are holding what is part science festival and part 
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community event that is actually an opportunity for people to engage with the reef, to contribute and to look at 

how they might contribute in the longer term. 

From our perspective, it is not just the funds that we raise under our public fund, which is what falls directly 

under the Register of Environmental Organisations's governance. That provides 15 per cent of our funding, but, in 

fact, it is what we engage with through that 15 per cent. It is the networks that we can create through that 15 per 

cent that create the other 85 per cent. By being able to engage the corporate partners, by being able to engage 

philanthropy, we are able to grow that knowledge. Just as an indication, for the investments we have had from 

both the corporates and the federal government, it means we can deliver a leverage of about three to six times for 

each dollar that is contributed by government. That is a fairly substantial leverage. I will close my comments there 

and happily take questions if you have any. 

CHAIR:  Thank you for your opening submission. We appreciate your time here today. Your submission is a 

departure from some others we have heard from today in that you are non-advocacy. This will be sort of three 

questions in one. You are advocating for research to be an activity, which I understand—that is under education 

and research—but you do not engage in advocacy, actual campaign or political advocacy, at all? 

Ms Hanratty:  No. 

CHAIR:  There are different groups on the register. We have not come across one yet that is completely 

divorced from advocacy. Can you address that issue, and the research is an interesting issue as well? 

Ms Hanratty:  We choose not to engage in advocacy: (1) because we are a very small organisation and we do 

not have the resources to do that; but (2) our very firm belief is that these solutions require everybody to work 

together. An advocacy approach can certainly raise issues, but it can also prevent that working together for the 

solutions, which is the approach we prefer to take. That is particularly our view with that. 

On the research side, our focus has been very much around the fact that there is amazing research that Australia 

does on the reef side not just for our own Great Barrier Reef but globally. That research is often very driven 

towards important new knowledge, but it is not always driven to a practical outcome. That is not a criticism of the 

researchers; that is just the nature of the way we reward our researchers. So what we try to do is catalyse research 

that may not otherwise get to happen. So we look for those spaces where there is innovation or where, I guess, 

what you describe as unique groups that would not otherwise come together.  

A really good example is that work I talked about with genomics. What we did there was bring the medical 

genetics scientists together with the terrestrial scientists together with the coral scientists. That is not a group that 

would naturally come together. And by coming together, they have actually enhanced each of their knowledge 

and, therefore, we have outcomes that are coming out in the medical space, in the coral space and in the terrestrial 

space as a result. Our interest is in the corals, but if it benefits other areas, that is a positive from our perspective 

too. 

CHAIR:  Your submission has highlighted something we have not seen in the other 700 submissions so far—

that is, an inconsistency between the register's guidelines and the Department of the Environment and the Income 

Tax Assessment Act in relation to the treatment of gifts under the terms of a will. Is there anything you want to 

specifically raise in relation to that because it is an interesting issue? 

Ms Hanratty:  That is an interesting piece that comes up in the way we govern things and we have to put some 

processes in place to make sure we manage that. Our lawyers can give you chapter and verse on that. I am not a 

lawyer, so I do not want to go into the specifics— 

CHAIR:  Maybe you could, if you want to provide something on that? 

Ms Hanratty:  We can certainly provide something. 

CHAIR:  No-one else has raised it. If it is something we can look, we will look at it. 

Ms Hanratty:  If you would like, I am very happy to bring more information back to you on that. 

CHAIR:  Thank you. Your submissions says there is a lack of clarity around the compliance arrangements and 

there is some support in your submission for a broader range of enforcement measures. Can you address what 

your current understanding is of compliance measures and what additional enforcement measures you think might 

be appropriate? 

Ms Hanratty:  From our perspective, one of the things is the way we actually report. We are reporting certain 

things to you; we are reporting certain things to other organisations. Each of them have different focuses and that 

actually raises some things. Putting each of those together would not necessarily give you the same view. I think, 

from an oversight perspective, where you are going to bring out different things that actually could conflict or 

misrepresent, that is not helpful to the outcome that government seeks in terms of compliance. 
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CHAIR:  Are you a registered charity? 

Ms Hanratty:  Yes, we are. 

CHAIR:  You also have to meet ACNC requirements? 

Ms Hanratty:  We meet ACNC. From a Queensland perspective, we have the Fair Trading Act that also 

governs our operations here in Queensland. So we have numerous different things. Different groups have 

different reporting time frames. Particularly with the register, the focus is on our public fund. With the ACNC, it 

is on all of our operations. With Queensland, it is what we do in Queensland. So there are very different factors at 

play there. 

Mr ZAPPIA:  From your presentation thus far, the organisation appears to be focused on research. Can you 

tell me how the organisation came into being? I am aware how long it has been in existence, but what prompted 

the founding members to say, 'We need to establish an organisation to do this'? 

Ms Hanratty:  Three things. The actual founding board members of the Great Barrier Reef Foundation were 

business people and they were all in some way involved in a research institution, be that as a vice-chancellor, a 

chancellor or a chair of an institution. In their view, there was a need to bring the two together. They felt that by 

bringing a focus on the research, we could actually focus that research, firstly, towards the knowledge that was 

needed by managers and policymakers in very practical terms. Secondly, also there was no other mechanism by 

which, at the time, the private sector could contribute to public-good research. There was definitely mechanisms 

where the private sector could contract research, but there was no other mechanism through which it could 

contribute to public-good research. 

Mr ZAPPIA:  Could that not have been done through, say, one of the universities? 

Ms Hanratty:  It could have, but one of the big things that we bring to the table is the collaboration. So no one 

institution research-wise has all of that knowledge. What we are discovering, very much as time goes by, is that it 

is actually in the collaborations. Take the eReef project as an example. CSIRO does amazing work, the Australian 

Institute of Marine Science does amazing work, as does the bureau, but putting that knowledge together actually 

means that we are able to bring something new and something that actually brings the best those together. 

Mr Strachan:  I was involved at the very outset with one of the corporates that gave some seed money to the 

foundation back in 2000, a company called Comalco at the time. At that stage the universities that had big marine 

science faculties were not collaborating with each other; they were quite independent. So the foundation from 

those very early days did actually bring together the clinical expertise of those various universities to then have a 

combined effort to focus on the right research on the reef. It has moved on since then but that was another catalyst 

at that time.  

CHAIR:  Thank you. Ms Marino? 

Ms MARINO:  Thank you for your approach to how you literally do business. I want to touch on page 3 of 

your submission. You made some references to the membership requirements section 30-275 and the approvals 

process. If you would like to quietly explain that, because we are looking at the various terms and the terms of 

reference explicitly refer to those issues. The other thing I would really like to hear about is: you acknowledge 

donors of over $1,000 in what you do; I wonder whether you believe this would be useful for other organisations 

on the REO and what impact this has on the memberships and the confidence that people have in the work that 

you do?  

Ms Hanratty:  I will take your last point first. From our perspective we do not do a lot of public fundraising 

because we are not an advocacy organisation. For us, that means we do not have a large number of donors below 

that threshold. It is, therefore, relatively easy for us to create that transparency and provide that view. I know that 

for others that is not the case, so I do not want to suggest that for everybody. From our point of view we are very 

strong advocates for transparency and we think that is a great thing for both the public and for the reef more 

generally. The more we can be transparent about where we raise our funds and what we use them for, I think, is a 

good thing.  

Ms MARINO:  The first point about the memberships? 

Ms Hanratty:  That arises for us particularly because we are both a corporate entity—we are registered under 

ASIC—and also because we are a member of the Register of Environmental Organisations; both of which have 

requirements in relation to membership. So I think, if you compare it with the corporate world, the requirements 

are quite specific, and for us those requirements are as a smaller organisation more onerous.  

Ms MARINO:  Thanks.  

CHAIR:  Mr Giles. 
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Mr GILES:  I just wanted to follow up on your submission where it relates to the third limb of the terms of 

reference, which I found very helpful. I want to check that in summarising your view I am doing so fairly. What 

you seem to be saying in looking to the purpose of the principal purpose test is that the distinction between 

onground and other activities is not a terribly helpful distinction. Is that right? 

Ms Hanratty:  We characterise it around the path to impact. So long as there is a clear connection to 

outcomes, I think, that is a good way to characterise it. To characterise it purely as onground or not is not always 

going to get to those particular points that you are seeking to get to.  

Mr GILES:  So, when you talk about how onground works as a broad objective term, that is really what you 

are getting at. 

CHAIR:  Ms Claydon? 

Ms CLAYDON:  Thank you for your evidence this afternoon. It is much appreciated. I was wondering if you 

might just share with us your view of what advocacy is? 

Mr Strachan:  The foundation, as Claire has mentioned, does not promote the reef from an advocacy point of 

view. It is very apolitical. It is there for the genuine care of the reef—so the reef is very sustainable for future 

generations. The objective is to put in place the right research to ensure that the reef has the right threats identified 

and the right research to either provide solutions or adaptations to those threats. It is not out there to promote any 

particular agenda, other than for the care of the reef.  

Ms CLAYDON:  So you would not see scientific research advocating for the enhancement of conservation of 

the reef as advocacy work? 

Ms Hanratty:  It is about how you would utilise it. That scientific research, for itself—we do not choose to 

interpret that research for one outcome or the other. It is about providing the knowledge and the information so 

that it can be utilised.  

Ms CLAYDON:  I think there is a lot of philosophy of science that might suggest some discussion around the 

interpretation of facts—but, anyway, I appreciate the point of view. I am trying to understand why you declare 

yourself as 'non-advocacy', when I would regard your research role as having a very important role in advocacy, 

as well as in development of policy, and informing debate and public discussion. Maybe it is just a different 

understanding. I am thinking that you have a very limited view perhaps of—sorry, I do not want to put words in 

your mouth—what an advocacy role might be. You see it as being very clearly tied to some kind of political or 

partisan activity. 

Ms Hanratty:  What we choose not to do is take a position based on the outcomes of the science. We make 

that science available and we make it available to all. We are not actually saying it is for one person or group or 

for another. For us, that is not about taking a public position on anything. It is about making the knowledge 

available.  

Ms CLAYDON:  Finally, around the donations, I was trying to quickly look on your website, because I know 

you are declaring donations over $1,000—and I appreciate the fact that you understand that not all groups are 

going to be receiving primarily donations of more than $1,000—but I could not see the declarations. But I take it 

is there? We had some evidence earlier this morning from the resource council, who said they enjoyed a good 

working relationship with you. Are they one of your donors? 

Ms Hanratty:  No they are not. 

Ms CLAYDON:  Are any of their member groups donating to your foundation? 

Ms Hanratty:  We have relationships with both Rio Tinto and BHP who are members and, on the gas side, 

companies like Origin Energy and Santos. If I could just touch on—because the governance piece is very 

important to us—how we very much separate the science from the funding, in the sense that the decisions around 

the science are run by the scientific advisory committee, while the decisions around funding are quite separate. 

We do not allow any donor to select the project they invest in, so there is no contract research. They do not have 

hands-on involvement in that science. And we will not promote the organisation. We will not say, 'Isn't QRC a 

good company?' or 'Isn't Rio Tinto a good company?' We will promote the project they invest in for the scientific 

outcomes it delivers. And we draw those lines very clearly, because that is an important distinction from our 

perspective.  

Ms CLAYDON:  Thanks for the clarification. Finally, on that, I understand that the majority of your donations 

would in fact come from the corporate sector or the private sector—is that how you are defining it? 

Ms Hanratty:  From the private sector. 

Ms CLAYDON:  And that would be mostly incorporated bodies? 
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Ms Hanratty:  Mostly. 

CHAIR:  Thank you. I think we are out of questions. Thank you for your attendance. If you have been asked 

to provide additional information—I think there was one item—please forward it to the committee secretary. You 

will be sent a copy of the transcript of the evidence and you will have the opportunity to make corrections to any 

transcription errors. Thank you for your submission and for your time today. 
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GRIFFIN, Ms Vivian, Coordinator, Queensland Conservation Council 

TUBMAN, Ms Wendy, Executive Member, Queensland Conservation Council 

[13:33] 

CHAIR:  Our next witnesses are from the Queensland Conservation Council.  

Ms Griffin:  Thank you, Mr Chair. Thank you very much for the invitation to appear before the committee. 

My colleague and I are elected volunteer members of the management board of QCC. I am the acting chair and 

secretary of that organisation. 

CHAIR:  Thank you. Ms Tubman?  

Ms Tubman:  Thank you for the invitation. I would like to provide a little bit of background and then possibly 

add some more information, if I may.  

CHAIR:  Certainly. I will just read the formalities. Although the committee does not require you to give 

evidence under oath, I should advise you the hearing is a legal proceeding of parliament and has the same 

standing as the proceedings of the House. We have your written submission, and you would like to make an 

additional opening statement. 

Ms Tubman:  As pointed out in our submission, QCC is an incorporated non-party-political association, and it 

has been so since 1969. It is the peak state conservation body and has 71 members—a number that we share with 

Mr Roche, apparently. All of those members are working to protect the environment and they are all incorporated 

in their own right. Ten of those members are regional conservation councils. Again, they are incorporated in their 

own right. Other members that we have are specific-issue groups, such as bird groups et cetera and/or their 

national bodies.  

In a nutshell, the aim of QCC is to act as the voice of the environment and to protect and enhance it. We do that 

because we have a firm and unshakeable belief that without a healthy environment there can be no strong 

economy and there can be no healthy society. I wear a T-shirt which says, 'The economy is a totally owned 

subsidiary of the environment, not the other way around.' It is that belief in the fundamental importance of the 

environment to everything that humans do that keeps us working as hard as we do. 

In terms of what we do, we participate by invitation on a number of committees. These are government 

committees such as the Reef 2050 Advisory Committee, the water reform committee and others. We can provide 

you with a full list if needed. We respond to the very regular calls from the government for submissions on policy 

changes, proposed legislation or proposed actions. We campaign, to some extent. For example, in the past we 

have campaigned on vegetation management on Moreton Bay. We work with other organisations on campaigns 

such as reef protection. We also work with other major stakeholders who are non-members, such as the 

Boomerang Alliance, which works on recycling waste tyres, and the Australian Solar Council, with whom we are 

working on renewable energy.  

We believe that prevention is better than cure. It is a lot easier to prevent being ill than it is to try and cure 

someone. Prevention is seen through our local sewage treatment plants, through our water treatment plants and 

through every part of society. Anybody who has tried to rebuild or regrow a forest from scratch would appreciate 

the difficulties. Basically, we work to try to prevent the damage being done in the first place.  

Regarding the terms of reference—specifically, the effectiveness of the register in supporting communities to 

take practical action—I think it is undoubtedly effective, because people, of their own volition, make 

contributions. We see that as a very egalitarian way of asking for donations. It is not a case of, 'You must.' It is a 

case of, 'If you have the ability and willingness then it is your option to make donations.' The terms of reference 

refer to the effectiveness in supporting communities to take practical action. 'Practical' is something we have been 

struggling with a little bit today. When I was beginning my preparations some weeks ago I thought I would look 

up the definition of the word 'practical', and I came up with 'sensible', 'realistic', 'no-nonsense', 'matter-of-fact', 

'practicable', 'feasible', 'workable', 'doable', 'viable', 'sound', 'hands-on', 'concrete' and 'applied'. So obviously 

'hands-on' does appear in there, but it is only one of many approaches that you can take if you want to have a 

practical impact. 

I would just like to refer back to some of the evidence we have heard earlier on today. One of the issues we 

have been talking about is misrepresentations. I agree that they are unfortunate on both sides of the fence. We, as 

environmental groups, have been accused, if you like, of undertaking vexatious litigation. I understand that the 

Parliamentary Library in Canberra at one stage actually did some research to try to identify these cases and could 

not find one. The same happened when the Land Court was looking at it. There have, as far as we know, been no 

examples of vexatious litigation per se. 
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I also note—and this refers back to our belief about the underlying importance of the environment—that 

Senator Canavan this morning referred to the need to provide a future for our children, and Mr Roche referred to 

the need to provide a future for our members' businesses. Society and economy: neither of those can be protected 

unless we have a strong and healthy environment. That is becoming more and more obvious as time goes on and 

as we are faced with a more and more unreliable climate. 

Finally, I would just like to say that we totally accept the need for scientifically valid evidence. That is why we, 

for example, support the work of the IPPC. We also accept the need for accuracy and truth in advertising. Again, 

that is why we appreciated the finding in the Land Court recently in relation to the conservation council of the 

actual number of jobs that were to be provided, according to the Adani expert witness, by the Carmichael mine. 

My colleague may like to add something. 

Ms Griffin:  I simply say that major carriage in responding to your questions will be through my colleague, 

Ms Tubman. But I will reserve the opportunity to assist in clarification if appropriate. 

CHAIR:  Thank you for your additional explanation there. It has added a lot of value about where you are 

coming from. I know that part of your submission is a template from the Environmental Defenders Office, but I 

am interested more in your organisation itself. Let me start with some of the points you made in your additional 

submission. You say that you put a premium on accuracy and science. That is a good thing. Your organisation 

does not engage in any illegality or illegal acts, does it? 

Ms Tubman:  No, we do not. 

CHAIR:  And you do not support your members behaving illegally in protests or doing all of those sorts of 

things? We are talking about illegality. 

Ms Tubman:  No, we do not. 

CHAIR:  If you have inaccurate material, you are happy to say that you made a mistake and then apologise? 

You think that that would be normal behaviour for an organisation? 

Ms Tubman:  Absolutely. Including misrepresentation in the media. 

CHAIR:  That is a reasonable position to take. 

Ms Griffin:  With an initial effort—and obviously every effort, again, goes into the front end to try to make 

any comments— 

CHAIR:  No-one wants to be wrong up front. It is not a good position to take. 

Ms Griffin:  It is not smart. 

CHAIR:  It is not good for your argument, is it? 

Ms Tubman:  We recognise that we lose credibility if we are wrong. We do not want to do that. 

CHAIR:  In terms of your advocacy role and things like that, you are apolitical? 

Ms Tubman:  Yes, we are. 

CHAIR:  Do you do political scorecards and those sorts of things? Do you do any of that sort of activity that 

fits within the definition of the current system? 

Ms Tubman:  I believe that in the past we might have put out scorecards. But, again, the scorecards are not—

and I think this is as per almost all scorecards put out—party political. They rate policies against particular 

environmental issues. 

CHAIR:  So you are not unhappy with the current system, as you have sort of put to us. Your organisation is 

pretty transparent. You are a registered charity as well. 

Ms Tubman:  Yes, we are. 

CHAIR:  You are under the ACNC system, so you obviously meet those standards, as well as the requirements 

of the REO and the DGR status? 

Ms Tubman:  Yes, we do. 

Ms Griffin:  If I could just say, as the previous submitters did, we are also subject to state legislation—the 

Associations Incorporation Act, under the fair trading commission—so our rules are subject to scrutiny. We need 

to provide our audited accounts to them, plus the annual report. Our constitution is oversighted by them. The 

ways that we conduct our annual general meeting and all of those matters have that level of review, as well. 

CHAIR:  Because you are a peak body—you have so many representative elements, as I understand your 

organisation—with your DGR funding, do you have figures you put out? Some groups are telling us they have 

percentages—say, 70 per cent would be spent on practical environmental work or funds or things they are doing 



Tuesday, 14 July 2015 House of Representatives Page 41 

 

STANDING COMMITTEE ON THE ENVIRONMENT 

and then there is a figure for advocacy, education and those sorts of activities. Do you have anything to say about 

the funding you receive? You have actually given us a figure, which I think is unusual. I think I read that—did 

you say $35,000, or was that another group? 

Ms Griffin:  I think it would be in that order. 

CHAIR:  Yes, you have given us a figure, which is great. We are happy to have the information, but not many 

organisations have been able to tell us how much they get from their DGR concession. Thank you for letting us 

know that. It is good to know. Do you have a breakdown? 

Ms Tubman:  What we use it for? 

CHAIR:  Yes. 

Ms Tubman:  Not really. Our money is fairly fungible. It goes into a pot. It is all the money from various 

sources: from grants, from fundraising and from donations. These funds are allocated to a number of— 

CHAIR:  Because you are a peak body, though, you are more education and advocacy rather than direct? 

Ms Tubman:  Yes. 

CHAIR:  I understand that it is a different role that you play. 

Ms Tubman:  GECHO, for example, is one of our regional councils. They do a lot of hands-on practical work, 

recognising that 'hands-on' is only one definition of practical. 

CHAIR:  Is most of your DGR money, then, going to be for education for your members, collaboration and 

that sort of thing. Is that correct? Is that the right way to characterise it? How would you characterise it? 

Ms Griffin:  It certainly is that advocacy element. But, also, that we have had and do have very significant 

campaigns. Mr Boyland mentioned previously the Plastic Bag Free Queensland campaign, which was a recent 

one. It received enormous support from the community. Through representations with government, that will be 

continued. 

But we also have an education and information role. We recently participated in and helped organise an energy 

forum. There were a number of speakers there, including the Queensland environment minister. Also, in 

participation with the Environmental Defenders Office, there are what are called law jams. Again, it is public 

seminars and, in that instance, looking at planning law, with obviously has a major impact on environmental 

outcomes. 

Mr GILES:  One thing I thought was helpful in our submission is that on the second page you attend to set out 

the benefits to the Queensland community and to civil society. I think that is a very helpful aspect of your 

submission to me. I guess you go on to talk about funding and support from tax deductible donations. I am just 

wondering if I could draw from you how significant DGR status in enabling your organisation to meet those 

wide-ranging objectives. 

Ms Tubman:  As the chair pointed out, we do note that we raise in the order of $35,000 annually through tax 

deductible donations. That would be somewhere between 10 and 20 per cent of our turnover—maximum. 

Ms Griffin:  If I could add something to that. One of the things that we struggle with as an organisation, in 

terms of attracting donations, is that, being a peak body, we are not as accessible to the general community in the 

way that they would often relate to the environment. Mr Boyland spoke about campaigns around koalas, 

protecting whales and protecting the reef. These are things that people can immediately identify with, and they are 

incredibly important, as well. But when you say, 'We are on the minister's waste advisory committee,' or, 'We are 

looking at the long-term sustainability plan for the reef, in partnership with the state and federal governments,' it 

does not make people too excited about making their donations. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  Your organisation is one that is avowedly anti-coal mining? 

Ms Tubman:  Along with probably millions of Australians and hundreds of millions around the world, we 

have grave concerns about the impact of coal on the climate and therefore on the planet as we know it. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  Did you contribute to an advertisement in The Courier Mail about the accountability 

issue that was targeting the Newman government? 

Ms Griffin:  I would have to take that question on notice. If you can provide details of that we will certainly 

undertake to do that. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  It was an open letter 'Accountability and Transparency in Queensland', which details 

your name in the list of signatories to the advertisement. 

Ms Tubman:  In that case, we did. 
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Ms Griffin:  My memory is that it was sponsored by the highly respected Tony Fitzgerald, with the principles 

of good government. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  It refers to him but it was not sponsored by him. It had on it the lead agency as the 

Australia Institute, but it has a list of organisations that I believe have contributed to the advertisement. 

Ms Griffin:  I think it was around principles that had been enunciated by the highly respected Tony Fitzgerald 

on principles of good government and accountability. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  And referring to the Newman government not having that, apparently. 

CHAIR:  Is that environmental advocacy or is that political advocacy? Are you to make any environmental 

point by being part of this ad, or a political point? 

Ms Tubman:  Good governance covers every aspect, and, very, very importantly, the environment. 

Ms Griffin:  A number of legislative changes were introduced by the Newman government. For example, one 

of those was removing the right of organisations or individuals to appear in certain cases around mining issues. 

From our perspective, that was certainly seen as a backward step in the right of the community to participate in 

issues of fundamental concern to them. 

CHAIR:  That explanation sounds better. 

Ms MARINO:  Thank you for your submission. Given that you are a peak environmental organisation, have 

you entered into any arrangements to provide funding to other organisations—any of your member organisations, 

or others? 

Ms Tubman:  We obtain funds from the Department of Environment and Heritage Protection, which we are 

then required to pass on to our regional conservation councils. So, to that extent, we act as a conduit from the 

department through to the regional conservation councils. 

Ms MARINO:  But that is all, for that particular purpose? So it is to disseminate the funds that come from the 

department? No other forms of donations are directed in that sense? 

Ms Tubman:  No. 

Ms Griffin:  They are under clear contracts, co-signed by us and the department. 

Ms Tubman:  There are no other monies that we pass on. We are not in a position to, unfortunately. 

Ms CLAYDON:  Thank you for your evidence. You have been a registered environmental organisation since 

1993. Does the Conservation Council pre-date that registration? How long have you been acting as a peak body in 

Queensland? 

Ms Tubman:  Since 1969. 

Ms CLAYDON:  So you 45 or 46 years of experience now? 

Ms Tubman:  Yes. We are looking to enjoy our 50th birthday in a few years time. 

Ms CLAYDON:  In that time, have you ever had any issues around the administration of your funds or any 

allegations regarding unlawful behaviour? 

Ms Tubman:  Not to my knowledge. 

Ms CLAYDON:  Thank you. Your evidence that gave us the tax deductibility component of your income 

being around $35,000 and you thought that was between 10 and 20 per cent of your— 

Ms Tubman:  It was much closer to 10. 

Ms CLAYDON:  I was going to say that that is pretty on par with evidence that we have been getting from 

other conservation groups that about 10 per cent of their income has been generated from that particular tax 

deductibility. As a peak body, given that you have got 60 member groups or around 60 member groups— 

Ms Tubman:  Seventy-one. 

Ms CLAYDON:  Seventy? 

Ms Tubman:  Seventy-one. 

Ms CLAYDON:  Seventy-one. Sorry, I must have misread your submission. Given one of the terms of 

reference that we are looking at is around issues of administration and these organisations as well, do you find 

yourself having to provide advice or assistance to your member groups for them to meet reporting requirements, 

both for the purposes of being on the list of the registered organisations and if they were with a charitable register 
under the ACNC? 
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Ms Tubman:  I believe that normally we would pass on any reminders that come to us or just remind people 

about due dates that are coming up. The majority of our members have been incorporated for quite some time and 

usually do not need the reminder. If we were to receive a request for help from one of the regional councils or 

from one of the members then we would be happy to provide that. 

Ms CLAYDON:  I am just trying to get a sense of the burden of existing regulatory mechanisms and whether 

you are having to provide assistance. There have been a number of suggestions to this committee that we should 

be increasing the level of regulation around the monitoring of this. I was just wondering if you had a point of view 

on that? 

Ms Tubman:  I see no real need for it. In response to your question, I said that we had not fallen foul of any 

government department or court of law in that time. So it does not appear that systems are breaking down. I guess 

it is the case of the old adage, 'If it ain't broke, don't fix it.' Adding layers of regulation, if you like, would appear 

to be almost anathema to the current government at least. 

Ms Griffin:  If I can just add to that. There are the usual and expected reporting arrangements. For every AGM 

you have got to have the audited accounts, and prepare an annual report which documents your activities that gets 

submitted to both state and federal. I think one of the earlier speakers referred to the fact that in terms of oversight 

it was currently a complaint-based compliance system. It is really reliant on someone bringing a matter to the 

Department of the Environment's attention. I believe they have made submissions that they really cannot monitor 

in a detailed way across the board other than by having those random audit processes, which is a fairly common 

approach. I worked in local government previously and, again, the opportunities for noncompliance are 

enormous—for example, if a developer is not meeting their development conditions: stormwater run-off, road 

construction, whatever it is. Now, you could employ someone to be visiting every one of those sites every day 

but, in fact, the world as we know it does rely more on a complaints-based approach, combined with a random 

audit. But it will be entirely the department's call: if it can respond to a more detailed overview process, we stand 

ready and confident that we can withstand the oversight processes that are determined. 

Mr ZAPPIA:  Mrs Tubman, has the council at any time withdrawn membership or refused membership of any 

environmental group to your council? 

Ms Tubman:  I cannot speak since 1969, but— 

Mr ZAPPIA:  In recent years. 

Ms Tubman:  Not in recent years; not to my knowledge. 

Mr ZAPPIA:  Thank you. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  You mentioned 10 to 20 per cent of your money coming through direct, tax-deductible 

donations— 

Ms Griffin:  More like 10. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  More like 10 per cent—so 80 to 90 per cent comes from your constituent members, 

who are also tax-deductible organisations. Is that right? 

Ms Griffin:  The predominance of our funding is from the Queensland department of environment, as a three-

year operating grant, with our responsibility as the peak body to be the conduit between our member groups, the 

Queensland environment movement, and the department. To give you an example of that, this month on 22 and 

23 July, it is our responsibility, in partnership with the department of the environment, to convene what is called a 

round table. This is a great partnership between the Queensland minister for the environment and environment 

organisations. It gives an opportunity for everyone to have dialogue about issues of concern, and for the 

department to report on where it is going. The primary funding is through that grant, and there is some funding 

through the tax deductibility; there are fairly miniscule member memberships which I think are about $25, 

something like that; and there are—occasionally—bequests. 

Ms Tubman:  And to add to that: some fundraising. 

Ms Griffin:  And fundraising, yes. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  I have said before here that the purpose of this is not to shut down debate. Your 

organisation is entitled to have your view on the coalmining industry—and it would be different to that of a lot of 

people in my part of the world. But it is the issue of the usage of that tax deductibility status—to, essentially, fund 

those campaigns—which may have for and against in our community. I note on your Facebook page you have a 

post up about this committee, saying 'don't let them silence us'. Is that your view of what we are doing here today? 

Ms Tubman:  I am not sure if you trying to—but it would, effectively. 
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Mr CHRISTENSEN:  Why would it? Are you saying to me that you rely on tax-deductible donations to run 

your campaigns and that, without that, you would not be able to do any proactive campaigning? 

Ms Tubman:  No; obviously not. We are not saying that. We would lose a small percentage—around about 10 

per cent—of our funds. That, because it is very small organisation, would have quite a large impact on what we 

can and cannot do. 

Ms Griffin:  If I can just respond to your concerns about our views on coal mining, because it is one of the 

most fundamental issues, I think, confronting Australia. As my colleague mentioned, the IPCC—which is the 

most respected scientific collation of material about climate change—and the global agreement is recognising 

that, if global warming goes beyond two degrees, then we are going to be in very serious trouble across a range of 

areas. There have been— 

CHAIR:  I do not want to cut you off on that point, Ms Griffin, but you and Mr Christensen could take this 

outside and we could continue our inquiry. You have a right to that view and others have a right to a different 

view, and we probably have a right to a different view as well. But we probably will not get into that now, 

because we are at the back end of your submission and we probably do not want to open up the climate change 

debate right now. I think I am doing everybody a favour here, just quietly. So we will not get started on that 

today. 

I want to thank you for your attendance. You will be sent a copy of the transcript of your evidence. If there is 

anything that you need to send through, please send it to the secretariat. You will have an opportunity to correct 

any transcription errors or other things. Thank you for your submission and your evidence. 
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CAMERON, Mr Neil Alexander Robert, Secretary, Basin Sustainability Alliance 

SHANNON, Mr Peter Charles, Committee Member, Basin Sustainability Alliance 

[14:07] 

Evidence was taken via teleconference— 

CHAIR:  I now welcome to the hearing representatives of the Basin Sustainability Alliance, who are joining 

us by telephone. Although the committee does not require you to give evidence under oath I should advise you 

that this hearing is a legal proceeding of the parliament and has the same standing as the houses of parliament. We 

have received your written submission. Is there anything that you wish to add to it in an opening statement? 

Mr Cameron:  Yes, I would like to make an opening statement and then Peter Shannon will further elaborate. 

I am a landholder and a farmer in the Millmerran district in South-East Queensland and I am a senior tax 

consultant with a large regional accounting advisory firm at Dalby. 

BSA is a not-for-profit group that advocates to support landholders and rural communities dealing with the 

rapid expansion of the resource industry. Its charter is to encourage the orderly and sustainable planning and 

development and regulation of resource industries, with a particular focus on preserving the Great Artesian Basin 

and its availability to provide water for agricultural production in farming and rural communities generally. 

BSA does not hold deductible gift recipient status on the Register of Environmental Organisations, although it 

has seriously considered applying in the past. To quote from the guidelines for registration:  

The objective of the register is to assist environmental organisations to obtain financial support from the community for 

use in the conversation and protection of the natural environment, by providing a tax incentive mechanism … 

The conservation and protection of the natural environment is something that we believe should be considered an 

important and worthy cause. The guidelines state: 

An environmental organisation’s principal purpose must be: 

“(a) the protection and enhancement of the natural environment or of a significant aspect of 

the natural environment; or 

(b) the provision of information or education, or the carrying on of research, about the natural 

environment or a significant aspect of the natural environment.” 

… … … 

The environmental purpose must be the organisation’s principal purpose. 

Our charter contains a number of references to the protection of the Great Artesian Basin and the encouragement 

of research and education about the basin. We consider we have a reasonable argument to apply but we also have 

representation of landholder interests in their dealings with mining companies in our charter. So, in BSA's case, 

eligibility would come down to an argument about proving that our principle purpose is protection of the basin. 

There are very strict guidelines you have to pass to qualify as a registered environmental organisation that 

qualifies for DGR status. These include having at least 50 financial members, an additional and separate 

management committee of suitably qualified people who oversee the receipt of donations into a separate bank 

account and the public expenditure of the money received.  

We have not applied to be a registered environmental organisation at this stage, given that it is quite an onerous 

and time-consuming exercise to find and navigate all the requirements. We are a relatively small volunteer 

organisation with limited resources and there is a risk that we may not get final approval at the end of the day. 

That said, we have missed out on funding from the public in the past as we have had to deny potential donors who 

are wanting a tax deduction for their desired contributions. 

Mining companies have considerable resources to advertise, lobby and promote their business cause. All these 

expenses are 100 per cent tax deductible to them. Unfortunately, there can be potentially misleading advertising—

for example, the impact demonstration in a TV advertisement and the promotion of an argument that the existence 

of 4,000 signed conduct and compensation agreements somehow meant that all landholders were happy. BSA feel 

that to deny DGR status to legitimate environmental organisations would potentially stifle the valid voice of 

opposition or concerns or activities that may cause long-term damage to the environment in the future. We would 

see a valid voice of opposition being one that is based on facts and independent research and rational argument. 

Such a voice should be listened to and hopefully heeded. 

However, there would appear to be a number of protections in the current application process to weed out 

organisations that were not really genuine in their concern for the protection of the environment. Not only is the 

application process and eligibility requirements very strict, but prior approval to be on the register must be first 
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obtained from the environment minister and then, if successful at that stage, the Treasurer or Assistant Treasurer 

must then approve the organisation for DGR status. 

Without DGR status an organisation is potentially limited in their access to the necessary funding required for 

the health and protection of the environment and is at an economic disadvantage, and their voice and influence 

may be diminished. We have seen that the granting of DGR status to legitimate organisations in this area is 

helping to balance the debate on mining developments that risk seriously damaging the environment. Hopefully, 

any harm or consequences are thereby lessened or eliminated and conservation and the protection of the natural 

environment is achieved—which is, after all, the objective of the register. 

I will now hand over to Peter Shannon, who will elaborate further. 

Mr Shannon:  I am a former landholder and a solicitor of some 30 years standing on the Darling Downs and a 

longstanding member of the Dalby community, which is being significantly affected by resource activity and 

involved in resource activity considerations. As Neil says, the BSA has been a volunteer organisation that has 

made extensive submissions and contributions to the formulation of regulations and to the general oversight of the 

resource activity that has expanded rapidly over the Darling Downs and throughout rural Australia. 

The reality is that, with the limited funding available to us and our lack of DGR status, we have struggled to 

have our voice heard. There is no doubt that the regulation of the CSG industry in particular, for instance, has 

been in an ad hoc manner that has been foisted upon rural Queensland to a large extent—stimulated, excited and 

incentivised well before there was real consideration about the potential for environmental impacts and, from our 

perspective, in particular, underground water impacts, with which we are vitally concerned. I sought to table by 

email a few articles that address in some academic detail the ongoing concerns in relation to the water impacts. 

They are articles by authors in the International Journal of Water Resources Development and the Journal of 

Water Law. Those articles, however, address the Queensland situation. I have also sought to table the findings of 

the Queensland parliamentary committee inquiring into the Water Act amendments in 2000 as part of an 

interesting situation in which members of both sides of politics in our state review legislation before it becomes 

effective to see if it complies with legislative standards. To their credit, a number of National Party members and 

others in that process, having already voted in support of the bill, on viewing public input and consideration made 

a number of recommendations in review of the legislation. 

Essentially what you find is that there is enthusiasm for the development of economic interests that is only 

tempered by public input after the event. Then politicians genuinely concerned by the issues reflect upon that. We 

have a situation where, but for the input of community groups and environmental organisations, we would have 

had far poorer regulation than we have had. We understand billion-dollar resource projects having the concern of 

advancing their shareholders' interests. We totally understand that. What we do not understand is politicians 

falling over themselves claiming victory in advance for securing new resource projects long before anyone has 

looked at the downside or the environmental cost. 

We now have a situation where the Reserve Bank has reasonably commented upon the lack of any meaningful 

likely long-term economic benefit for Australia from the CSG and LNG project. We have Queensland's own 

Auditor-General questioning the long-term economic cost of these projects. Unfortunately, the enthusiasm of 

politicians to embrace these projects in advance of balanced consideration and scientific input leads to a reliance 

upon various groups that have contrary interests to actually get the dialogue moving in a sensible way. To suggest 

that environmental considerations do not become political considerations beggars belief. There could have been 

nothing more political and at the same time environmental than the rapid expansion of the resource industry 

across rural Australia throughout the mining boom. It continues. We have much yet to deal with. We have tight 

gas. We have shale gas. We have many things that have yet to be properly explored, regulated and addressed. 

Politicians have smoothed away for these things ahead of the balance obligation of protecting the broader 

community interest. So unfortunately it has been environmental groups, which are seen as something of a green 

lunatic fringe, that have been the only ones with the economic capacity to bring balance to the debate. The 

problem from a landholder perspective is that we see a lunatic resource fringe that seeks to stifle genuine airing of 

debate and political views on critical social issues and which form party lines on things that are essentially 

enormously socially impactful let alone environmentally impactful. The courts in both Queensland and New 

South Wales, when these issues have been properly aired, have expressed continuing and more regular concern in 

relation to the environmental and true economic costs. But for these groups that would have been marginalised 

through this process, landholders feel that there would not have been this scrutiny. 

BSA is reminded of Arrow's original submission that the Condamine alluvium was actually separated by 

impermeable layers from the Walloon coal measures. That was in its original application in 2009 or 2010. By 

2013, only by public input and agitation, it ultimately conceded that the Walloon coal measures in place sit within 
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the Condamine alluvium. It is this kind of misinformation and lack of detailed prior planning and thought that 

leads us to be concerned about any move that stifles debate in relation to these critical issues. 

We witnessed first-hand the importance of these alternative organisations having input into the process. The 

simple fact of the matter is that the resource industry is able to claim deductions for all of its posturing and 

proceedings, all its lobbying, all its influencing of government, all its advertising and all its self-serving 

protestations about the cost of landholders' interests and proper regulation. We cannot emphasise enough the 

decision of the High Court in the Aid/Watch Incorporated case, which no doubt will be floated to you many 

times, that the right of advocacy groups with tax-deductible status to advocate and engage in political debate is 

indispensable for representatives and responsible government. 

Senator Canavan wrote recently in The Australian that: 

However public-spirited the man in the koala suit may think he is, he deserves no louder voice than the man in the hi-vis shirt 

or the man in the Akubra. 

As an organisation of largely Akubra wearers, we feel as if we have a far poorer voice than the man in the high-

vis shirt because his employer is talking for him through a host of very well-funded and extremely powerful 

organisations of industry reach and lobbying influence, all of which have extensive taxation benefits. They can 

claim deductibility for almost anything to secure approval for a project. A landowner has no such advantage. We 

would be happy to be in the same position as the wearer of the high-vis shirt. At the heart of this inquiry has to be 

the realisation that the only party without a voice in the entire process is the environment and yet, in the long run, 

it is the voice that will speak the loudest if we get the handling of the environment wrong. 

BSA support any process which discourages illegal and non-complying activities but strongly object to any 

process which effectively silences opposition. The last time that this what seems to be right-versus-left argument 

was agitated politically was in relation to the environmental objection and mining resource approval process in 

Queensland. We were told that in order to address the lunatic green fringe's claims for deductions, argue climate 

change in the courts and slow down these vital projects, we had to sacrifice some rights. In the course of that 

deception, all community objection rights were removed. So forgive us if we are a little concerned about the 

extent to which what might be a perfectly valid concern is ultimately going to lead to the erosion of rights and the 

stifling of what is a vital process of our democracy. We urge you to get this right. 

CHAIR:  Thank you for your opening statement. Can I just clarify something that is a bit confusing. I have 

read your submission. You said in your opening statement that you have not applied for DGR status because it is 

too onerous. Is that right? 

Mr Shannon:  There are two aspects to it. The first thing is that we formed after a large public meeting 

concerned about the number of projects proposed for this area. Because of the enormous roll-up of landholders to 

that, we formed the BSA immediately after the meeting. When we came to look at it later, we saw that the 

emphasis in the DGR process is upon the natural environment, whereas a fair part of our agitation, concern and 

advocacy for landholders is to do with what you would say is the built environment. 

So, in order for us to qualify, we would have had to amend our constitution and focus more upon the natural 

environment, and that has caused some issues as to the extent to which that needs to be balanced. As Mr Cameron 

was saying earlier, there are principles of tax law that would suggest that the principal consideration should be the 

natural environment, but we have been labouring over just how we would present that. We do not want to 

mislead, but, on the other hand, we feel we have a very significant interest in the natural environment of the Great 

Artesian Basin but also, naturally, the social environment. 

CHAIR:  So you have not applied? 

Mr Shannon:  No. 

CHAIR:  But you are in the country. 

Mr Shannon:  Yes. 

CHAIR:  So what does this have to do with the built environment? 

Mr Shannon:  The built environment, presumably, is our existing businesses. We are agitating for landholders, 

so— 

CHAIR:  But you are talking about land and their farms and the environment. This is entirely a judgement of 

your own that you would not qualify at the moment, isn't it? You have not actually tested that. 

Mr Shannon:  I have to agree that it is an issue. We did initially start to apply, and then we had to amend our 

constitution, and that required a 75 per cent special resolution. Administratively, we just have not got there. We 



Page 48 House of Representatives Tuesday, 14 July 2015 

 

STANDING COMMITTEE ON THE ENVIRONMENT 

also made some inquiries and it was suggested that we might not qualify. Then the extent to which we emphasised 

the natural environment at the expense of the built environment became an issue. 

CHAIR:  We have not had any evidence that I am aware of out of the 700 submissions that it is too onerous to 

get in. There has been some comment about the length of time it sometimes takes to get the approval, but I 

encourage you to get an application in. I do not know who you are listening to who might suggest that you would 

not qualify; go through it and let's find out. You made some comments about the environment minister and the 

Assistant Treasurer as part of your onerous example, but I am quite familiar with this process now. The 

environment minister makes a recommendation to the Assistant Treasurer—I am not aware of any situation where 

that is an example of onerous process; it is just a formality—and the Assistant Treasurer accepts the environment 

minister's recommendation regardless of who is in government. I do not know if you are looking at it clearly. 

Maybe you should get your application in. I accept your other evidence before us today that your view is that 

DGR status is good for the advocacy and the debate. 

Mr ZAPPIA:  Thanks for your opening statement. In a very brief way, would either of you tell me how 

important you think protecting the environment is to the future of farming in Australia. 

Mr Cameron:  I think we are looking here mainly at the Great Artesian Basin, which is possibly the third 

largest underground water basin in the world. Farmers are reliant upon that for their stock water and, in some 

cases, irrigation water. If you do not have water, you cannot grow anything. It is extremely important to any 

landholder to have a reliable source of water on their land to be able to grow their crops and water their livestock. 

Mr Shannon:  It is absolutely vital. Here in Dalby, it is very similar to the Liverpool Plains. We are part of 

that three per cent of the world where there is actually underground water overtopping very fertile soil, and yet 

Arrow is proposing extensive development. It has been delayed because there has been resistance and there have 

also been further investigations being done. But to us it is just critical and vital for the ongoing production of food 

in the Darling Downs that we preserve those areas that are capable of producing food and especially that we not 

prejudice our water supplies. You do not have to be Einstein to know how important water is to our future in the 

long run. 

Mr ZAPPIA:  Thank you. 

CHAIR:  We are running late, so we will have to move, but you have got some important arguments there. In 

relation to your application, we are limited in one sense. You have got to make your own decisions, but you are 

landholders, you are rural people, you are talking about the environment. I would not rule yourselves out before 

you have even applied. Thank you for your time today. We will send you a copy of your evidence to correct the 

transcript. I think you have sent something through by email for committee members. I will make sure that is 

received. The secretariat will email that to committee members as well. 

Mr Shannon:  Thank you for the opportunity. 

Mr Cameron:  Thank you.  
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ANDREW, Associate Professor Nigel, President, Ecological Society of Australia 

SPINA, Mrs Gail, Executive Officer, Ecological Society of Australia 

[14:30] 

CHAIR:  I now welcome representatives of the Ecological Society of Australia to today's hearing. Although 

the committee does not require you to give evidence under oath, I should advise you that the hearing is a legal 

proceeding of the parliament and has the same standing as the proceedings of the House. We have received your 

written submission. Do you wish to make an opening statement? 

Prof. Andrew:  Yes. 

CHAIR:  Please go ahead. 

Prof. Andrew:  The Ecological Society is a not-for-profit organisation and we have the largest membership 

base of ecologists in Australia. Currently we have 900 members who put into the submission, but as of 7 July that 

will have risen to 1,138. So we are a society that is actually increasing in numbers, which is quite unusual for a lot 

of the not-for-profit societies currently in Australia. We received DGR status last year, and it was certainly an 

interesting exercise for us to go through as a not-for-profit organisation based mainly of scientists from the 

universities. We also have students in our ranks and also on our board. We also have a lot of consultants. We have 

consultants who are in their own businesses or in small businesses as part of the Ecological Society. 

The key driver is that we essentially bring research together and allow our members to talk about the research 

and promote the sustainability of the environment. We attempt to understand our environment and also attempt to 

manage the environment as well and assist the people who are on-ground researchers. Probably the key thing in 

terms of our submission is that there is a lot of specific on-ground work by organisations, and I guess the key 

thing we will be trying to put across is that, even though we do not specifically do on-ground research, we provide 

the evidence for those on-ground persons to actually better the environment or manage the environment in some 

way. So we are not directly part of on-ground research, but we are facilitating the information surrounding that 

and we think that is of critical importance. 

The other thing that I would like to say is that, even though our society has been going for over 50 years now, 

we did apply for DGR status because we realised that, in the past certainly, a lot of our funds have come from 

government agencies—federal and state governments—and essentially the pool of money is slowly getting 

smaller and smaller and philanthropic funds are getting a lot larger. So there are a lot of funds that are available, 

particularly for research and to advocate for students to do research, but also to give funding for consultants—

people in the private sector—to go about assisting in management of the environment. So, moving forward, we 

see the philanthropic funds as a key area in which we should be driving funds for our members to enable them to 

do research or for management into the future. I will probably leave it there. 

CHAIR:  Essentially you are a membership organisation, which is fine. So your principle purpose would be 

education for ecologists and ecological scientific research? 

Prof. Andrew:  It would be education and research. We are getting outreach as well, and we are also 

promoting ecological research to the public, so we do the research and we interpret the research. Also, as part of 

that filter, we take it from, I guess, the scientific language and put it into words, or put it into a form that can be 

interpreted by the general public. We have started a 'Hot topics' section on our website, where we get all the 

research available on a particular agenda—for example, feral cats or, again, climate change. We are getting that 

research together, putting it out there and saying, in a one- or two-page summary, 'This is where we sit; this is 

where the research is at,' so it can be taken by government as, 'This is the known work,' and it can also be taken by 

the wider public as, 'This is what the scientists know about a particular research area'. That is also updated. So we 

can cite or go through 40, 50 or more publications, and say, 'This is where we are at'. Then, over time, we can add 

to that if extra information arises.  

CHAIR:  Is this what you mean by 'on ground practical science' in your submission?  

Prof. Andrew:  More so, we took that point as essentially meaning people rehabilitating areas, planting trees, 

or going out and actually working in the environment, but not necessarily with the appropriate information. We 

are trying to give them the information so, if they are revegetating a mine site, they know the best and most 

appropriate species to put there. Also—if they are managing an area that needs to be managed, so, basically, a 

fence has been put around it—how they manage it to assess the diversity in the area or manage it properly.  

CHAIR:  So people can understand? 

Prof. Andrew:  Yes. 
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Mr ZAPPIA:  Obviously, you do a lot of research, and then that is released out into the public. I assume some 

of the environmental organisations that are widely known out in the community use your research findings in 

their publications. Have any of them, to your knowledge, ever misrepresented any of the findings that you have 

produced? I mean have they deliberately misrepresented them? 

Prof. Andrew:  I have not been aware of that. What would normally happen is, if another group said, 'This is 

happening in a particular area based on a particular environmental issue' and we became aware of it, we would 

ask our members, 'Do you agree with this?' If they have taken their bit of research, then we would facilitate the 

people who are experts in that area to either refute what has happened or not. I do not know of any explicit 

examples of that happening, but the process would be that we would get the appropriate researchers to comment 

on that on the ESA's behalf.  

Mr ZAPPIA:  Thank you. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  I do not want to contradict my chairman and what he told the last people, but I just 

notice in your submission you said something that is not principally what we are looking at, but it is what we 

probably should look at as well: the difficulty of getting on the register. You seem like a group that ticks all the 

boxes, but you said that there was a bit of buck-passing between the ATO and the Department of the Environment 

on that. Could you enlighten us a little bit about the difficulty in getting on the register? 

Mrs Spina:  I do not think that I would refer to it as 'buck-passing'. I think it was, perhaps, no cross-

communication. So they were dealing with our applications independently, and a lot of the same questions were 

coming back. It is interesting that you say that we look like an organisation that would have ticked all the boxes, 

because one of the questions was: 'What's ecology got to do with the environment?' That did put us on the back 

foot a little.  

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  Who asked that? Was it the ATO? 

Mrs Spina:  To be honest, I cannot recall. It was not the ATO. 

Prof. Andrew:  The ATO were the first group that ticked all the boxes for us. We were expecting them to be 

the most difficult, but they were the most efficient in terms of going through and assessing our application. 

Mrs Spina:  They came back to us first. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  How long ago did that happen? 

Mrs Spina:  In September last year we were approved, and I think that our original application went in early in 

2013. So it took quite some time. That was frustrating. So, yes, it was perhaps lack of communication between the 

three different entities that we were dealing with and perhaps a little bit of disappointment at the lack of 

environmental understanding. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  It is something we might have to look at too, thanks. 

Mr GILES:  I am just wondering if I could ask you to draw out the evidence in your submission about the 

significance of DGR status. I think there are a couple of funds that you refer to, and it seems that the acquisition 

of the status has enabled you to attract donations you would not otherwise have been able to attract. Is that right? 

Prof. Andrew:  Yes. We currently have what is called the Jill Landsberg Trust. That was essentially set up as a 

separate entity to the ESA, because that got particular status under the prescribed fund, so the society itself had 

that as a separate entity. So we had to get that audited every year, separately to the ESA. So we applied for the 

other fund that we are talking about in there, the Barbara Rice fund. It was essentially a bequest fund. Initially we 

were given small pots of money every year to assist with the conference and also to help with student awards. So 

a lot of our funds go towards PhD research—small awards for good presentations—and the Jill Landsberg also 

gives funds for doing applied research. A lot of that will happen. We have had a lot in the marine area as well as 

on farms and assisting with that. 

What the DGR status has enabled us to do is that, instead of getting funds that are given to us year on year 

when we cannot actually predict the amount of funds we are getting, we can potentially now get larger pots of 

money, so now we can actually say that, for example, the Barbara Rice award will run over 15 years. So we say, 

'Okay, we're going to spend x number of dollars every year to assist with student awards.' That goes into a 

prescribed fund, so we put it essentially into shares but also into a long-term financial scheme. That assists us 

because we live off the interest, so we can keep a lot of these funds in perpetuity. So we get larger pots of money 

and then can live off the interest. So that essentially helps us take our finances to the next level in terms of saying, 

'Right, now we know that we've at least got money for 15 years to pay for these awards and to promote research.' 
If more funds come in, essentially we use a similar sort of model: instead of spending the capital, we can spend 

the interest and have money coming in in perpetuity. It just allows longer term funding to be arranged. We go 
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through our rotation for the position of president every three years, so I can say to a president in nine years time—

plus also the treasurer—that they are going to have funds that have been brought in now. 

Particularly from a research point of view, one of the key issues that we are facing is a short-term funding 

cycle. Particularly for students, and also supervisors, if they can see that they can apply for funds over the long 

term, that is a major benefit for us. Then we can also go into outreach. That is looking after the members, but then 

we can go into outreach as well, going to areas which we see as important in terms of getting the environmental 

knowledge out to the masses. We do not necessarily do a lot of that. We are starting to get into the major outreach 

areas. A lot of our members do it, and so then we can capitalise on their skills, get people from disparate areas, 

bring them together and say, 'Right, you can actually produce a package that we can disseminate to a wider 

audience.' It just enables that sort of strategic thinking to happen. Rather than doing funding bit by bit, we can 

think a bit more strategically about what we do and think about it over a longer term. 

Mr GILES:  Thank you. 

Mrs Spina:  Can I just add that I think one of the problems with research funding is that most of our 

researchers are in the academic sector, and there has been a lot of pressure around tertiary institutions to outsource 

the funding off to the business sector and the private and philanthropic sector to provide the research funding, and 

really DGR status is the only access you have to that. 

Ms MARINO:  Professor and Mrs Spina, you have now had some time on the register. 

Mrs Spina:  Six months. Not very long, no. 

Ms MARINO:  Six months. Has there been any further contact of any sort from the department in relation to 

the register? What has been your experience in the six months? Is it just a 'tick and flick' situation where you are 

just getting on with business? What has been the process for you? 

Mrs Spina:  Honestly, since we received notification that we were successful, nothing. We have been 

complying. 

Perhaps if we had not been complying we might have had some contact, but there has been no contact. 

Ms CLAYDON:  Thanks very much for your evidence this afternoon. One of the aspects that we on this 

committee are examining is the reporting requirements for organisations around the disclosure of donations and 

that area. I appreciate that you have only had six months experience at this point. Are you in a position to offer a 

view around the accountability levels of philanthropic organisations—what they require of you—versus what 

your understanding is of the requirements to meet the obligations under the register? 

Mrs Spina:  You mean comparatively? 

Ms CLAYDON:  Yes. It is just in line with your statement earlier that there is an increased reliance on funding 

from philanthropics to do a lot of your work. 

Mrs Spina:  It is difficult to comment, because we have not had a lot of experience at this point. We have had 

an ongoing relationship with a number of philanthropic funds outside DGR status and, yes, their reporting 

mechanisms are fairly comprehensive and they do make sure you comply, through reminders and that sort of 

thing. I do not really want to comment, because I do not think we have had enough experience. 

Ms CLAYDON:  That is fine. In terms of your reporting, then, to the philanthropics, where you have a bit of 

experience—is that particularly onerous? Is it much of a burden? Do you have to have someone specifically doing 

the reporting? 

Mrs Spina:  We are a very small not for profit; we do not have 'someones'. They all have their own templates 

that you need to respond to. But I think that if you are managing your projects appropriately then reporting on 

them is not particularly onerous, because you have that information there. If you had a big suite of them it would 

perhaps be different, but I think it is just an extension of good project management. 

Prof. Andrew:  On that point, if we go for philanthropic funds most of—I was an academic. I applied for 

grants anyway, and all of the board members are quite used to writing yearly reports. But when it comes to the 

DGR status and from a legislative point of view, that is probably where we would definitely be getting a lawyer to 

read that before we submitted it, just to make sure that we tick all the boxes. That is probably one of the key 

things that would be a major difference: that we would be having to get in appropriate lawyers just to read 

through the documents we put in, just to make sure that they do tick all the boxes, just in case. To me that would 

be a distinction between the two. 

Mrs Spina:  And philanthropic funds are fundamentally outcome based, because they have given you money 

for a specific thing, whereas the ACNC monitoring is around, I think, accounting compliance. So they are 

probably coming at it from different directions. 
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CHAIR:  Thank you so much for your time today. That is the end of the questions. If you have been asked to 

provide any additional information we will get the secretary to contact you. You will be sent a copy of the 

transcript of your evidence. You will have the opportunity to correct anything that is a transcription error. Thank 

you for your submission and your time. We appreciate your answering questions. 

Proceedings suspended from 14:49 to 14:58 
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BOSWELL, Mr Ron, Property Rights Australia 

REA, Mrs Joanne Beule, Treasurer, Property Rights Australia 

CHAIR:  Welcome to today's hearings. I acknowledge former Senator Ron Boswell for his long-time service 

in the federal parliament in the Senate for Australia and for Queensland. Thank you for that service. 

Although the committee does not require you to give evidence under oath, I should advise you that this hearing 

is a legal proceeding of the parliament and therefore has the same standing as proceedings of the House. We have 

your written submission. Would you like to make a short opening statement? 

Mrs Rea:  I would. I will go straight to a practical matter first, and that is about having organisations 

individually named in the Income Tax Assessment Act 1997 as outlined in the submission of the Department of 

the Environment. These 13 environmental organisations do no have to maintain a public fund, do not need to meet 

the principal purpose test, have no requirement for tax deductable donations to be expended for the principal 

purpose and 12 of the 13 have not been required to report to the secretary since 2013. Compliance options for 

these 13 are limited to no sanctions available, and the only avenue of removal of the deductable gift status is to 

amend the legislation. I believe and our organisation believes this legislation needs to be amended immediately 

and these organisations encouraged to apply for DGR status under subdivision 30-E. It is one of our 

recommendations that that status no longer apply. 

Having said that, I would now like to turn to our organisation and how we came to be here. We find often in 

our advocacy of rural groups, landholder groups and property rights that we are increasingly up against very well 

funded, often international groups—it is mostly the international groups we have objection to—who vilify and 

denigrate our membership, often with the aim of sustaining, encouraging or drawing into their sustainable 

development schemes, their certification schemes, their roundtable schemes which they themselves have publicly 

stated are there for their future income. Their major reason for this is often given as the environment, but it really 

is not; it is purely a business and fundraising type thing. They do not expect anyone on the bottom rung of the 

production ladder to escape. They do not give credit for environmental excellence; in fact, if you have something 

that is environmentally excellent and sustainable, they want it. They have no democratic sense or policy at all. 

WWF in particular go out of their way to set up a situation where they use their DGR status and their 

deductable funding to denigrate whatever community they wish to get into their net, and basically there is almost 

no escape. It is left to people like me, farmers, unfunded people and some retired scientists who sometimes take 

issue with what they have to say to try to put down their blatantly dishonest use of the science and the media who 

follow them. I would like to table this document I have. Basically, there was an interview between the ABC and 

WWF where the questioner was talking about disease in turtles. Basically, the question was, 'What is your sense 

of what causes this disease?' It was, 'Well, our sense is at this stage that it is nitrogen from farm fertiliser.' Quite 

honestly, when you are up against stuff like that all the time, it really becomes very wearing. There is no such 

thing as a flood plume; it is flood plume pollution. There is no such thing as just organic nitrogen and phosphorus 

that is from dissolved soil that comes out when it rains and there is a significant rain event; it is all nitrogen 

pollution and phosphorus pollution, and the implication is it is from fertiliser, which it quite often is not. A lot of 

the Barrier Reef stuff is just exaggerated. The fact that there is two to eight times more sedimentation coming 

during a rain event than pre European settlement is based on only one study of release of barium isotopes back in 

about 1870, when 60,000 head of cattle were put into the Burdekin catchment. It released this barium isotope, and 

it has been isolated in the coral. There have not been any further releases, in spite of there now being a million 

head of cattle.  

Paper after paper after paper talks about extra sedimentation, often based on modelling and often based on a 

single study which has not been repeated. There has also been a lot about the mining industry and the legislation, 

which stopped not only community organisations, which have been articulating that today, but also most 

landholders. I believe it has done landholders more harm than anyone else. We have seen the green groups walk 

away unscathed, with their status intact and a war chest behind them, while the farming communities are left to 

carry the real burden of the legislation yet again. This is something we see happening all the time. 

Other than a few recommendations about illegal activities, secondary boycotts and such like, I have probably 

said what I intended to say. Ron may have something to say. 

Mr Boswell:  Thank you. I was invited by Joanne to come today to give her some assistance. I have had a lot 

of experience with environmental groups. I am not against environmental groups. In fact, I support a lot of them. 
The RSPCA is one I very much support. A number of people who have given evidence here today seem to be 

genuinely concerned about the environment, but when environmental groups become businesses, world-wide 

businesses with thousands of employees and develop from that into money-making businesses, which become a 
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political arm and really do administer some dishonest statements and then move to get every farming group to get 

a sustainability certificate, guess who issues sustainability certificates? It is the World Wildlife Fund, the 

Wilderness Society, Greenpeace—one of those or all of them. If you do not participate in that, they try to block 

your sales, as they have done—can you assist me with the name of that group in Tasmania? 

Mrs Rea:  Markets for Change. 

Mr Boswell:  Markets for Change. For those people to get tax deductibility, to add cost on farmers and to take 

profit from farmers, in my opinion, is just not sustainable and they should not have tax deductibility. When an 

environmental group becomes a political group and then a business group, and then a huge money-making group 

with thousands and thousands of employees right around Australia, that is the time for this government or for any 

government, be it a Labor government or a coalition government, to draw the line. 

The member for Makin has asked various witnesses have they ever seen anything dishonest. Let me show you 

something I have had a personal interest in during my time in parliament. Can I point out to you a leaflet put out 

by the Wilderness Society. I have a number of these but this one I did have a personal involvement with. These 

are clearly political. It says, 'Put LNP last on Cape York', 'National parks, LNP last,' 'Fossil fuels, LNP last.' I 

could go on but let us talk about Cape York. It says, 'The LNP walked away from the World Heritage process for 

Cape York overriding the wishes of many traditional owners of Cape York.'  

I asked the Leader of the National Party, Warren Truss, to ask the Minister for the Environment at the time, 

'Can you give the House an assurance that you will not turn Cape York into World Heritage unless you have the 

consent of the Indigenous people?' The minister said he would never do it and that is why Cape York was kept out 

of World Heritage—because the minister could not get the consent of the Indigenous people. The Indigenous 

people did not want Cape York turned into a World Heritage site—some very fine parts of it which did have 

significant environmentally appropriate considerations. 

You have asked question; here is your answer and I will table this, 'The LNP walked away from the World 

Heritage process for Cape York overriding the wishes of many traditional owners.' The reason the Labor Party 

walked away—the LNP would not agree—was that the traditional owners did not want it and still do not want it, 

for the same reason they did not want wild rivers—because they could not commercialise their own land and give 

their Indigenous people some way of making money. So I point out the Cape York one to you and the fossil fuels. 

These are clearly political. I table the lot of them. There is one here on koalas, which I will also table. These are 

put out by the World Wildlife Fund, the Wilderness Society, Greenpeace and there may be others. These people 

do not deserve to have a status which allows them to claim tax deductions. They are clearly a business, a business 

which makes money out of farmers, fishermen and foresters, by getting them to sign up to a sustainability 

agreement and if they do not sign up they go out and torpedo their sales. That is wrong. If they want to do that, let 

them do it, but do not give them any government assistance to allow them to destroy jobs, to destroy farmers, to 

destroy people who work in forestry or blue collar-workers. Do not destroy their right to make a livelihood. 

CHAIR:  Thank you for your submission and for your presentation. Starting off with some easy ones,  you do 

not get a taxpayer concession, do you? 

Mrs Rea:  No. We do not have a DGR. 

CHAIR:  Your argument here is as an advocacy group for small landholders and small businesses on property 

rights. While we are hearing a lot about green groups being silenced, actually it is landholders and businesses that 

are being silenced in the crush of taxpayer funding. Is that your position? 

Mrs Rea: That is our position, yes. 

CHAIR:   Often that is not through a genuine contest of ideas; your key criticism of this process is that green 

groups are using misinformation and not scientific evidence. You have given us this document, which we have 

not had time to consider. I have had a brief look through the pack you sent us. You are referring to a series of 

articles and interviews where representatives of some of these very large organisations—international, as you 

point out, in some cases—are making claims that are not backed up by good environmental science or by 

accuracy. 

Mrs Rea:  They use selective science.  There are scientists who are advocating that what they are saying is 

correct, but if you go looking you can also find scientists who are taking issue with that, but they are usually 

unfunded, often retired and living on a shoestring, as are we. 

CHAIR:  The contention you are raising is quite serious—that it is farmers and businesses that are being 
silenced in this debate.  

Mr Boswell:  Fisheries and foresters. 
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Mrs Rea:  Yes, absolutely. In fact I think I put fisheries, foresters and farmers altogether in my submission. It 

really is not sustainable that we do not have access to the alternate funding, that we do not have access to the 

media. It is very, very difficult for primary production organisations to get into mainstream media—the media 

write it all off as a rural issue. The only place you can usually get a hearing is in a rural newspaper, where you are 

speaking to the converted. 

Mr Boswell:  Just to add to Joanne's submission: during my time in parliament, these people from The 

Wilderness Society, Greenpeace, the World Wildlife Fund—any time you went down to the coffee shop at 

Aussies, there was a team of them. They are in Parliament House lobbying nearly every week of the 

parliamentary sitting, and they just carpet creep around everyone's offices and spread their ideas—and it is all 

funded by allowing people to get a tax deduction. People who have worked hard on the land or on fishing boats or 

chopping down trees do not have that option. They do not have that option of going around and talking to 

members of parliament. I can honestly say that you could see them down there just about every day of 

parliamentary sitting: they are there at Aussies or, if they are not at Aussies, they are camped in some sympathetic 

member's or senator's office. People like Mrs Rea do not have that option. 

CHAIR:  Thank you. While we have you here—it is not exactly inside the terms of reference, although it is 

related—I want to ask you as a property rights group: do you have any comments about property rights being 

sufficient within Australia? Sometimes environmental legislation or international obligations override property 

rights—that is, the rights to people's own property, particularly landholders. I am thinking about the example of a 

farmer who conducted a protest down south because his entire land—the forests on his property—was put into the 

Kyoto obligations without any reference or compensation to him. The Constitution of course refers to 'just 

compensation' when property or property rights are acquired by the government. But this farmer's property was 

acquired by the government—effectively; he could not use it or change it—without any compensation. Do you 

have any comments about that issue? 

Mrs Rea:  I absolutely do. I think that property rights in Australia are being eroded every single day. It 

probably started long before even tree clearing, but that was probably one of the most pivotal ones, where the 

supposed community need for maintaining the forest lands was legislated without compensation. And it is still 

happening: the Queensland Labor government are talking about reintroducing what they call 'repeal' legislation—

which is ridiculous; there are a few modest amendments to the existing legislation. And that has made 

headlines—that the legislation was repealed—which comes in under this dishonest reporting, because it definitely 

was not repealed. And a lot of what was amended—not repealed—were just normal everyday tenets of the justice 

system which had been violated by that legislation. 

Every state in Australia has property rights being usurped, and that is just the start of it. The mining companies 

at the moment are doing it as well, with the support of governments. There is an almost endless list of community 

desires that the farming community is being asked to pay for—or the primary production community, because it 

also includes the fishermen and the foresters. 

CHAIR:  Thank you. 

Mr ZAPPIA:  I have a couple of questions. Firstly, how long has the Property Rights Australia group been in 

existence? 

Mrs Rea:  Since 2003. 

Mr ZAPPIA:  And earlier, in response to, I think, a question by the chairman, you said that you do not have 

DGR status. Have you applied for it? 

Mrs Rea:  We actually investigated it at one stage and we got advice that, no, we would not qualify because 

we were not an environmental organisation and we were not an environmental advocacy organisation. We are a 

farmer organisation. So we were basically told, 'no, you do not come within the guidelines'. 

Mr ZAPPIA:  But—and this is my understanding and somebody can correct me if I am wrong—you do not 

have to be an environmental organisation to apply for DGR status. 

Mrs Rea:  Well, we were just told we were not within the guidelines. And I read them myself and I thought, 

no— 

Mr ZAPPIA:  No; I am not referring to the environmental guidelines. There are two separate processes. 

Mrs Rea:  We are also not really a charity organisation. Probably, in the beginning we were more of a business 

organisation and we have just morphed with what has been required as time went by. 
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Mr ZAPPIA:  You make comments in your submission to the effect that quite often the environmental 

organisations are doing things to serve their own ends or meet other objectives. Why do you think they are doing 

that, and what benefit is it to those environmental organisations to do that? 

Mrs Rea:  I will come back to WWF again. It has been clearly articulated by them, from America, by Jason 

Clay, their vice president for sustainability, that they intend to get every agricultural commodity that they can, and 

every producer of that commodity, into their sustainability schemes for the time when they cannot raise funds 

from their donations. They are very aggressive about how they go about doing that. They do not just have a 'take 

it or leave it, you either join or you don't join' approach. They have given up trying to get consumers to ask for it 

and they have given up trying to get millions of producers to just introduce it, so they go to the world's top 100 

companies or the world's top 300 companies—in the case of the beef industry, McDonalds—and basically 

threaten them and say, 'If you don't get these people on board with our certification schemes you will find people 

in koala suits protesting outside your shops.' With a couple of instances of that, the big companies always roll 

over. 

Mr ZAPPIA:  I will ask Mrs Rea a question based on what she has just said. When you refer to the 

certification schemes, I assume you are referring to a government certification scheme? 

Mrs Rea:  No, they are not. They are WWF schemes. The Forest Stewardship Council is probably one of the 

most well-known. If I can avoid their products in a shop, I jolly well will. Because one of the unknown objectives 

of the Tasmanian forest wars was, quite often, to force some of the large foresters to eschew the Australian forest 

industry's organisation—which is the most popular and populous one in Australia, and belongs to the PEFC, 

which is the international body—and force them to join, on pain of being demonstrated against or having their 

market slashed, the Forest Stewardship Council, which is the WWF one. I find that appalling. They have 

destroyed people's jobs and they have destroyed whole companies and whole markets just in order to force people 

into those organisations. They are doing the same on the Barrier Reef with the farmers, and they will continue to 

do it until they get every farmer in the Barrier Reef catchment belonging to their certification scheme. 

CHAIR:  Why don't we hear more about this? Is it because farmers are too afraid to talk about it? I just want to 

understand that. We do not hear a lot about that issue. Why don't we hear about that? 

Mrs Rea:  They are very sophisticated and slick, and they have very polished people working for them. They 

go to the farming organisations and convince them that this will be a good thing—that we have to show not only 

that we are sustainable as Australian farmers or foresters or fisherman, but that we can prove it to the world. It is 

about this social certificate, or whatever it is. 

CHAIR:  That is all fine if it is voluntary. But your argument is that your farmers and your landholders do not 

want to participate in this scheme: they are submitting to it, effectively, because they are being intimidated in the 

process. 

Mrs Rea:  They start out saying it is voluntary. But we have already had experience where something starts 

out as voluntary and then it turns into something that you just cannot operate without. There is no legislation 

governing it. It is usually the person that you sell to. As a beef producer, we sell to meat processing companies. 

We have two of the largest in the world operating here, namely Cargill and JBS, and they belong to the WWF 

round table scheme. So when WWF starts saying to them— 

CHAIR:  Is this a competition issue? They say, 'We won't buy your beef unless you have this certification.' Is 

that what you are saying? 

Mrs Rea:  They do not yet. 

Mr Boswell:  What they do is go to Woolworths and Coles and say, 'Isn't this wonderful that we have this tick 

of sustainability.' And then Woolworths and Coles will not buy the fish or the beef unless it has the tick. The tick 

costs money, and that money goes back to the World Wildlife Fund. In the fishing industry, it is costing fishermen 

about five per cent—I think it is around five per cent—to get that tick. If you do not have that tick, you cannot sell 

your pawns or your fish to Woolworths or Coles. 

CHAIR:  So what do you have to do for this tick? I am not a farmer; I am from the city. 

Mr Boswell:  With your cap in hand, you have to go to them and say, 'We will sign up to your sustainability 

program.' That means we might have to fence the creeks off, we might have cement the yards. Instead of running 

five beasts to 10 acres, a beast to an acre, or whatever you run, you have to run one beast to 10 acres. So it 

impacts on your ability to run a property successfully. Then you have a property that is half cattle, half a zoo, half 
an environmental park. You cannot make a decent living. I am not a farmer; I have never been a farmer. But I do 

know this: farmers will not environmentally damage their land for any reason, because that is their existence. So 

then they are made to do things that are not economically sustainable to get an environmental sustainability tick 
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from the environmental groups. These environmental groups may have started out that way but they have 

developed into huge multinational businesses that need millions and millions of dollars to sustain themselves so 

that they can have guys running around the halls of every parliament in the world to sell the sustainability 

message. And that message is not a true message. 

Ms CLAYDON:  Thank you both for your evidence this afternoon. I am just trying to get some background on 

your group; I have not been aware of your existence before today, so I apologise. You were established in 2003. 

You rely solely on donations from members. How many members do you have? 

Mrs Rea:  We usually do not make that public, but it is many times more than the 50 required to be on the 

charities register. That is probably all I am prepared to say at this stage. 

Ms CLAYDON:  So it is a problem for you to declare those donations. Is that what you are saying? 

Mrs Rea:  It is a problem for us to declare our membership at the moment, yes. It has always been our policy 

not to. 

Ms CLAYDON:  Although you are somewhat of an umbrella yourself—I am trying to get a sense of your 

membership structure. 

Mrs Rea:  No, we are not really an umbrella. We are a stand-alone organisation which just has direct 

members. Most of them are landholders of some sort, or people or businesses who support landholders. We do 

have a few city members. 

Ms CLAYDON:  So there might be some corporates in there as well? 

Mrs Rea:  Yes, a couple. 

Mr Boswell:  The NFF would be, probably, an umbrella organisation. 

Mrs Rea:  Yes. 

Ms CLAYDON:  That was what I was beginning to ask, leading into this. There are some umbrella 

organisations, perhaps like the NFF, that exist. Are you saying that they do not adequately represent you in this 

space? 

Mrs Rea:  We are saying that, in this space, no, they do not adequately represent us. 

Ms CLAYDON:  To assist the chair, as he was seeking information about why he had not heard more about 

the schemes, I do recall—and because I see a reference in your submission—that it was a Tim Wilson paper for 

the IPA that, at the time, tried to have the issue raised back in 2011. And, in my recollection, it has been pursued 

since. We heard evidence just prior to you—and I am not sure if you were in the room—when we had some 

landholders in a telephone conference. They also did not have the tax gift deduction status. They were still testing 

out whether they were going to apply or not, I suppose, but they saw themselves as a not-for-profit group that 

wanted to provide advocacy and support to landholders and rural communities. They were very concerned about 

the rapid expansion of coal seam gas and associated environmental and social health impacts. Would you regard 

them as a worthwhile organisation to be given the DGR status? 

Mrs Rea:  I would, actually. I think they do a good job in the space that they occupy. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  In the same vein as an advocacy group, if one side of the argument is going to get the 

status, should all sides get it or no side get it? Should all sides get it, should no side get it or should it stay as it is? 

Mrs Rea:  I am not saying that no people should get it, because I think there are a lot of— 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  No, for advocacy—political campaigning and advocacy around issues. You fight 

against groups that get tax deductibility status. 

Mrs Rea:  We do. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  Should you get it too as a right? 

Mrs Rea:  It would be very helpful, yes, but I do acknowledge that how you would frame that would be very 

difficult. We are not an environmental group; we are not anti-environment; in fact, we support a lot of the groups 

on the register such as Landcare. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  But it is difficult when you come up against these groups which are well funded and 

you cannot raise funds in a similar fashion. 

Mrs Rea:  It is very difficult. It would be very helpful if we could have tax deductibility so that, if people 

offered us support, we could say, 'Yes, if you give us a donation you could get a tax deduction.' That would 

undoubtedly be very helpful. 
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Mr CHRISTENSEN:  What if the view was that, no, groups like yours should not get it? Should the other 

side then not get it either? 

Mrs Rea:  I would have to say yes, particularly when they are very well funded and often global groups. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  Do you feel like you are always fighting with one arm tied behind your back against 

these sorts of arguments? 

Mrs Rea:  Absolutely. 

Mr VARVARIS:  In your submission you have alleged that some environmental organisations have materially 

harmed the farming, fishing and forestry industries. Have you ever lodged any complaints or communicated 

complaints to the Department of the Environment? 

Mrs Rea:  Not the Department of the Environment specifically, but we started out advocating on behalf of 

landholders who we believed had been illegally charged with illegal vegetation clearing. By the way, we won 

most of those cases. There was one that was unresolved, but mostly we won. We won because quite often the 

department fabricated evidence and perjured themselves, which we did take to the CMC and which they said was 

none of their business, which we found surprising. 

CHAIR:  So the Department of the Environment has never displayed any interest in this question of these 

groups making false claims? 

Mrs Rea:  No, they seem to be as seduced by them as everybody else. 

CHAIR:  But you have never specifically complained? 

Mrs Rea:  No, because it is a bit esoteric, really. The comment I got was, 'You've alleged that these groups 

have done this.' In Tasmania, the Tasmanian forest wars were very clearly reported and there was much more than 

an allegation about it. I am sure that organisations like Harvey Norman that have had campaigns run against them 

would say, 'Yes, there's been harm.' Bakers Delight had one morning of a Facebook campaign or something run 

by Greenpeace, where they alleged that Bakers Delight used genetically modified wheat. Then, when it caused an 

outcry, they said, 'Really, they haven't because there is no genetically modified wheat available to use anyway, 

but what would your reaction be if they did?' You cannot say that has not caused them any harm, because the 

retraction never gets as much publicity as the original campaign. 

Mr Boswell:  What about the one where they poisoned the— 

Mrs Rea:  Yes—and Greenpeace went in and poisoned a CSIRO experiment. 

CHAIR:  Yes, we have already have that raised in a previous hearing. Your argument is: who does that hurt? 

All this activity hurts the ordinary farmer, does it? 

Mrs Rea:  It hurts the people down on the ground, but it also hurts the businesses that they are supplying. My 

allegation is that it hurts business, it hurts jobs and it hurts the primary producers. 

CHAIR:  And it is not based on real science; it is political activism. 

Mrs Rea:  Yes. That part of it is not based on science at all. There is no science in there; basically, a secondary 

boycott is what they are doing, which environmental organisations are protected from under the Australian 

Competition and Consumer Act—and they should not be. If we have to be subjected to the secondary boycott 

legislation, environmental groups should be too. That is one that is a recommendation that I could definitely 

make. Groups that indulge in illegal activities or destruction of property or violence should immediately be taken 

off the register. If they condone those activities, they should be taken off. That also means that you have to have a 

means of tracing donations between different groups so that you have not got ones that are being funded by 

another one to do their dirty work for them. Markets for Change certainly sprung up with a lot of money and a lot 

of very experienced personnel and nobody knew where the funding came from. 

CHAIR:  We will finish on that note. Thank you for your attendance here today. If you have been asked to 

provide further evidence, please do so. You have given us some documents as well. We will have a look through 

those. You will be sent a copy of the transcript of the evidence and you will have an opportunity to correct any 

transcription errors. Thank you, Mr Boswell. Thank you, Mrs Rea.  



Tuesday, 14 July 2015 House of Representatives Page 59 

 

STANDING COMMITTEE ON THE ENVIRONMENT 

FENNELLY, Mr Paul, Chief Operating Officer, Eastern Region, Australian Petroleum Production and 

Exploration Association 

PAULL, Mr Matthew, Policy Director Queensland, Australian Petroleum Production and Exploration 

Association 

[15:35] 

CHAIR:  Our final witnesses today are from the Australia Petroleum Production and Exploration Association. 

I would like to welcome those representatives to our hearing today. Although the committee does not require you 

to give evidence under oath, I should advise you that the hearing is a legal proceeding of the parliament and has 

the same standing as proceedings of the House. We have received your submission. Thank you and welcome 

today. Would you like to make an additional statement? 

Mr Fennelly:  Yes, I do. 

CHAIR:  Go ahead. 

Mr Fennelly:  Firstly, I would like to thank the committee for providing APPEA with the opportunity to speak 

to our submission this afternoon. APPEA is the peak national body representing Australia's oil and gas industry. 

Our organisation comprises approximately 85 full member companies, and these companies currently account for 

around 98 per cent of Australia's total oil and gas production and the vast majority of exploration. Our industry 

creates significant wealth for the nation through the employment of thousands of Australians, underpinning the 

revenue collections of governments and generating valuable export revenue for the Australian economy. 

At the outset—and I stress that this is an important issue that needs to be made clear to the committee—we 

believe the majority of organisations on the register do exceptional work for the environment and, quite rightly, 

such groups qualify for listing on the register. However, in researching and developing our submission to this 

inquiry, we have identified a number of organisations that clearly do not operate in accordance with the principle 

purpose of the register. Activist groups or organisations that support unlawful behaviour or are primarily engaged 

in campaigns to mislead and insight fear in the public for the purpose of frustrating the lawful development of 

publicly owned resources are being subsidised under the register. An example is Lock the Gate, whose president 

is on the record as saying that his organisation is not an environmental NGO, yet Lock the Gate is listed on the 

register of environmental organisations. 

It is also evident that there is only minimal oversight in place to ensure that groups that claim the benefits of 

the register are acting in accordance with its requirements. Transparency, accountability and rigorous compliance 

requirements apply to a broad range of activities where government or taxpayer funding is provided. The oil and 

gas industry operates within a high level of public and government scrutiny. There are rigorous federal and state 

regulatory regimes that apply to our industry. It is evident that the accountability and compliance standards that 

apply to the majority of public, private and governmental entities in this nation are quite different from the 

standards applied to the organisations listed on the register. When a Greenpeace spokesman was recently asked on 

ABC Radio National whether their range of tactics included breaking the law, he responded by saying, 

'Absolutely, when necessary.' Organisations that regularly engage in illegal activity, and proudly claim in the 

media that they do so, are free to continue to claim public subsidy via the register. Further, some groups are able 

to access the benefits of the register without actually being listed on it. For example, we have identified a group 

that conducts training camps to teach activists how to cause maximum economic damage through sabotage and 

vandalism. This organisation receives tax deductible donations. 

We ask the committee to consider whether this is acceptable. In other words, would the taxpayer support 

funding being provided to groups that break the law? Is it acceptable to the public that active players in the 

political debate do not disclose who funds their activities? Would the government and the community accept a 

resource company stating that it absolutely breaks the law when it deems it necessary? It would seem that 

Greenpeace, Lock the Gate, and groups like them, wish to see higher standards apply to industry than they are 

able to accept themselves. Given the record of the environmental activist movement, it is concerning that the 

evidence given by the Department of the Environment indicates that it has never recommended to the minister 

that an organisation be de-registered for noncompliance with the principal purpose of the register. This committee 

has also heard evidence from the Australian Charities and Not-for-profits Commission that, of the hundred formal 

investigations it has undertaken in recent years, none related to environmental charities. 

We submit that it is appropriate and timely that parliament considers the status and operation of the register, 
including whether or not public funding is being directed towards activities that are inconsistent with the original 

intent of the register. There has been significant media coverage on the inquiry, some of which has 
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misrepresented APPEA's position. To ensure that that which we have made very clear in our submission is on the 

public record, APPEA supports the freedom of any individual group to engage in the public debate, and it is clear 

that the generation by lawful means of public debate can be a charitable activity in its own right. 

Finally, turning to what APPEA is seeking as an outcome from this inquiry, we submit that contemporary 

standards of accountability and transparency should apply equally to environmental organisations. Accessing 

public subsidy through the register should carry an obligation to publicly demonstrate that subsidised activities 

are consistent with the 'principal purpose' test. Organisations that do not meet the requirements of the 'principal 

purpose' test should be removed from the register. Organisations that set out to achieve their objectives by 

unlawful means should be ineligible for status under the register. The guidelines for the register should make this 

clear. Organisations that are primarily working to frustrate lawful development should not be subsidised by the 

taxpayer. Organisation on the register should provide more information on an annual basis about what they have 

done to meet the principal purpose of the register, and any criminal charges or convictions against their staff or 

volunteers. The Australian public expect and deserve as much. 

I would like to thank the committee for its time this afternoon. We are happy to take questions. 

CHAIR:  Thank you for your submission. I accept your argument about illegality, and we have heard a lot 

about illegality in different sectors today, in the course of our hearings. We have heard some arguments about the 

right of people to advocate, using taxpayer monies, against whole industries, even to shut down the entire coal 

industry. Are you arguing that taxpayer concessions for that purpose are inappropriate? 

Mr Fennelly:  In terms of public advocacy, I think this has been established by the High Court. We have 

indicated in our opening comments that we have no problem with public advocacy. Unlawful behaviour is what 

we are concerned about. 

CHAIR:  Absolutely. With that unlawful behaviour, obviously police get involved in that. Do you have any 

interest from the Department of the Environment in this matter? 

Mr Fennelly:  Have we had any interest from the department? 

CHAIR:  Yes. 

Mr Fennelly:  None whatsoever. 

CHAIR:  Have they ever contacted you about it? 

Mr Fennelly:  Never. 

CHAIR:  Have you ever contacted them about it or made a complaint about a group, or anything? 

Mr Fennelly:  No, we have not. We have taken the position that the compliance obligation is that of the 

department. 

CHAIR:  Are you aware of any compliance activity in relation to any of these matters where illegality has 

happened on the sites of one of your members? 

Mr Fennelly:  None whatsoever. 

CHAIR:  Have any of your members ever heard from the Department of the Environment about any of these 

matters? 

Mr Fennelly:  No. 

Mr Paull:  Not to our knowledge. 

Mr Fennelly:  Unless people have been on another planet, I think the media coverage of activists' behaviour in 

our industry is extensive, to say the least. 

CHAIR:  That is a good point. The Department of the Environment gave evidence to us at an earlier hearing 

that they do not do any activities test. They actually do not test the activities of organisations on the register. In 

fact, they examine annual reports. Would you view that as sufficient to understand what some of these 

organisations are actually doing? 

Mr Fennelly:  No. 

Mr Paull:  It seems they have operated on a system and there does not seem to be any follow-up checking of 

whether activities that are being undertaken are consistent with the requirements of the register. 

CHAIR:  You would deal with these groups regularly, I imagine, regardless of whether they are illegally 

protesting or approaching you to work with you and your members on different issues. The Department of the 

Environment has told us that they have 2.5 full-time-effective people over the course of a year to monitor the 600 
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groups. Would you imagine they would be able to monitor even just the groups you are aware of, and the 

activities they are aware of, with 2.5 full-time-effective staff? 

Mr Fennelly:  Clearly, they could not. Their submissions to this inquiry were illuminating, to say it lightly. 

CHAIR:  You would advocate that if there were proper compliance, and proper compliance activity, even just 

with the current requirements there would be a different standard applied? 

Mr Fennelly:  Very much so. Obviously, the committee can examine thresholds that you would apply to 

various sized organisations. But clearly it is wanting in terms of the requirements, reporting, and the overall 

compliance obligations of the department. It is wanting. In my career I cannot think of too many areas where 

there has been abandonment of that role. Look at government grants and what you have to undertake in terms of 

reporting back on government grants. In a range of activities that are funded by government or the taxpayer there 

is compliance attached to it and it is enforced. 

CHAIR:  This is a semi-facetious question: if one of your members, a mining company, invaded a 

conservation site and disrupted or destroyed it what would you expect to happen? 

Mr Fennelly:  Firstly, we would see that they would be charged and prosecuted, no doubt. 

CHAIR:  You would be supportive of that, as a peak body? 

Mr Fennelly:  Very much so. 

CHAIR:  You would not tolerate that sort of behaviour, would you? 

Mr Fennelly:  In no way whatsoever. 

CHAIR:  But your contention is that this is what is happening with mining companies every day—people are 

illegally invading their sites and causing disruption and economic loss, danger to personnel and your workers, and 

those sorts of activities. 

Mr Fennelly:  I should qualify that it is not an everyday occurrence, but it is regular—it is frequent. 

CHAIR:  Is it increasing in regularity? 

Mr Fennelly:  Unquestionably. Activist behaviour is on the rise. There is no doubt about that. 

CHAIR:  There has been a big rise in the number of groups on the DGR getting DGR status. Do you see a 

link—is it increasing, because we are getting more and more groups on the DGR over time. 

Mr Fennelly:  I think there is a correlation between the size of these organisations and some of the revenues. 

But the issue is that we are no more equipped than this committee in terms of understanding the true financial 

position of these organisations. We know they are becoming sophisticated in fundraising and in terms of social 

media and marketing and in a range of areas. But they are very active in misinformation, as well. 

CHAIR:  With misinformation, when you identify it do you have any way of dealing with complete 

misinformation? We have seen some examples in hearings today of absolute complete misinformation that has 

been put out as fact by environmental groups. How do you handle it? 

Mr Fennelly:  As an organisation we try to work very hard with local communities. We try to support our 

members to explain technical communication issues around our operations and the technology we employ. We are 

active in the field in supporting our members there. Obviously we have opinion pieces and other activities in the 

media. But the reality is that there are a range of segments. There are groups that have made up their minds, and 

you cannot convince them otherwise, but in particular we find local communities largely have an open mind. 

They want to know the facts and understand what is actually occurring. We support our members in that role. 

CHAIR:  Regarding the example you gave of a group that is training activists, have you named them in your 

submission? 

Mr Fennelly:  Yes, we have. Mr Paull can expand on that. 

Mr Paull:  It is a group called CounterAct. 

CHAIR:  You said that they were getting taxpayer concessions by being on the register? 

Mr Paull:  If you go to their website and it says, 'Donate. We have tax deductible status.' If you click on that 

button it will take you to a Friends of the Earth donation page, who do have tax deductible status. 

CHAIR:  This is called auspicing, isn't it? 

Mr Paull:  Yes, I think this is an example of auspicing. If you look through their website you will see they 
barely mention the environment at all. It is all about how to get arrested most effectively, what you might 

consider before you vandalise projects, what to do when you get arrested—those sorts of things. 
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CHAIR:  And that is not the principal purpose of the Friends of the Earth site that the taxpayer grants a 

concession for. 

Mr Paull:  No, it is quite different from Friends of the Earth. 

CHAIR:  You have identified that link and you have given us that evidence? 

Mr Paull:  Yes. 

CHAIR:  We will look at that. Have you referred that to the Department of the Environment? 

Mr Paull:  No. As Paul said, our role is to represent the oil and gas industry. We have not set ourselves up as 

an oversight agency for environmental groups. We see that as a role for the environment department. 

CHAIR:  But is this part of the problem? I mean, if you have identified something that could clearly be outside 

the legislation here—from the look of it it appears to be an arrangement that is not the intention of the act—who 

do you report it to? Is there somewhere to go? 

Mr Paull:  There does not appear to be an effective route to report it. We fairly easily found that example of 

CounterAct. We do not spend our days reviewing the activities of these groups. From reviewing the functioning 

of the register and from hearing the evidence it does not appear that the environment department does very much 

proactively. It does not appear that they do very much in response to issues being brought up. A lot of these are in 

the national media quite frequently, yet it would seem little action has been taken. 

CHAIR:  Do you see links with the international environment groups when there are protests going on around 

your activities? We have heard some evidence about money being offshored either way—sent from Australia 

offshore or from offshore to Australia. 

Mr Paull:  We are aware that there is potentially significant funding coming from groups in the United States 

into Australian NGOs. Again, we do not really have the capability to determine that. Those sorts of funding 

arrangements are not required to be made public by these groups, so we do not really have a way to determine 

that. But we have seen indications that there is money coming in. 

CHAIR:  You have companies among your members who would have offshore operations. Do you ever see 

examples of taxpayer concessions going offshore—money being sent internationally? Are you aware of any? 

Mr Paull:  No. 

Mr ZAPPIA:  Mr Fennelly and Mr Paull, thanks for your submission. I just want to get something absolutely 

clear. Am I right in taking it, from a previous question from the chairman, that you have never as an organisation 

lodged a concern or a complaint with the Department of the Environment with respect to either an illegal activity 

or the principal purpose of an organisation not being complied with? 

Mr Paull:  No. 

Mr ZAPPIA:  To your knowledge have any of your members done so? 

Mr Fennelly:  I will have to take that on notice—I am not sure if I can answer it—but I do not believe so. And 

I have to say that this inquiry has put a spotlight on this register to a level that—I think it is fair to say that our 

organisation's collective eyes have been opened about certain behaviours of organisations we deal with and the 

tax benefit that they get under this register. It certainly has put a spotlight on some of these organisations from our 

perspective. So what I am saying is that we may reconsider our position with regard to lodging complaints in the 

future, but we do not believe that that is our substantive role. 

Mr ZAPPIA:  You are a membership based organisation, and I assume that your members pay a fee to you for 

being part of the organisation. For that fee would they expect that if they as individual members are faced with 

activists carrying out alleged illegal activities or not complying with their stated purposes—would they raise their 

concerns with you and expect you as the umbrella organisation to take those concerns up for them? 

Mr Fennelly:  Yes. 

Mr ZAPPIA:  Have you had any of your members raise with you those very kinds of concerns? 

Mr Fennelly:  Concerns about illegal behaviour? 

Mr ZAPPIA:  Yes, or even an organisation not complying with its principal purpose as stated in its application 

for DGR status. 

Mr Fennelly:  No, it has not been couched in those terms, but illegal behaviour is a regular occurrence for our 

organisation. The conduit we normally take it to is obviously the political level. 

Mr ZAPPIA:  I just want to get this clear. So your members have raised illegal behaviour with you? 

Mr Fennelly:  Very much so. 
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Mr ZAPPIA:  What have you done in response? 

Mr Fennelly:  The response for APPEA is obviously on a couple of grounds. First, we advise our companies 

on how to manage our situation on the ground. But, in particular, the main conduit where we have been trying to 

identify this behaviour and raise the profile of this behaviour is at a political level—a federal or state level. 

Mr ZAPPIA:  Thank you. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  You have raised in your submission the possibility of mandatory disclosure being 

brought in for some of these groups for sources of funding above reasonable threshold levels. What do you see as 

a reasonable threshold, and why is it that you would call for donors and donations to be put out there publicly? 

Mr Fennelly:  I know you are asking the question, but in my view that is largely a question for the committee. 

We understand at the moment that there is a requirement for certain organisations, under a threshold, to supply 

their annual report and to provide details about their activities. From reading the department's submission, there is 

a degree of confidentiality associated with declaring who the donors are. How far you go in declaring donors is 

something that we have not canvassed in our submission. All we have tried to do is indicate that there are 

organisations, in our view, that do not comply with the principal purpose of the register. It is something that I 

think is really in the realm of the committee to determine, rather than for us. 

CHAIR:  Mr Christensen's question, I think, is a good one, but your essential argument here is—we have 

heard it before—that if an environmental group is effectively a political advocacy group then it should meet the 

same standards as other political entities in terms of transparency and disclosure. That is the argument you are 

making—not exactly which threshold, but if an environment group is effectively politically campaigning then 

why should its donors be secret, as opposed to those of political parties and everybody else? 

Mr Fennelly:  Not really. What we are talking about today is this register and whether an organisation, such as 

Lock the Gate, complies with its principal purpose or not. There should be a degree of transparency, in our view, 

about what their revenues are, and there should be reporting on what they are doing every day, on a regular basis, 

to comply with the principal purpose of the register. We would argue they clearly do not comply with the 

principal purpose. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  There are no further questions I have to add to that. 

Ms CLAYDON:  Thank you both for your evidence earlier on. Like a number of people, you have stated in 

your evidence that you believe that the vast majority of organisations on the register are compliant with their 

purpose and the activities. If I have counted correctly, you have named four that you believe do not comply. I am 

just wondering, then, what you think is the approach, given that you seem to think that there are a couple of 

different categories, perhaps, for these groups. I am wondering if you would like to share your view with the 

committee about dealing with all those organisations, the vast majority of whom you think are compliant, versus 

four or maybe 10—I am not sure how many are on your list—organisations that you think are not compliant. 

Mr Fennelly:  The way I have read the department's submission is that there are various reporting 

requirements depending on the size of the organisation. I think the smaller organisations are not required to 

deliver extensive reporting. What we are saying is that some of the larger organisations should be required to 

extensively report. The same standards for a corporation or a taxpayer should apply to an organisation getting a 

government grant. We do not see any difference there. 

Ms CLAYDON:  Where is that line in the sand for you? 

Mr Fennelly:  The way we see it is that it would have to be on the basis of revenue. I do not know how you 

could measure the size of organisations besides looking at revenue in terms of the threshold. 

Ms CLAYDON:  Do you have an idea of what you think is a reasonable threshold in a revenue sense? 

Mr Fennelly:  No. Basically we have been guided by the fact that there is a threshold there at the moment. It is 

not enforced. We have even questioned whether the reporting is being looked at. But there is a threshold there at 

the moment. The real issue that we want to reinforce is that some of these large organisations are very 

sophisticated. They are enjoying a very, very privileged situation. They are also enjoying a taxpayer benefit. They 

should be reporting and complying with the obligations of most other organisations that enjoy similar treatment. 

There is another issue that complicates this whole exercise, from our perspective. That is that a large number of 

these organisations are also registered charities, which is a separate issue. 

Ms CLAYDON:  Despite your concerns and the concerns of your members, you have not chosen, as yet, to 

report unlawful behaviour to the appropriate authorities? 

Mr Fennelly:  No. 
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Mr CHRISTENSEN:  You guys do not have an obligation to report this stuff. I gather you are presenting here 

and talking to us about this problem so that we will do something about it. 

Mr Fennelly:  Very much so. I have been very open. This is, in my view, a problem to an extent that we have 

never anticipated. I do not think that we as an organisation have ever looked at this issue as closely as this 

committee is afforded the opportunity to. I think we have a real problem here. 

Mr CHRISTENSEN:  Loss of jobs? 

Mr Fennelly:  Very much so, and frustrating investment. 

CHAIR:  But all illegal behaviour is reported to the police, as it should be. That is where it is dealt with, as I 

understand it. That is the right authority when illegal behaviour happens and you decide to report it to the relevant 

authority. 

Mr Fennelly:  That has tended to be the case. It is the authorities and state and federal politicians that we raise 

our issues with. 

CHAIR:  Thank you so much for your time today. Unfortunately, we are out of time. We thank you for being 

with us. You will get a copy of your evidence. You will be able to make corrections to transcription errors. If 

there is any further information we require, the secretariat will be in touch with you. Thank you for your 

submission and your presentation today as well. I also want to thank our committee secretariat and our trusty 

sound assistant. Thank you so much. I also thank all members of the public who are here today and members of 

the media who are dutifully paying attention. I declare this public hearing closed.  

Resolved that these proceedings be published. 

Committee adjourned at 16:03 


